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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBREE

KEY FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

FEMKRR
Year ended 31 March
HEIAMALEE
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss REBEE 2023 2022 Change
28 %

- Revenue (HK$'000) L ONGY 137,137 116,656 20,481 17.56%
- Gross profit/(loss) (HK$'000) -EH/(8B)(FEL) 10,435 (8,394) 18,829  (224.31)%
- Loss before tax (HK$'000) -BREAEE(TAT (481,271) (375,244) (106,027) 28.26%
Owners BEA
Loss for the year and attributable to equity AREEE NELFNER

holders of the Company (HK$'000) (F&T) (482,922) (371,735) (111,187) 29.91%
Basic and diluted loss per share (HK dollars) SR EAR & #EEE (B T) (0.75) (0.69) (0.06) 8.70%

As at 31 March
M3A31A
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position %4 B#&MRE 2023 2022 Change
-] %

Net assets/(liabilities) (HK$'000) BE/(BR)FAETEL (397,764) 190,159 (587,923)  (309.17%)
Cash and cash equivalents (HK$'000) BeRERBE(FHET) 32,869 31,770 1,009 3.46%
Promissory notes, bank and other borrowings X EE ~ BT REMEE

and unsecured borrowings from a director REZELRESR

(HK$'000) (F#&T) 2,851,056 2,802,264 48,792 1.74%
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ ARARI#A AJE(G £

(HK$'000) (F&T) (396,334) 191,267 (587,601)  (307.22%)
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KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRREE

FTEMKER

2023 2022 Change
B8
Gross profit/(loss) margin® EF,/(1B) RO 7.61% (7.20)%  (205.69) percentage
points
(EEpE
Return on equity® BRERE ¢ B[ 121.85% (194.35)%  (162.70) percentage
points
EERE

Current ratio (times)® BN ()@ 1.01 1.49

Gearing ratio (times)® éZFEfEE L& ()@ (7.17) 14.74

(1)

@

3

4)

Gross gain/(loss) margin represents gross gain/(loss) divided by
revenue of the Group.

Return on equity is defined as the ratio of loss for the year attributable
to equity holders of the Company to equity attributable to owners of the
Company.

Current ratio is defined as the ratio of total current assets to total current
liabilities.

Gearing ratio represents promissory notes, bank and other borrowings
and unsecured borrowings from a director, including current and non-
current portions, divided by total equity.

(1

&)

(4)
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EREHRE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”), | am pleased to present the result of Man Sang
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023
(“FY23").

PERFORMANCE

The first half of FY23 saw a resurgence of the pandemic in
many cities in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
and, as a result, the continuation of the anti-pandemic policy
in the country. Meanwhile, Japan maintained its strict border
controls. These measures adversely affected the operation of
our shopping malls and serviced apartments in Chongging
city, the PRC, as well as that of our hotels and resorts in
Hokkaido, Japan. Thankfully, as the State Council of the PRC
released the “New Ten Measures” concerning COVID-19 and
the Japanese government eased border controls and travel
restrictions regarding COVID-19 in the fourth quarter of 2022,
inter-provincial travel and cross-border travel have resumed.
Consequently, the business of our serviced apartments in
Chongging and that of our hotels and resorts in Hokkaido,
Japan have started to pick up. Both the property management
services segment and the renovation and decoration segment
recorded growth in FY23.

The Group’s revenue for FY23 increased to HK$137,137,000,
an increase of HK$20,481,000 year-on-year. The revenue of
each segment of the Group grew to varying degrees year-on-
year.

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company
increased to HK$482,922,000 (FY22: HK$371,735,000), and
the total comprehensive expenses for FY23 attributable to the
equity holders of the Company was HK$587,601,000 (FY22:
HK$323,153,000), mainly due to (i) a decrease in the fair value
of investment properties of HK$193,891,000; (ii) impairment
loss of properties held for sale of HK$46,994,000; and (iii)
finance costs of HK$167,920,000.
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PROSPECTS

Entering 2023, with the weakened impact of the pandemic,
personal travel has resumed, consumption activities have
gradually returned to normal, and the economy is heading
towards a full recovery. It is expected that the occupancy
rate and room rate of the Group’s serviced apartments in
Chongging city, the PRC, will hit post-COVID new highs, while
its operation of hotels and resorts in Hokkaido, Japan will
further improve. The property management services segment
and the renovation and decoration segment will continue
to provide the Group with stable income. In the future, the
Group will continue to focus on (i) monitoring the financial
performance of its existing business; (ii) reducing operating
expenses and fees; and (iii) improving the profitability of each
asset to generate stable income and cashflow, as well as
lowering the gearing ratio and financial costs. In addition, the
Group will continue to identify investment and merger and
acquisition opportunities with growth potential to enhance
its overall financial performance and diversify its investment
portfolio with a view to diversifying risks and creating better
value for shareholders.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt
gratitude to all our shareholders, customers and other business
partners for their long-term support for the Group over the
years. | would also like to thank the senior management team
and all staff members of the Group for their dedication and
hard work during the past year.

Hu Xingrong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWED T

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director”) of Man
Sang International Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to report
the results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023 (“FY23").
During FY23, basic loss per share was HK$0.75 (for the year
ended 31 March 2022 (“FY22") per share was HK$0.69),
and total comprehensive expenses was approximately
HK$587,923,000 (FY22: HK$326,969,000).

BUSINESS REVIEW

During FY23, the Group had engaged in four business streams
including (i) property development, sales and leasing of
properties; (i) provision of property management services; (iii)
provision of renovation and decoration services; and (iv) hotel
operation in Hokkaido, Japan, to create diversified income
sources for the Group.

Chonggqing Property
Revenue: HK$40,929,000 (FY22: HK$37,418,000)

Chongging Kingstone Land Co., Ltd. (EEEZ2AEBHARE A
A]) (the “Chongqging Kingstone”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, holds a property located at 77
Qingnian Road, Yuzhong District, Chongging city, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”") (the “Chongging Property”). It is
close to Jiefangbei Walking Street which is a local and national
famous pedestrian lane with numerous retail shops.

The Chongqging Property comprises residential apartments
(for sale), serviced apartments (for lease) managed by an
internationally renowned hotel management group and a
shopping mall (for lease).

Included in the Chongqging Property, the shopping mall is
classified as “Investment Properties”, the fair value of which
amounted to HK$1,620,189,000 as at 31 March 2023, which
was equivalent to 57.55% of total assets of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

After the COVID-19 pandemic come to an end, the tourist
business recovery trend is obvious, but business travel has not
resumed entirely. The real estate investors remain cautious,
leading to a slow down of the sales of high-end apartments.
We are now studying to enhance the business model to boost
sales. Benefiting from the resume of the tourism industry, the
hotel business has an average occupancy rate of over 80%,
outperforming the surrounding hotels of the same category.
At the same time, it won the Year 2022-2023 Chongqing
Hotel Industry Golden Camellia Award (EETB/ETES A
1E£4%). With the increasing customer traffic and sales after the
end of the COVID-19 pandemic, the leasing of the shopping
mall improved continuously. Despite the overall result being
inevitably affected by the COVID-19 pandemic during the year,
with the recovering market and positive result from adjusted
management strategy, we believe that the rental income from
serviced apartment and shopping mall in the Chongging
Property will remain as a stable income source of the Group in
long run.

Property Management
Revenue: HK$36,907,000 (FY22: HK$30,919,000)

In 2020, the Group entered into the property management
industry and created synergies with the Group’s other
businesses and has diversified the income sources of the
Group.

Zhejiang Huiyong Property Management Service Co., Ltd.
(IR kMEERRBFERAF) (the “Huiyong Property”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company was
recognised as the “2020 Top 100 Property Management
Companies in China” by the China Index Academy and was
awarded the title of “China Property Service Company with
Featured Brands” in 2021.

The Huiyong Property has over 12 subsidiaries in multiple
provinces such as Zhejiang, Guangdong, Sichuan, Jiangsu,
Fujian, Shanxi, Guizhou, Qinghai and Anhui, the PRC. The
properties under management comprised of a variety of
property types including residential communities, retail
premises, office premises, sales offices and scenic areas, etc.

EEENWED T

MAUBERBESRBERE  KEXBEEBEH
B ERBERARARE  FHERETPIE
Z2E SHABHEERE RIEEMRELL
BRA - RERA BEXBERIKEEXNESR -
FIPYAEREBORIA L - EBEEREREE
[l 15 2022-2023F EEEMBETE SR
o BERBERRARMBALBDZESIEM - B
VESHRRERNERERT EABREETA
BRUWIIHMUERRESRENOTE - A - B
RIS ERBIKIE  EBRBRARBTERK -
BFRERERE  REAABRBEDESZOHHE
WA /AEEORZERARIR

YIRERE

YA 36,907,000 T (2022F T L F E -
30,919,0005 7T)

AEBR2020FE AR ERITE - BAKEE
M EBELEHRRE  EARENRARRES
TE °

RArRlzHEZENBARMIEBKMEESE
RIEBR AR (MTEKYZE]) B IEM R ED
[2020F F R ERB BRI FE] - WH2021F 5
EPEMEREFECRETCEIBR -

EBAMEREPENT  BR -0l - Ik &
2o BN FERLBESZEEmHER12

SECCFER REEBERAR

9



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED T

Huiyong Property has successfully enlarged its operation scale
through taking on new projects, thus contributed to its revenue
increment.

The Huiyong Property is committed to building an advanced
property service platform, constructing a smart property
management information system, introducing a “platform +
steward” service model that creates a community that focuses
on comfort, family, health and smart ecology, to provide
property owners with a first-class community environment,
smart information system and complete security protection, as
well as satisfy the needs of property owners in terms of food,
shopping, housing, amusement and entertainment, thereby
creating a pleasant community with comfortable offices and
happy living.

In 2023, while improving its management internally, the
Huiyong Property will increase its brand influence externally,
expand its service scope and service scenarios, and plans
to seek cooperation opportunities with leading property
companies in the industry.

Renovation and Decoration
Revenue: HK$50,185,000 (FY22: HK$40,329,000)

The Group’s entering into the renovation and decoration
industry in 2020 has led the Group to acquire resources, skills
and techniques to expand new businesses and complement
other businesses.

Wenzhou Beichen Construction Co., Ltd. (EM It RERER
73 78]) (“Beichen Construction”), an indirect subsidiary of the
Company, is principally engaged in renovation and decoration
and engineering services in the PRC and holds the PRC Grade
One construction and decoration engineering contractor
qualification.

The business of Beichen Construction is mainly in Zhejiang
and is gradually expanding outside the province. It specialises
in various renovation and decoration projects for residential
buildings, hotels, shopping malls, office buildings, schools and
hospitals, and has completed various projects with exquisite
craftsmanship and sound construction management.

1 0 Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Hotel operation in Japan
Revenue: HK$9,116,000 (FY22: HK$7,990,000)

Tafutsu Kabushiki Kaisha* (#k=\ &+t % #5) (“Doof Japan”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, operates
a resort hotel and a 18-hole golf course located in Hokkaido,
Japan.

During the reporting period, as the pandemic stabilized
and the vaccination rate continued to rise, the Japanese
government continued to enlarge the opening up of entry
and the support of the tourism industry; with the global cross-
border tourism continuing to resume, it has created a better
environment and opportunities for hotels and golf courses
operations in Japan.

As to hotel operations management, guided by the principle of
“taking root in the local market for common development”, the
Group continued to launch a series of marketing activities for
the local market in Japan and overseas to develop and enrich
the product lines of the hotel, golf course and restaurant to
meet the needs of customers at different levels, which has had
a positive impact on the business performance.

The development of the COVID-19 pandemic created a turning
point, together with the recovery of the Japan’s inbound
tourism, the Group’s Hokkaido hotels will take advantage of its
uniquely beautiful natural environment, and the advantages
of its uniquely competitive integrated facilities of “hotel + golf
course + restaurant” to steadily increase its profitability.

LOOKING FORWARD

For the Chongaging Property, with its geographical advantage,
quality of the Group’s project and managerial experience, the
serviced apartments have generated positive returns and will
provide to the Group with considerable and stable income. The
shopping mall operation is still in its nurturing stage, and it has
improved after the pandemic. The Group is actively undergoing
customer mix enhancement, shopping mall upgrade and
business mix adjustments. Based on the re-investigation of the
post-pandemic real estate market, residential apartment sales
plan will be adjusted and optimized for new breakthrough in
sales.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED T

As new projects are successively undertaken by the Group,
the Huiyong Property and Beichen Construction continue
to generate revenue growth for the Group and the business
scope of the Group gradually expands.

After the global pandemic control is lifted, the Japanese
tourism industry is gradually recovering and the performance
of hotels in Hokkaido is improving.

The Group will continue to focus on (i) monitoring the financial
performance of the existing businesses; (ii) reducing operating
expenses and fees; and (iii) improving the profitability of each
asset to generate stable income and cash flows and lower the
gearing ratio and the finance costs.

On the basis of further improving the existing business,
the Group will also proactively look for more investment
opportunities with promising outlooks and prospects and
continue to create value for shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue, gross profit and gross profit margin

Revenue of the Group for FY23 amounted to HK$137,137,000
(Fy22: HK$116,656,000), which comprised of sales and
leasing income from the Chonggqing Property, income from the
Japan resort hotel, property management service income and
renovation and decoration income. The increase in revenue
by HK$20,481,000 as compared to prior year was contributed
from all sectors of the Company, especially revenue generated
from the renovation and decoration and property management
service operating segments.

Gross profit of the Group for FY23 amounted to
HK$10,435,000, a turnaround from gross loss of HK$8,394,000
in prior year. The gross profit margin turned around 7.6% for
FY23 from negative gross profit margin of 7.2% in FY22. The
turnaround in both gross profit and gross profit margin for the
year is mainly due to increase in revenue from leasing income
of the Chongqing Property and income from the Japan resort
hotel in the post-pandemic period and income from property
management service income and renovation and decoration
mainly due to volume of the projects undertaken. The Group
had also tightened the costs control and kept it around FY22
level.

Man Sang International Limited  Annual Report 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Selling and administrative expenses

Selling and administrative expenses mainly comprised
of selling expenses amounted to HK$11,399,000
(FY22: HK$13,835,000) and administrative expenses of
HK$69,210,000 (FY22: HK$82,830,000). With disciplined
cost control strategy, the Group closely managed selling and
administrative expenses during the year, as a result both
selling expenses and administrative expenses were decreased
by 17.6% and 16.4% respectively.

Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year
attributable to equity holders of the Company

The loss for the years attributable to the equity holders
of the Company worsened to HK$482,922,000 (FY22:
HK$371,735,000) and the total comprehensive expenses
for FY23 attributable to equity holders of the Company
was HK$587,601,000 (FY22: HK$323,153,000) which was
mainly attributable to (i) decrease in fair value of investment
properties amounted to HK$193,891,000; (ii) impairment loss
on properties held for sales amounted to HK$46,994,000; and
(iii) finance costs amounted to HK$167,920,000.

Liquidity and capital resources

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s total equity was negative
HK$397,764,000 (2022: positive HK$190,159,000),
represented a decrease of HK$587,923,000 for the year. This
was mainly attributable to (i) exchange loss on translation
of foreign operations of HK$104,598,000 as a result of a
combination of Renminbi (“RMB”) and Japanese Yen (“JPY”)
against Hong Kong dollars; (ii) loss for the year attributable
to equity holders of the Company for FY23 amounted to
HK$482,922,000; and (iii) loss attributable to the non-
controlling interest.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalent
of HK$32,869,000 (2022: HK$31,770,000). Cash and bank
balances are mainly denominated in RMB. The Group’s current
assets amounted to HK$468,501,000 (2022: HK$544,014,000).
The current ratio, represented by total current assets divided
by total current liabilities, was narrowing to 1.01 from 1.49 in
2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED T

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had current liabilities of
HK$463,797,000 (2022: HK$364,548,000) and total borrowings,
representing bank and other borrowings, promissory notes
and unsecured borrowings from a director amounted to
HK$2,851,056,000 (2022: HK$2,802,264,000), which are
interest bearing and denominated either in Renminbi or Hong
Kong dollars. The Group does not currently use any derivatives
to manage interest rate risk. Gearing ratio, represented by total
borrowings divided by total equity, was negative 7.17 (2022:
14.74) as a negative total equity was recorded as at 31 March
2023. Approximately HK$123,047,000 (2022: HK$47,714,000)
of the total borrowings will be due in the coming twelve
months from the end of the reporting period. As at 31 March
2023, the Group had capital commitment of HK$7,351,000
(2022: HK$1,963,000), while its net current assets and cash
and cash equivalents amounted to HK$4,704,000 (2022:
HK$179,466,000) and HK$32,869,000 (2022: HK$31,770,000)
respectively.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of the
Group, the directors of the Company have reviewed the
Group’s cash flow projections covering a period not less than
twelve months from 31 March 2023 and have given careful
consideration to the Group’s future liquidity, performance and
available resources, including but not limited to:

a) The operation of the property project of Chongqging
Kingstone Land Co., Ltd.* (EEZABMAR A A)
(“Chongqging Kingstone”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, is expected to continue
to generate operating cash inflows to the Group by
actively adjusting sales and marketing activities to
better respond to market needs;

b) Provision of the drawdown of the Group’s unused loan
facilities with Mr. Hu of approximately HK$307,795,000
and additional facilities of RMB300 million granted in
June 2023, all of which will expire in December 2025;

c) Provision of the drawdown of the Group’s unused loan
facilities with Mr. Hu's controlled related company of
HK$49,223,000, which will expire in December 2025;
and
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group will continuously comply with financial
covenants and other terms and conditions of the
secured bank borrowings, including timely repayment
of principal and interests of the bank borrowings.

The Group is assessing and considering different feasible
solutions for the Group to improve its operations, including but
not limited to obtaining additional equity/loan financing from
Mr. Hu and/or his related companies and other options for
reducing debt burden of the Group.

In addition, the Group will also consider other business options
including but not limited to refining the investment strategy
and/or other alternatives in optimising the asset portfolio of the
Group to relieve the Group’s burden.

Based on the above, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the Group will have sufficient working capital to fulfill
its financial obligations as and when they fall due in the coming
twelve months from 31 March 2023. Accordingly, the directors
of the Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
these consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Exposure to the fluctuations in exchange rates

The Group principally operates its businesses in the PRC,
Hong Kong and Japan. The Group has subsidiaries operating
in the PRC and Japan, in which most of their transactions
are denominated in RMB and JPY respectively. The Group is
exposed to foreign exchange fluctuations from RMB and JPY
which are the main foreign currency transacted by the Group
during FY23.

The Group did not enter into any foreign exchange contract
as hedging measures during FY23. The Group manages
its foreign currency risk against RMB and JPY by closely
monitoring their movements and may use hedging derivatives,
such as foreign currency forward contracts, to manage its
foreign currency risk as appropriate.

Charge on Asset and Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 20283, the Chongqing Property was pledged to
secure banking borrowings granted to Chongging Kingstone.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED T

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total workforce of
378 (2022: 393). The total staff cost, including Directors’
emoluments and mandatory provident fund contributions,
amounted to HK$46,648,000 (2022: HK$72,688,000).
Employees are remunerated based on their performance
and experience. Remuneration package is determined with
reference to market conditions and individual performance. In
order to align the interests of staff, Directors and consultants
with the Group, share options may be granted to staff,
Directors and consultants under the Group’s share option
scheme (the “2012 Share Option Scheme”). There were no
share options outstanding under the 2012 Share Option
Scheme as at 31 March 2023. The 2012 Share Option Scheme
has expired on 16 August 2022, ten years from the date of its
adoption.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for those Hong Kong
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme,
and follows the national pension system (“National Pension
System”) for the employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Japan, contributions of which are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries, and the
employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme (the “Central Pension Scheme”, together with the
MPF Scheme and National Pension System, the “Defined
Contribution Schemes”) operated by the local municipal
government, in which these subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage, which was pre-determined
by the local municipal government, of the sum of basic salary
and allowance of employees to the Central Pension Scheme.
The contributions by the Group for the Defined Contribution
Schemes are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the relevant rules of the
respective schemes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s contributions to the Defined Contribution Schemes
vest fully and immediately with the employees. Accordingly,
(i) for each of the two years ended 31 March 2022 and 31
March 2023, there was no forfeiture of contributions under the
Defined Contribution Schemes; and (ii) there were no forfeited
contributions available for the Group to reduce its existing level
of contributions to the Defined Contribution Schemes as at 31
March 2022 and 31 March 2023.

For each of the two years ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March
2023, the Group did not have any defined benefit plan.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

Save as disclosed above, the Group held no significant
investment as at 31 March 2023.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Save as disclosed herein, for FY23, there were no other
material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries, associates
or joint ventures by the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Save as disclosed herein, there has been no change in the
capital structure of the Group during FY23. The capital of the
Group only comprises ordinary shares.

* For identification purpose only
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAERBE

CHAIRMAN

Mr. Hu Xingrong, aged 43, was appointed as the chairman of
the board (the “Board”) of directors of Man Sang International
Limited (the “Company”) and an executive Director of the
Company on 2 May 2018. He is also the chairman of the
nomination committee and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Hu is responsible for the
business strategy and direction of the Company and provides
leadership for the Board and ensure proper and effective
functioning of the Board. He has over 19 years of experience
in corporate management, investment and business
development. He is currently the chairman of the board of
directors of Doof International Holding Group Limited* (% 5 El
RIS EEE A R A Al (“Doof Group”), a company established
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and is a large-
scale comprehensive privately-owned enterprise group. Mr.
Hu is also a beneficial owner of China DaDi Group Limited, a
substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). Meanwhile, Mr. Hu serves as
the President of Wenzhou Enterprises Chamber of Commerce
in Beijing* (At FBM ¥ E), the Honorary President of
Hong Kong Wenzhou Entrepreneurs Association Limited
and a committee member of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous
Region.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Huang Xiaohai, aged 54, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 2 May 2018. He is also a member
of each of the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. Huang is responsible for the
overall implementation of the Company’s strategies and the
co-ordination of overall business operations. He has over 31
years of extensive experience in banking and financial sectors.
He graduated from China University of Petroleum (Beijing). Mr.
Huang is currently working as a vice president in Doof Group.

Mr. Jin Jianggui, aged 53, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 5 November 2018. Mr. Jin
graduated from Hangzhou Dianzi University with a Bachelor’s
Degree in Finance. He has over 27 years of extensive
experience in banking and finance sectors. Mr. Jin is currently
a vice president of Doof International Holding Group Limited.

1 8 Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2023

£

SRS A - 435% - 2018 F5 A2HEZ T AR
FEBEAERATG (AR NESg(ES2DERE
MRHITER - BNAARRIREBEZEGERERG
MEEEKE - HEEBERITARR ZEBK
BEAHURBEESS  BRESSHLER
BRUHEIE - FHEAHBBIOFLEETE - RER
E¥BBRCLYELR - BRAZHERBITERER
ERABI([ZHER ] ZARINRFEARLMEH
(HFBDKY - BARGAURECEERES
R AEENARARREERE(EERLEBEN
FOTIEFZHF R EEMIEXY 2P B A& E
ERARIZEREB A - ANEETILZEMNE
(meegk EFEANIESREBeRLHES
EZHERBERMES -

HITEE

HESEALE @ 545% 0 M2018FE5 2R ER T AR
REPITES - FARBARBFMEE S MRS
ZEENE - ELEBEE2ERITAR AKX
IR EERLE - FRBETRESREREE
FUELH VTEXRNTPERARRKEJLR) - &
EERNEZHEERTIEE -

STHEE 535 0 R2018F11ASHEZRTA
KRBMITES - SHRERERMMNETFRIEK
BUYESSMBE LB - FRIFTRERBMITE
HERATFEELR - AR N L REIER
SEERAFETRIRY -



[PTm—re——

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Li Zhenyu, aged 49, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 5 November 2018. Mr. Li
graduated from Tsinghua University with a Doctor of
Philosophy in Chemical Engineering. Mr. Li has over 18 years
of extensive experience in natural resources sector and before
joining the Company, he had been working in China National
Petroleum Corporation from 1999 to 2017 and the position last
held was the strategy research supervisor of the petrochemical
institute. Mr. Li is currently a vice president of Doof Group.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Pau Yee Ling, aged 44, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 5 November 2018.
She is also the chairlady of the remuneration committee of
the Company and a member of each of the audit committee
and nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Pau holds a
Bachelor degree of Business Administration in Accounting in
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a
Master degree of Science in China Business Studies in the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Pau has around 19
years of experience in several multi-national corporations and
international accounting firms, an expertise in Hong Kong, the
PRC and overseas in tax advisory, group restructuring, merger
and acquisitions. Ms. Pau is currently a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong. Ms. Pau
is currently a senior tax business partner of a multinational
enterprise.

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit, aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on
5 November 2018. He is also the chairman of the audit
committee of the Company and a member of each of the
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Company. Mr. Wong holds a Master of Business Administration
Degree from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Wong
has over 19 years of experience in accounting and financial
management, mergers and acquisitions gained from certain
senior finance related positions including companies listed
in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the HKICPA.
Mr. Wong is currently an independent Non-executive Director
of Culturecom Holdings Limited (Stock code: 343) and
Sprocomm Intelligence Limited (Stock code: 1401), both of
these companies are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENEREEAEREBE

Mr. Yuen Hoi Po, aged 60, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 5 November 2018.
He is also a member of each audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Mr.
Yuen holds a bachelor of business administration degree
from the University of Heilongjiang. Since 1990, Mr. Yuen has
been engaging in various industries including trading, real
estates, tourism and services, acquiring extensive experiences
in the commercial sector. Mr. Yuen is currently serving as
an executive director and chief executive officer of Huayi
Tencent Entertainment Company Limited, a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 419), held a position in the
remuneration committee and served as the chairman for the
executive committee, corporate governance committee and
strategy committee.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheng Haoliang, aged 35, was appointed as the Group
chief financial officer on 18 October 2019. Mr. Cheng has
many years of experience in financial management, banking
and corporate finance. Prior to joining the Company, he
worked in renowned banks and listed company in Hong Kong
and served senior roles in finance function.

* For identification purpose only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) recognises the
importance of achieving the highest standard of corporate
governance consistent with the needs and requirements of its
businesses and the best interest of all of its stakeholders, and
the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) is fully
committed to doing so. The Board believes that high standards
of corporate governance provide a framework and solid
foundation for the Group to manage business risks, enhance
transparency, achieve high standard of accountability and
protect stakeholders’ interests.

The Group has adopted a corporate governance statement
of policy which provides guidance on the application of the
corporate governance principles on the Group, with reference
to the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Save as disclosed below, the Company has complied with all
the code provisions in the CG Code during the Period except
the following deviation:

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing. Mr. Hu
Xingrong was the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) while
the role of the chief executive officer of the Company (the
“CEQ”) was performed by Mr. Xu Haohao for the period from
1 April 2022 to 19 August 2022. The Chairman focuses on
the business strategy and direction of the Company and has
executive responsibilities, provides leadership for the Board
and ensures proper and effective functioning of the Board in
discharging of its responsibilities. The CEO is accountable
to the Board for the overall implementation of the Company’s
strategies and the coordination of overall business operations.
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Since Mr. Xu Haohao resigned as an executive director and
the CEO on 20 August 2022, the post of CEO has been vacant.
The executive directors and the senior management have been
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for
the day-to-day operations of the Group while reserving certain
key matters for the approval by the Board. After evaluation
of the current situation of the Company and considering of
the board composition, the Board is of the opinion that it is
appropriate and in the best interests of the Company at the
present stage for such arrangement as it helps to maintain the
continuity of the policies and the stability of the operations of
the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the
Group, which includes leadership and control of the Company
and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions,
internal control, risk management and performances. The
management team is delegated with the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day management
of the Group. The delegated functions and work tasks are
periodically reviewed. Major corporate matters that are
specifically delegated by the Board to the management
include (1) the preparation of interim and annual reports and
announcements for the Board’s approval before publishing;
(2) implementation of adequate systems of internal controls
and risk management procedures; and (3) compliance with
relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and rules and
regulations. It is the responsibility of the Board to determine
the appropriate corporate governance practices applicable to
the Company’s circumstances and to ensure processes and
procedures are in place to achieve the Company’s corporate
governance objectives.

The Board has maintained the necessary balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the business requirements and
objectives of the Group and for the exercise of independent
judgement. Each Director with various professional
qualification, experience and related financial management
expertise have contributed to the effective direction of the
Company and provided adequate checks and balances
to safeguard to the interests of both the Group and the
shareholders. Hence, the Board believes that the current
Board composition satisfy the balance of expertise, skills and
experience to the corporate governance requirements of the
Group as well as the ongoing development and management
of its business activities.
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The Board currently comprises four executive Directors,
namely Mr. Hu Xingrong (chairman of the Board), Mr. Huang
Xiaohai, Mr. Jin Jianggui and Mr. Li Zhenyu and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee
Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po.

The biographies of the existing Directors are set out in “Profile
of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 18 to 20 of this
annual report.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as
well as the operation and financial performance of the Group,
and to review and approve the Company’s interim and annual
results. During the year, six Board meetings were held and the
attendance of each Director at the Board meetings is set out in
the section headed “Board and Committees Meetings” of this
annual report.

Regular Board meetings for each year are scheduled in
advance to facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. All
Directors are given an opportunity to include matters for
discussion in the agenda. The Company Secretary assists
the Chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings to comply
with all applicable rules and regulations. The agenda and the
accompanying Board papers are normally sent to Directors at
least three days before the intended date of a Board meeting.
Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to Directors
for their comment before being tabled at the next Board
meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the Company
Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time
on reasonable notice by any Director.

Pursuant to the bye-laws of the Company, all Directors
appointed to fill a causal vacancy shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at the meeting. At each annual
general meeting, at least one-third of the Directors for the time
being shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years.

There is no relationship between members of the Board.
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BOARD AND COMMITTEES MEETINGS

The individual attendance records of each Director at the
various meetings of the Company during the year ended 31
March 2023 are set out below:

EEXEESNZEEEE
HE2023F3A3IALFE  SEEHFEARF]
ZEg 2 @R FECsRH T

General Audit Remuneration Nomination
meetings Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director EEpg BREAE EZg ENZE® FzEe REZEE
Mr. Hu Xingrong TR 1/1 6/6 = 1/1 11
Mr. Huang Xiaohai BEESLE 1/1 6/6 = 1/1 111
Mr. Jin Jianggui SIHLE 1/1 6/6 = = =
Mr. Li Zhenyu ERFEE 1/1 6/6 - - -
Mr. Xu Haohao HRER KA (R2022F
(resigned on 20 August 2022) 8A20HE() 1/1 2/2 = = =
Ms. Pau Yee Ling BEELL 11 6/6 3/3 1/ il
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit BEALE il 6/6 3/3 111 1
Mr. Yuen Hoi Po REBREE n 6/6 33 17 17
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT BEREE
The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of ZEEZ2 8 HEERIEZ2023F3A31HIEFE
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2 &M EHRE  LEERA TR AEER
2023 which gives a true and fair view of the consolidated 2023F3A318 24 A MERRIUAREEZ B 1t

financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and of the
consolidated financial performance and cash flows for year
then ended. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board has selected
appropriate accounting policies, applied them consistently in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants which are pertinent to its operations and relevant
to the consolidated financial statements, made judgements
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and ensured
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements on the
going concern basis.

The Group endeavours to present a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the Group’s performance,
position and prospects. The interim and annual results of the
Company are announced in a timely manner within the limit of
two months and three months, respectively, after the end of the
relevant periods in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Directors have acknowledged their responsibility for
preparing all information and representation contained in the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

24 Man Sang International Limited  Annual Report 2023

FEZHEAUKEEREERE - RERER
2023F3HA31A L FE ZiREMBmMER  ES
SERAABENHE  ERERBBESM
AREMBEHREEERREVBEREEEZES
B REER - (EHEERAE 2 M Kb
WRIZFELEEERESEVIERE -

AEEBIRFE  BFH AT EAEER
B RRARAIR - RARZFHAREEFREEDR
EHRBZRE - 2 hERBHREGEREMEAR
R=AZRARNEBER IS o

TL\;:l

EEDHE f&#ﬁffiiﬁ LU 5 A = 2023F
SAB1BLFEEARRGEVBHRERRNNATEE
BN R o



[ m——

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Upon appointing a new Director, each new Director receives
an induction package covering business operations, policy and
procedures of the Company as well as the general, statutory
and regulatory obligations of being a Director to ensure that
he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities under the
Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements.

The Directors, on an ongoing basis, will receive amendments
to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In
addition, the Company encourages the Directors to enroll in a
wide range of professional development courses and seminars
relating to the Listing Rules, Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and corporate governance practices so that they can
continuously improve their relevant knowledge and skills. The
Company has also provided reading materials to all Directors
to develop and refresh their professional knowledge.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Directors participated
in the following continuous professional development:

EREBRE
ESARRBESERRE
RECHESH - SLHEEHUE —HREA

BWER  RERDARBEL  BERERF B
RIEREEM M  AERETEML - NEER

BREMBEN EMARAREEREE ZRKTH
Bff-

ARRIFFERAESREEAREE  RAURRE
ZIEFTHEHEA I ARBZBHEELHE
ZIREFHARR - FERRGIIREEEATER
BERANEXERRAELANE  UREREAFHE
HEB MBI - ARBIRAZREFREH
BIREM L - DARFA R E R EEME -

REE2023F3A31BILFE  EFCL2E T
BEHELRE

Reading materials

updating on

new rules and

Name of Directors regulations

REEBEHRRR

ERBTER

Esng ZER

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Hu Xingrong HREREE S v

Mr. Huang Xiaohai =BG AE 4

Mr. Jin Jianggui EILHEEA v

Mr. Li Zhenyu FIRFEE v

Mr. Xu Haohao (resigned on 20 August 2022) %25 (R20224%8 A20 B BHE) -
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES

Ms. Pau Yee Ling SAKE R+ v

Mr. Wong Kwan Kit EENEAE v

Mr. Yuen Hoi Po REREAE v

TECCEFR REABERAR
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Hu Xingrong was the Chairman while Mr. Xu Haohao
was the CEO for the period from 1 April 2022 to 19 August
2022. The Chairman focuses on the business strategy and
direction of the Company and has executive responsibilities,
provides leadership for the Board and ensures proper
and effective functioning of the Board in discharging of its
responsibilities. The CEO is accountable to the Board for the
overall implementation of the Company’s strategies and the
coordination of overall business operations.

Since Mr. Xu Haohao resigned as an executive Director and
the CEO on 20 August 2022, the post of CEO has been vacant.
The executive Directors and the senior management have been
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for
the day-to-day operations of the Group while reserving certain
key matters for the approval by the Board. After evaluation
of the current situation of the Company and considering of
the board composition, the Board is of the opinion that it is
appropriate and in the best interests of the Company at the
present stage for such arrangement as it helps to maintain the
continuity of the policies and the stability of the operations of
the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a service agreement with the Company pursuant to which
each of them is appointed for service with the Company for
a term of three years commencing on 4 November 2022 and
shall continue and be automatically renewed thereafter for
every three years. Their terms of appointment shall be subject
to the rotational retirement provision of the bye-laws of the
Company.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has complied with the requirements under Rules
3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company
has received confirmation of independence from all three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee
Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po in accordance
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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The Board has reviewed the independence of all independent
non-executive Directors and concluded that all of them
are independent within the definition of the Listing Rules.
Furthermore, the Board is not aware of the occurrence of any
events which would cause it to believe that the independence
of any of the independent non-executive Directors has been
impaired up to the date of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An Audit Committee has been established by the Board with
specific written terms of reference and all members of the
Audit Committee are Independent Non-executive Directors.
Pursuant to the Audit Committee’s terms of reference, the Audit
Committee is authorised to commit Company’s funds in order
to obtain advice from outside legal counsel, accountants,
investigatory services or other expert advice.

The Audit Committee performs, amongst others, the following
functions:

- To review the financial information of the Group.

- To review the relationship with and terms of appointment
of the external auditor.

- To review the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
audit function.

- To review the effectiveness and adequacy of the
Company'’s financial reporting system, risk management
and internal control systems.

Details of the authority and responsibilities of the Audit
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan
Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po. Mr. Wong Kwan Kit is the chairman of
the Audit Committee.
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee
held three meetings including the review of the annual results
for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the interim results
for the six months ended 30 September 2022 before their
submission to the Board and monitored the integrity of such
consolidated financial statements. The attendance of each
member of the Audit Committee is set out in the section
headed “Board and Committees Meetings” of this annual
report.

The Audit Committee has also discussed and reviewed the key
audit matters determined by the external auditor under Hong
Kong Standards on Auditing for the year ended 31 March
2022.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board
with specific written terms of reference and the majority of the
members of the Remuneration Committee are Independent
Non-Executive Directors.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are:

- To make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy.

- To review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives.

- To make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management, including benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments (including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of
their office or appointment).

- To make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors.

- To ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates
is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

- To review and/or approve matters relating to share
schemes of the Company.
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Details of the authority and responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong
Kwan Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po, and two executive Directors,
namely Mr. Hu Xingrong and Mr. Huang Xiaohai. Ms. Pau Yee
Ling is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting to approve the remuneration
packages for the individual Directors and Senior Management
of the Company. The attendance of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is set out in the section headed
“Board and Committees Meetings” of this annual report.

Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments for the year
ended 31 March 2023 are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the annual salary of the
Senior Management (exclude Directors) of the Company falls
within the following band:

Remuneration band

[

EEERRE

FHEZ B e BENMBEFBRARR KB R
AR BB o

FHNEZEER =R BUFRTESRREL L
BEENEERRBRAENRRERTESHAE
KRAEERERSREAK - BREXTR/FME
BEgxF -

B E2023F3A31HILFE ' FMEE 8T —
ReE WEARASEERSREERE 2 H M
Fd o FNEZESREE 2 HBEERHIIN AT R

[EEERZBegR] -

B E2023F3ABNBEFRZESHMFRHRN
fRA R IEImRMTTE14 -

REE2023F3A31HILFE » AR AISREE
ABEEBRINZFEFNTUTEHE :

Number of Senior
Management
SREBAEHAE

Nil to HK$1,000,000
£ 21,000,000/ 7T

Remuneration policy

Remuneration policy of the Group is reviewed regularly,
making reference to legal framework, market condition and
performance of the Group and individual staff (including
the Directors). The remuneration policy and remuneration
packages of the executive Directors and member of the senior
management of the Group are reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee.

The primary objective of the Group’s remuneration policy is
to retain and motivate executive Directors and employees by
linking their compensation to the Company’s performance
and evaluating their compensation against corporate goals,
so that the interests of the executive Directors and the senior
management team are aligned with those of our shareholders.
Remuneration package is determined by reference to the
Company'’s operating results, market conditions and individual
performance.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A Nomination Committee has been established by the Board
with specific terms of reference.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are:

- To review the structure, size and diversity of the Board
at least annually.

- To identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members.

- To assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

- To make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors.

Details of the authority and responsibilities of the Nomination
Committee are available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Ms. Pau Yee Ling, Mr. Wong Kwan
Kit and Mr. Yuen Hoi Po, and two executive Directors, namely
Mr. Hu Xingrong and Mr. Huang Xiaohai. Mr. Hu Xingrong is
the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and concluded that members of the
Board has possessed the expertise and independence to carry
out the Board’s functions and responsibilities. The Nomination
Committee also reviewed the renewal of specific terms of
three independent non-executive Directors of the Company.
The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee
is set out in the section headed “Board and Committees
Meetings” of this annual report.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted the nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the nomination criteria and procedures
for the Company to select candidate(s) for possible inclusion
in the Board. The Nomination Policy could assist the Company
to achieve board diversity in the Company and enhance the
effectiveness of the Board and its corporate governance
standard.

When assessing the suitability of a candidate, factors such as
the qualifications, skills, integrity and experience will be taken
into consideration as a whole. In the case of independent non-
executive Directors, they must further satisfy the independence
criteria set out within Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Since the
selection of candidates should ensure that diversity remains a
central feature of the Board, a range of diverse perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience would be
considered.

The process to identify potential candidates for the Board
would be as follows:

(1 identifying potential candidates, including
recommendations from the Board members,
professional search firms and the shareholders of the
Company;

evaluating the candidates based on the approved
selection criteria through methods such as reviewing
the resume and conducting the background checks;
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3)

reviewing the profiles of the shortlisted candidates and
interview them; and

(4) making recommendations to the Board on the selected
candidates.

The Nomination Policy also includes the Board succession plan
to assess whether vacancies on the Board would be created
or expected due to the Directors’ resignation, retirement, death
and other circumstances and to identify candidates in advance
if necessary. The Nomination Policy will be reviewed on a
regular basis.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board does not have a Corporate Governance Committee
and the Board is responsible for the corporate governance
function as a whole, including:

1. Developing and reviewing relevant corporate
governance policy and practice of the Company.

2. Reviewing and inspecting continuous professional
development and training of the Directors and senior
management.

S Reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices

of the Company being in compliance with the statutory
and other regulatory provisions.

4. Developing, reviewing and checking code and provision
of conducts applicable to the Directors and employees.

S Reviewing that the Company being in compliance
with the code and corporate governance reporting
requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board reviewed
the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
training and continuous professional development of the
Directors and senior management, and compliance with the
CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged in a service contract with an
external service provider, Ms. Ho Wing Yan (“Ms. Ho"),
who was appointed as the Company Secretary. Mr. Cheng
Haoliang, the chief financial officer of the Company is the
primary corporate contact person of the Company with Ms. Ho.

Being the Company Secretary, Ms. Ho plays an important role
in supporting the Board by ensuring good information flow
within the Board and that the Board policies and procedures
are followed. Ms. Ho is responsible for advising the Board
on corporate governance matters and should also facilitate
induction and professional development of Directors. During
the reporting period, the Company Secretary has complied
with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company (the
“Securities”) by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed,
upon specific enquiries made by the Company, that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the year ended 31 March 2023. To ensure Directors’
dealings in the Securities are conducted in accordance
with the Model Code and securities code of the Company, a
Director is required to notify the Chairman in writing and obtain
a written acknowledgement from the Chairman prior to any
dealings in the Securities.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for
the design and implementation of internal controls and risk
management which covers financial reporting, operations,
compliance and risk management of the Group, as well as
continuous monitoring the effectiveness of such internal
controls and risk management. The Board has delegated
such responsibility and the internal audit function to the
management of the Company. The management, under the
supervision of the Board, has established an on-going process
for identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks faced
by the Group.

EEERRE

DNEAMWE

RN A2 HLHMNER AR 75 £t 8 78 A Bk IR 22 £ ([ a] &2
THREBEZERARBME)FI L —HRES
W ARFIEENBREREREER/A AT E
MEZTWEBEEEBEA -

ERARAWE  MALEXEEFSLEEE
A BREFENEARNRRYT - UKEBE
EEeHRLEERF - AXTEEREFTSRMHED
XERFEETHEER - XML HEFH ARSI
REZRER NEBSHAN ARAREDETLE
mARAIE3.20F A TMHBEREIIZK -

EEETZESERS
RABRMEMBBNHEE A& EMETAE
FRTEFRHNZRESTA(RESFR) - EA
EFZEEARABHF(ER] ZBTFTR - €K
AEWEHEABEEHE  2RBZIEIRSENER
2023 3A31HILFEHBETRESTRIMEH
RERE - BRERESTNEEEFNETEEST
AIRARRFESTE  EENBEBETMESFA -
BAEMRNEE  WARSEREZEZHEBER

REEERAREE

SR EHRA RATAMEZERRAREE
ZEEEE  BRAKERGHR L& AR
EEBERTE URHEERZEANMEZRERR
RER MY - EFGERAARAEERERIKZ
ERERAMEZRE CEFSEE T BE
EBEEVRETERF - @5 - fHEREEAKHE
PRE S 2 ERER °

SECCFER REEBERAR

33



34

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERRE

The Audit Committee reviews the internal controls and risk
management that are significant to the Group on an on-going
basis. The Audit Committee also considers the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, as well as their
training programmes and budgets.

The Company has complied with the risk management and
internal control code provisions in the following manner:

(a)

the process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group are summarised as
follows:

Risk Identification

° Identifies risks that may potentially affect the
Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment

° Assesses the risks identified by using
the assessment criteria developed by the
management; and

° Considers the impact and consequence on the
business and the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response

° Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of
the risk assessment; and

° Determines the risk management strategies and
internal control processes to prevent, avoid or

mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the
risk and ensures that appropriate internal control
processes are in place;
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o Revises the risk management strategies and
internal control processes in case of any
significant change of situation; and

° Reports the results of risk monitoring to the
management and the Board regularly.

the main features of the risk management and
internal control systems

Control procedures have been designed to safeguard
assets against misappropriation and disposition; ensure
compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations;
ensure proper maintenance of accounting records for
provision of reliable financial information used within the
business or for publication; and to provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

an acknowledgement by the Board that it is
responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. It
should also explain that such systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss

The Board is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and reviewing
their effectiveness. The Board oversees the overall risk
management of the Group and endeavours to identify,
control impact of the identified risks and facilitate
implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
risk management and internal control systems of the
Company are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failures to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

the process used to review the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and
to resolve material internal control deficiency

The Company establishes an internal control team
to review the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The results and findings were
presented to the Board and Audit Committee for
reviewing its effectiveness.

(b)

(¢)

(d)

EEERRE

. —BEERLREMNERE L - AlE
BEL ALY e
M

. E%WE@F&§$§&

|§/~Al A

EL i,

BREERAREZFIEZEERH

EEREFNAREEECEBRNEE
feRETHRBED - RAURKRG : ERE
AXBRExTEMEHRATEMBER

SEIAEBHZERE  RHHERE
RERBERM - BRIUFRESEREM

ETEAREAUAREERAIREEH
EEE  YEEARNZSHEZAN
o EEEMEMBZSHESEEEM
FHBRAREENEBERZAR - MAR
ERAEEEARERAFBREHEE
M A 3 2 1R &

EXeBUARTRREE N AR EE 1§
EaE - IE?EF‘%%%FZE&
- BEFEEEBEAREEERARER

3 A 78 R Ko F22 I BT a8 Bl L B Z%ﬁiﬁ
FEEITHRAZAFEER - ARRRAREE
&W%?Tﬂfaﬁaﬁﬁ%ﬁ@%%i
REKBRzRR  MERERTEEE
RRERAM iﬁ%ﬁﬁAﬁﬁ#ﬁTZ%

B
ag °

PR Y B B I BB BRI IR A
CERFURBRBREZABEZREZRE
FF

ZNSIE VA =Teae o Srikis SEE
ERNABEENE - BRERBERAERE
SENERREEERHR  UERHEAX
e

“EoCEER REBBERAD 35



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

(e)

36

The Board has also engaged an external risk
management and internal control review adviser
(the “Adviser”) to conduct the annual review of the
risk management and internal control systems of
the Group as a whole for the year ended 31 March
2023. Such review is conducted annually and cycles
reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of
review was previously determined and approved by
the Board. The Adviser has reported findings and
areas for improvement to the Audit Committee and
the management of the Company. The Board/Audit
Committee are of the view that there are no material
internal control deficiency noted. All recommendations
from the Adviser are properly followed up by the Group
to ensure that they are implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board therefore considered that
the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.

the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure
potential inside information being captured and
confidentiality of such information being maintained
until consistent and timely disclosure are made in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The policy regulates
the handling and dissemination of inside information,
which includes:

o Designated reporting channels from different
operations informing any potential inside
information to designated departments;

° Designated persons and departments to
determine further escalation and disclosure as
required; and

° Designated persons authorised to act as
spokespersons and respond to external
enquiries.

The Board is satisfied that the internal control system
in place covering all material controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions for the year under review
and up to the date of issuance of the annual report is
reasonably effective and adequate.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the remuneration paid/
payable to SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited and its affiliated firm
is set out as follows:

EEERRE

ZEETN

HE2023FE3A31HILFE - BftFER{ZKF
MEB)SAMEEAERARLEBBEARZ
e HnT

Services rendered Frig it AR 7% Fee paid/payable
e ENEA

HK$'000

FHET

Audit of consolidated financial statements BRI E B HRE 1,750
Agreed-upon procedures on Interim Report FEISR SRR 200
Other service H AR -
1,950

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
on 22 August 2013 (an updated version was adopted with
effect from 1 January 2022) which sets out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at Board level
as an essential element in supporting the attainment of the
Company'’s strategic objectives and sustainable development.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to age, gender, talents, skills, experience, independence and
knowledge. The Company will also take into consideration its
own business model and specific needs from time to time.
All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having
due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises seven
Directors, amongst them, three are independent non-executive
Directors, thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board is also characterised by
significant diversity, whether considered in terms of gender,
age, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
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In respect of the gender diversity of the Board, as at the date
of the Annual Report, there are 6 male Directors and 1 female
Director. The Company is well-aware of the requirements
under the new CG Code where diversity on the Board needs
to be achieved. The Company recognizes and embraces the
benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of
its performance, and sees increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development.

Moreover, the current gender ratio of the company workforce
(including senior management) is 49 males and 51 females
per 100 staffs, as compared with 52 males and 48 females
per 100 staffs in last year. The Company has already
achieved gender diversity and will continue focusing on the
area because workforce gender diversity is associated with
resources that can provide a sustained competitive advantage
to the company, which include market insight, creativity and
innovation, and improved problem-solving. Men’s and women’s
different experiences may provide insights into the different
needs of male and female customers. Further, men and
women may have different cognitive abilities, such as men’s
proficiency in mathematics and women’s proficiency in verbal
and interpersonal skills. Therefore, a mix of cognitive abilities
in a gender diverse team may enhance the team’s overall
creativity and innovation as proved by research. Moreover, a
gender diverse team produces high quality decisions. Although
there may be some mitigating circumstances where gender
diversity can be very hard to achieve (for instance, male
workers are more commonly seen regarding physical labor
and female workers are more often seen during psychological
consultation), the Company will keep focusing on the workforce
gender diversity to maintain its current strength as well as to
further improve its competitivity in the future.

Having reviewed the Policy and the Board’s composition, the
Nomination Committee considered that the requirements of the
Policy had been met.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a Special General
Meeting (“SGM”)

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws and the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda (the “Companies Act”), registered
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) holding not less
than one-tenth (10%) of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(the “SGM Requisitionists”) can deposit a written request to
convene a SGM at the registered office of the Company (the
“Registered Office”), which is presently situated at Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The SGM
Requisitionists must state in their request(s) the objects of
the SGM and such request(s) must be signed by all the SGM
Requisitionists and may consist of several documents in like
form, each signed by one or more of the SGM Requisitionists.

The Share Registrars will verify the SGM Requisitionists’
particulars in the SGM Requisitionists’ request. Promptly
after confirmation from the Share Registrars that the SGM
Requisitionists’ request is in order, the Company Secretary will
arrange with the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient
notice to all the registered Shareholders in accordance with
all the relevant statutory and regulatory requirements. On the
contrary, if the SGM Requisitionists’ request is verified not in
order, the SGM Requisitionists will be advised of the outcome
and a SGM will not be convened as requested.

The SGM Requisitionists, or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may
themselves convene a SGM if within twenty-one (21) days of
the deposit of the SGM Requisitionists’ request, the Board
does not proceed duly to convene a SGM provided that any
SGM so convened is held within three (3) months from the
date of the original SGM Requisitionists’ request. A SGM so
convened by the SGM Requisitionists shall be convened in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings
are to be convened by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Put Forward Proposals at
a General Meeting

Pursuant to the Companies Act, either any number of the
registered Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth
(5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company (the
“Requisitionists”), or not less than 100 of such registered
Shareholders, can request the Company in writing to (a) give
to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next general
meeting notice of any resolution which may properly be moved
and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate
to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next general
meeting any statement of not more than 1,000 words with
respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or
the business to be dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of
the Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered
Office with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s
relevant expenses, not less than six weeks before the meeting
in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not
less than one week before the meeting in the case of any
other requisition. Provided that if an AGM is called for a date
six weeks or less after the requisition has been deposited, the
requisition though not deposited within the time required shall
be deemed to have been properly deposited for the purposes
thereof.

Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s share registrar, Tricor
Secretaries Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, or call its customer service hotline
at (852) 2980 1333.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The annual general meeting provides an opportunity for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The chairman
of the Board and the chairman of Remuneration Committee,
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee had attended
the 2022 AGM of the Company held on 30 September 2022 to
answer shareholders’ questions.

The public are welcomed to give their comments and make
enquiries through the Company’s website and by means of
emails to the investor relations department (email address:
ir@msil.com.hk). The management always provides prompt
responses to any such enquiries.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY
Purpose

The Company recognises the importance of providing
current and relevant information to its shareholders (the
“Shareholders”). This shareholders’ communication policy
(the “Policy”) aims to set out the provisions with the objective
to ensure that the Shareholders and potential investors are
provided with equal and timely access to balanced and
understandable information about the Company, in order to
enable Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed
manner, and to allow Shareholders and potential investors to
engage actively with the Company.

General Policy

The Board shall maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and will regularly review the Policy to ensure its
effectiveness.

Information is communicated to the Shareholders as well as
the stakeholders through periodic disclosure through the
Company’s financial reports (interim and annual reports),
annual general meetings and other general meetings that
may be convened, as well as by making available all the
disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange and other
corporate publications on the Stock Exchange’s website
and corporate communications on the Stock Exchange’s
website (www.hkex.com.hk) and the Company’s website
(http://www.msil.com.hk).
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Effective and timely dissemination of information to
Shareholders shall be ensured at all times. Any questions,
requests and comments can be addressed to the Company
by mail to Unit A&B, 14/F, Teda Building, 87 Wing Lok Street,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong or by email to ir@msil.com.hk or
through the Company’s share registrar.

The Company believes that communication with Shareholders
by electronic means, particularly through its website, is an
efficient way to distribute information in a timely and convenient
manner. Shareholders are encouraged to access to the
corporate communications posted on the Company’s website
to help reduce the quantity of printed copies and hence
reduce the impact on the environment.

The Company’s website will be updated with material posted
to the Stock Exchange’s website immediately thereafter. Such
material includes but not limited to financial statements, results
announcements, circulars and notices of general meetings and
associated explanatory documents.

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the
Company’s information to the extent such information is
publicly available.

Shareholders shall be provided with designated contacts,
email addresses and enquiry lines of the Company in order to
enable them to make any query in respect of the Company.

The Company has reviewed the shareholders’ communication
policy conducted for the year ended 31 March 2023 and
considered that the shareholders’ communication policy has
been well implemented and effective.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that our employees, customers
and suppliers and business associates are key stakeholders
to the Company’s success. We strive to achieve corporate
sustainability through engaging our employees, providing
quality products and services to our customers, collaborating
with business partners (including suppliers and contractors)
to deliver quality sustainable products and services and
supporting our community.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board has adopted the dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which sets out the appropriate procedure on declaring
and recommending the dividend payment of the Company.
The Company takes priority to distributing dividends in cash
and shares its profits with the shareholders of the Company.
The dividend distribution decision of the Company will depend
on, among others, the financial results, the current and future
operations, liquidity and capital requirements, financial
condition and other factors as the Board may deem relevant.
The Board may also declare special dividends from time to
time. The Dividend Policy will be reviewed on a regular basis.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change to the Company’s bye-laws during the
year. The Company’s bye-laws is available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

By Order of the Board
Hu Xingrong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRiIR - HERERHRS

Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
is pleased to present our annual Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) report for the year ended 31 March
2023 (“ESG Report”), to provide an overview of the Group’s
management of material environmental and social matter.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report illustrates the Group’s initiative and
performance regarding the environmental and social aspects
during the reporting period from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023
(the “year”).

REPORTING SCOPE

This ESG Report covers all subsidiaries of the Group in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) (including Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong”)) and Japan with
core business that principally engaged in the development,
sales and leasing of properties, provision of property
management services, provision of renovation and decoration
services and hotel management. The Group will continue
identifying and assessing the impacts on major ESG aspects
of its business and to include them in the ESG Report.

REPORTING BASIS

The ESG Report is prepared with reference to the ESG
Reporting Guide set out by Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules.
The Group has complied with the disclosure requirements of
the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Reporting
Guide. The Group will continue to optimise and improve the
disclosure of KPIs. The ESG Report is prepared and published
in both English and Chinese. In the event of contradiction or
inconsistency, the English version shall prevail. During the
process of preparation of this ESG Report, we summarized the
Group’s performance in corporate and social responsibilities
based on the principles of “Materiality, Quantitative, Balance
and Consistency”. Please refer to the table below for our
understanding and response to such reporting principles.
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Reporting Principles
HERA
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BiR  HERERHRS

Our Understanding
KR A7

Our Response
KM E E

Materiality

B2

Quantitative

g1t

Balance

F

Consistency

The issues covered in the ESG Report
should reflect the significant impacts
of the Group on the economy,
environment and society, or the
scope of assessments and decisions
of stakeholders being affected.

RE HahEABRSHRENZE
ERMAEBE LR  RERLEN
BAVE  IXTERZBHEENT
HRORREE -

The ESG Report should disclose key
performance indicators (“KPIs”) in a
measurable manner.

RE HEREABERERUAGE
77K R BB AR e 1R ([ BR BR a ikde
= -

The ESG Report should reflect fairly
the overall sustainability performance
of the Group.

RE HERERRSERATRERA
SEMEBBARERRRE -

The Group should use consistent
disclosure principles for the
preparation of the ESG Report.

AEEEER —BORERAGEER

B HeRERWMSE -

Through our continuous stakeholders
engagement together with our
materiality assessment, we can
identify current material sustainable
development issues.

EREESHBENRERSENRER
MERFE - BAPIRT RS AT E R AT 5
BEREE -

The Group quantitatively discloses
its environmental and social KPlIs,
and provides textual explanations on
quantitative resources.

rEEELEBRBEEARERTSHRE
BAEIR - Wt B b BUR 18 it X F %

The Group has explained in detail
the sustainable development issues
that have a significant impact in the
business to provide an unbiased
picture of its performance, including
the results achieved and the
challenges it faces.
AEECHAMBENERBEEATE
WARBERZE  UAAMERA
R BEFTEG AR R K AT E H &Y
BB -

The Group will ensure that the
disclosure scope and reporting
methods of the ESG Report are
generally consistent every year.
REEBERRE HERER/BRS
MR EEERRE T A EFARRE
—B o
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45



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiIR HERERBRS

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group has established an ESG framework to promote
and implement the Group’s sustainability strategy. To ensure
effective ESG management, our ESG governance structure,
composed of the Board, ESG working group, respective
functional departments and subordinate companies, is
established to promote ESG management and disclosure.
The Board, the ultimate decision-making body of the Group, is
responsible for the Group’s ESG governance. The Board steers
the Group’s sustainable development forward and bears the
overall responsibility of its ESG efforts. In the future, the Board
will continue to strengthen ESG risk management and improve
ESG working mechanism and regulatory processes to enhance
its ESG governance standard. The ESG working group, serving
on the supervision and coordination level, is responsible for
implementing ESG governance strategy, coordinating ESG
matters, compiling ESG reports, and reporting relevant work
progress to the Board on a regular basis. Each functional
department and subordinate company, serving on the
execution level, is responsible for rolling out initiatives set
up by the ESG working group and reporting relevant work
progress and data.

Decision-making level /

BIRE

SEERYIRE - MG RERER  UHEBHK
EmARENAHERRERR - REREMAR
B oneghBREE  RACEVHESE R
%5 odegREARAIENM - EBEMFARTER
AIEKIIRE - HEREQRE - UHEIRE -
HEREREENEE BEFETREAKENZR
REME  BEAKENRE HEakER-E
EERSIAKERFERRND M - WAEER
B oHekEATENEBEEE - KK EF8
RAEBNRRE  HERERARERE  TER
B deRERTIFRAMEETRE - KRR
B e RERKF - RE - HERERTEN
MEREEHARE  ARERTRE HERER
RES > HHRERR  HEREREE GEERER
HERERRE  YEHREFTEREMEEILIE
ER - SREMALTBRRESATE 88
FRERRE HeRELTIENEHIENEE I
HERBIIFERKEUE -

S R

I

./

The Board
e / ' / S8
v v
Supervision and / / )
guideline level Z y ESG working group
EBIHIE / / B HBREATENME
v v

Execution level /

o

/ Functional departments

BiTE /
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group values input and feedback of its stakeholders as
they have substantial contributions to the Group and bring
potential impacts to the Group’s business. Internal and external
stakeholders have been involved in regular engagement
activities to share views regarding the Group’s operations and
performances. The following table provides an overview of

[ m——

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

the Group’s key stakeholders and the various communication
channels used to reach and listen to their expectations:

Stakeholders
EREEE

Engagement channel
BHRE

BiR  HERERHRS

BEMEEE 2SR
AEESHEEDRARENRARDER
FUAREERRAE - BRASEERHRE
FE - AMRINREABEECDSRENES
RAKELEERRBEZERER - TREHAKHE
TEREBEORR  URAUEBRERS
HEXEBRRE

ESpE R

Concern issues
TR E

Government Departments and
Regulators

B BEFT R R B

Shareholders and Investors

BREZREE

Employees

7l
pil

- On site visits and chats

- Work conferences, work together

on research and discussions
- Company website feedback

- EMAEREH®
- IfreRRWHIE
- AREMER

- Annual general meeting and
shareholders meetings

- Annual report and
announcements

- Newsletters

- Investor meetings and road
shows

- BREBFRE RIRRAE

- FHRRAE

- pEER

- REEHEGE REE

- Staff orientation

- Internal training, briefing and
appraisals

- Intranet and emails

- Newsletters

- EROF

- REEN - BN R
- ABRENES

- AREH

- Compliance with law and
regulations

- Government planning on
promoting regional economic
development and employment

- Proper tax payment

- BFRR AR

- T S HE 3 [ A B B e et 36
&

- BOENTE

- Return to the shareholders

- Information disclosure and
transparency

- Protection of interests and fair
treatment to all shareholders

- PR [0 7
- BT MERE
- REEAER M 2 2 A T H R AR R

- Salary level and other welfare of
employees

- Working environment and
occupational safety

- Training and self-actualisation

- Anti-discrimination

- KT R B At B 42 A

= THERELRBER S

- BB RER

- By LI 4R
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RiIR HERERBRS

48

Stakeholders Engagement channel Concern issues
HEEAEEE SHRE BirEE
Customers Company website feedback, - Safe and high-quality products

ENS

Suppliers and Business
Partners

HERREBRH

Industry Associations

brochures distribution and annual
report

Customer feedback and service
hotline

Feedback forms

AR EEE - NMTF RER
EFPERRRGRG

BREE

Business meetings, supplier
conferences, phone calls and
interviews

Review and assessment

meetings

iBeR HEREXE B
Nk

i BT &

Industry conferences and
meetings
Site visits

EREAREREH
BERE
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and services
- Stable and trusted relationship
- Information transparency
- Business ethics
- Integrity
- 22 REBEEM KRS
- = 1E & Al SERR R
- BiERE
- [HESER:
- EAE

- Stable and long-term relationship

- Information sharing

- Good quality control

- Mitigate transaction risk in every
aspect

- = REMRR

- DEEA

- RFEE R

- BFRESAENRZER

- Knowledge sharing

- Fair competition

- Professional standard
development

- AHAE

- ATHE

- EREERE



Stakeholders
EREEE
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Engagement channel

SRRE

BiR  HERERHRS

Concern issues
X E

Financial Institutions

PRy 2

Media

Ree

General Public and
Communities

R At R

The Group will continue to keep close communication with its
stakeholders to share and exchange ideas for advancing the
Group’s ESG management.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Group is committed to continuous improvement of its ESG
management. Please give your suggestions or share your
views with us via email at ir@msil.com.hk.

Communications with relationship
managers

Consultation and regular
meetings

Reports

BRRPKIEER

i X E e

wE

Company website
Media conferences
Announcements
YNGIFERA
HESRE S

A==
=

/

D

Volunteer work of our staff
Charity activities and social
investment
Announcements

IR TTHE
E&EA&Q

im0
n+\ W
%

Update compliance with law and
regulations

Information disclosure

Market information update

BT A
BRE
miZEMEHN

FOERHIER

Improve our communication
channel and mitigate risk
Enhance our corporate image
HEBBRRENFERR
RAGEER

Understand our projected image
within the general public

Be a responsible company
Understand our environmental
and social impact to the society
Announce our career
opportunities
THREMERZRPHOTR
REAREENRA
TERBRMAET S ELENRE R
e

BMEPINTIERS

AEBEREERESHBEETNABUADZRR

REBREAEERE HEREREEMNE
El o

EEEEER

AEERNFBEREZERE HSREREE -
WMEARABEMRERBZIDEE BB BN

B ir@msil.com. hkEE A& B AFT -
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RiIR HERERBRS

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group attaches importance to the materiality assessment

of ESG is

understanding of the materiality of each ESG issue to the

business
of stakeh

disclosure of ESG information and continuous improvement
in the management level of relevant issues. The materiality

EEMRME

AEEERRE HEREARENERMEN
fly - AEIRE - 2EMM THEEARE  HERE
ABRBEHAREXRBRRNEZERERERE
MEE - EMEEAKRERE HERERER
HA R M E R E K FRFERT - F
A AEERE  HEMEAEENER MM

B A i
FEAOT :

AN
)

sues for the purpose of timely and comprehensive

development of the Group and the expectation
olders, in order to facilitate the Group’s effective

assessment on ESG issues of the Group during the year
covers the following steps:

Step 1 The Group identified the following 21 issues in accordance with the disclosure requirements set out in
the ESG Reporting Guide and based on the business characteristics and daily operation of the Group.
These issues are considered to have impacts on the environment and the society during our operation.

B1H AEERBRE HEREORSESIMENBRESZRRESAEENERSHLABELEMNHIAT
EZE - 25 ZEWEANKMNELBRPUREIMGELTE -

Step2 Based on the understanding of the demands and expectations of stakeholder during the daily operation,
the Group determined the materiality of ESG issues by benchmarking the key points and the trend of
ESG works of industry peers.

g2 HENHEELTHESARENFRRPENTH  AEEHRRTRE HekBEIENER LB
¥ HEERERE HAgRkEZENERN -

Step3 Based on the result of the materiality assessment, the Group discussed and determined the key
disclosure of the ESG Report for the year and the key points for improvement in the future ESG work of
the Group.

B35 MAKBEEUTANAER  FEENRITBEFARE HERELABRENRBEEHRARARAKSERE -
HEREATIENRAZE -

Social Aspects Environmental Aspects
HEEE RIGEM
1. Equal 5. Preventionof 9. Complaint 13. Community 14. Exhaust 18. Water
opportunity child labor and handling investment emissions consumption
forced labor
1. FEKe 5 MILEAEIR9 KBFEE 13 HERE 14. BERHE 18. FEkE
58 45 T
2. Employment 6. Selectionand 10. Protection of 15. Greenhouse 19. Paper
and employee evaluation of intellectual gas emissions consumption
benefits suppliers property rights
2. BENEERM6. HEMMNEER 10 REMBERE 15 R ERBEEN 19, HRERE
BEE]

50
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Social Aspects

BiR  HERERHRS

Environmental Aspects

HEEmE
3. Occupational 7. Control and 11. Customer data
health and managementon  privacy and
safety environmental data security

and social risks
along the supply

chain
3. BERERE 7 EEKERE N BEFBEBELER
z% HEETNIRE %2
Rt gRk
4. Employee 8. Service quality 12. Anti-corruption
development and money
and training laundering

4. BEEREK

8. RBEE 12. RER RREE

]

According to the results of materiality assessment, 3 material
topics (note) are regarded as the most concerned issues
of stakeholder and the Group. While taking into account
environmental and social responsibilities, the Group
will pay more attention to the above areas, and strive to
achieve continuous improvement and sustainable business
development. And in light of the above assessment, KPIs
related to those topics that are considered as not material may
not be disclosed in the ESG report.

Note:

A.

Presented in bold.

Environmental

The Group pays significant attention to protect the
environment and is committed to the long-term
sustainability of the environment and community in
which it operates. The Group is endeavoured to fully
comply with local environmental protection rules and
regulations to ensure its business operations meet the
required environmental standard. The Group stringently
controls its emissions and resources consumption in all
their operating regions throughout their daily operations.
All operating regions of the Group have implemented
effective energy conservation measures to minimise the
environmental impact, such as raising the environmental
awareness, using resources responsibly, and managing
waste efficiently.

REER
16. Waste 20. Management
management of risks

associated with
Environmental

and Natural
Resources

16. EEMEIR 20. ERIRIERBA
ZRAEEE R

17. Energy
consumption

21. Climate change

17. EERH 21. RIRE{L
RIEBEZMFHHAER  EE2ZE M) HE

%T}E¥$HF§%&$EI%EE§EE’JE§% c REH
ERBRENVEEETNRE  &E TZFEE
BEMEE - IKEUF T%Eﬁzi)&k)@l—]ﬁi‘“ﬂ’]
EBBE - ER LA - BRVSTERNZ

AN ERESIEETRTENIRE 12k

E A f#&iq:' ?&Ei ©

BsE : SRR T 251 -

A. RiB
AEEEBEIRBRE - W OEHF

ETENRERMEBERENAIFENL - K
SEEN2ETEMRRRER D FOX
Mo BREFELENSRERELERD - K
SEBREEEEAREBRNEEEAY
HERERER AKBMELESRD
RORAREER AREERERRA
?&%ﬁfﬁ%%v*ﬁx& BERIRERE I - 2K

f& i“ E/ o
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RiIR HERERBRS

A1: Emissions

The Group strictly complies with national
and local laws and regulations related to
environmental protection and pollution control,
including but not limited to the followings:

the PRC Environmental Protection Law;

- the PRC Law on Water Pollution
Prevention and Control;

- the Law on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution of the PRC;

- the Law of the PRC on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by

Solid Waste;

- the Air Pollution Control Ordinance of
Hong Kong;

- the Noise Control Ordinance of Hong
Kong;

- the Water Pollution Control Ordinance of
Hong Kong;

- the Wastes Disposal Ordinance and
Public Health and Municipal Services
Ordinance of Hong Kong;

- the Water Pollution Control Act of Japan;

- the Air Pollution Control Act of Japan;

- the Noise Regulation Act of Japan;

- the Vibration Regulation Act of Japan;
and,

- the Soil Contamination Countermeasures
Act of Japan.

During the year, the Group was not aware of
any material breach of or non-compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations related to
environmental protection.

Man Sang International Limited  Annual Report 2023
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Air Emissions

During the year, vehicles of the Group
consumed petrol and diesel for local travelling
of management of the Group and guests, which
contributed to the emissions of nitrogen oxides
("NO,”), sulphur oxides (“SO,”) and particulate
matter (“PM”).

Major air pollutants emissions from vehicles
during the year and the corresponding period in
2022 are as follows:

Air Pollutant Emissions

5 HERERRE

D EERTRYPEK
AEE AEBERAAKEE
BENEP S E KB Th R
em - EEREAWANO,]) ~
&1m((S0,l) KA+ (TPMI) B HE
e

KEE K2022F HEEHIR £ E 8
ERSEMPERESIAT

RIS RIBE

Air Pollutant Emission Air Pollutant Emission
Type of Air Pollutants (kg) (kg)
RS EYBER ERSEMER
ZERERYER (F=) (F5)
2023 2022
S0, 0.16 0.15
NO, 14.91 14.68
PM 0.89 0.88

Greenhouse gases (“GHG”) Emissions A12: BERE(BEREK

The GHG emissions from the operation during
the year and the corresponding period in 2022
are set out below:

GHG Emissions

RNEE R2022F HEAMELRE
REBHERETIMT

BERBHN
CO; equivalent emission CO; equivalent emission
Type of GHG emissions (tonnes) (tonnes)
—E{emEEHEN —SeiE 2R
BERBHERER (1) (188)
2023 2022
Scope 1 Direct emissions 1,125.98 1,051.82
HE—BEEHN
Scope 2 Indirect emissions 9,309.27 7,479.35
FE RN
Total 10,435.25 8,531.17
st
Intensity (tonnes/employee) 27.61 21.71
& /E (W, B8

SECCFER REEBERAR
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B odHEgr

A1.3:

Al.4:

A1.5:

ERWE

Note 1:

The calculation of the greenhouse gas is based on the “How to
prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by the HKEX.

Scope 1: Direct emissions from operations that are owned by
the Group including stationary and mobile combustion sources

Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased
electricity consumed by the Group

Scope 3: Other indirect emissions is an optional disclosure
which mainly related emissions that are not controlled by the
Group

Hazardous Waste

During the year, the Group was not aware of any
hazardous waste disposal (2022: Nil).

Non-hazardous Waste

Major non-hazardous waste generated from the
Group’s office operation was paper waste. Total
non-hazardous waste generated by the Group
during the year was 12,494 kg and its intensity
per employee was 33.05 kg (2022: 9,912 kg and
its intensity per employee was 25.22 kg).

Measures to Mitigate Emissions

The Group endeavours to identify sources of
high energy consumption, material consumption
and environmental pollution in its operations and
implement measures for improvement. Energy
conservation policies and procedures have
adopted to mitigate emission. Energy saving
mode has been adopted in the following aspects
(i) all the computers, all electrical power supply
must be switched off when they are not in use;
and (ii) labels have been used to remind staff
for ways to conserve energy. The Group also
regularly checks and keeps maintenance of
company vehicles to ensure the vehicles are in
their good form to reduce emissions.
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A1.6: Waste Reduction and Initiatives

A2:

The Group aims to reduce generation of non-
hazardous waste (mainly paper waste) at source
whenever possible. The Group highly advocates
paperless office. A total of 6,588 kg paper was
used for daily office operation such as printing
of document, contracts, order forms, technical
drawings and meeting notes during the year
(2022: 5,105 kg). The Group reduces paper
consumption by:

° Developing management software (i.e.
Office Automation System) to support
establishment of a paperless office;

o Using recycled paper;
° Adopting double-sided printing; and

o Maintaining printers, copiers, and fax
machines to avoid wastage of paper due
to poor printing quality.

Use of Resources

Reducing energy use, reducing resources
consumption, and enhancing resources usage
efficiency are the Group’s principles in managing
its use of resources. The Group proactively
seeks opportunities to enhance resources usage
efficiency. The Group closely monitors the use of
energy and water to alert the senior management
on ongoing performance. Appropriate remedial
actions are taken whenever necessary to
improve usage efficiency.

BiR  HERERHRS

;LR R HE e
AEBEEZAURNRERVEE
EEBEZEY(FERER) - AEH
ANREBEAPRDE - NFE - 17
Eixx - &R - 578 -« HiTE R
EHRLHREHERABEESRFR
6,588 T 4K 3R (20224 : 5,105F
7)o AREBFEBUATH AR K
FHFEE

Al16

. FMEAPRIEEMRAEN
BEEMEIMAZEBE B
/%/%)L) ’

. A BER
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A2.1:

A2.2:

A2.3:

Energy Consumption

Energy consumption by the Group during the
year and the corresponding period in 2022 are
set out below:

A2.1 : BEJRHFE

REE R 2022F 1 E HHE AL E

N
A

ROBREEINT

Energy Consumption

BERHAE
Energy consumed Energy consumed
Type of energy (kWh) (kWh)
BERHEE BERHEFER
RRER (TR (FRE)
2023 2022
Unleaded petrol Ei DR 236,110.74 109,812.87
Diesel Seoh 152,478.41 11,934.12
LPG RAL AR, 1,115,882.67 1,137,864.42
Kerosene B 24,735.17 10,388.77
Heavy oil EEH 1,709,120.70 1,690,660.62
Natural gas KAR 693,305.55 674,730.54
Purchased electricity BE 15,360,732.46 12,319,287.00
Total 4@zt 19,292,365.70 15,954,678.34
Energy intensity (kWh/employee)  #EJR3&E (T R~
==} 51,038.00 40,597.15
Water Consumption A2.2: FHK
The Group consumed freshwater supplied by the REBLEFE T EOAKHEEIRHA
municipal freshwater supplier. Water is mainly KK o FIKEERR—MREE-1£
consumed for general operation. There was no SRERGE A K 75 E I AL AR o AR
issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose. FE - AEEMNAKER117,285
Water consumption of the Group during the year MK v 8E A310.283 K, R
was 117,285 m?® and its intensity per employee 8 (20224 : 75,5703 /5K © BE
was 310.28 mé. (2022: 75,570 m? and its intensity £129.295 FAK BE) °
per employee was 129.29 m?®).
Energy Usage Efficiency Initiatives A2.3 : BER a5 I

The Group controlled lightings and temperature
of air conditioners to reduce electricity
consumption. During the year, energy saving
mode was set for all computers, energy
efficiency was considered when purchasing
electric appliances, power supplies were
switched off while leaving, air conditions were
set at an appropriate temperate according to
location and conditions.
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Water Use Efficiency Initiatives

Regarding water resources, the Group does not
have any issues in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose.

The Group encourages water conservation and
reduces water wastage through inspections and
maintenance of the water supply. Reminder and
notices were posted to encourage water saving.
Water saving taps were installed in pantry to
further saving water.

Packaging Materials

The Group did not generate any packaging
materials during the year due to its business
nature (2022: Nil).

In view of our continuous effort, we target to
maintain zero substantial non-compliance case
in relation to the emission of exhaust gases and
GHG, production of non-hazardous waste, paper
consumption, energy consumption and water
consumption in coming five years.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Significant Impacts of Activities on the
Environment

The Group raises staff’'s awareness on
environmental issues through education and
training and enlist employees’ support in
improving the Group’s performance, promote
environmental awareness amongst the
customers, business partners and shareholders
and support community activities in relation to
environmental protection and sustainability and
evaluate regularly and monitor past and present
business activities impacting upon health, safety
and environmental matters. With the integration
of policies mentioned in sections “A1: Emissions”
and “A2: Use of Resources”, the Group strives
to minimise the impacts to the environment and
natural resources.

BiR  HERERHRS
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A4:

ERWE

Climate Change

The Group is committed to mitigating climate
change and enhancing its resilience to adapt
to the increasing threat of climate-related
conseguences.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and
manage significant risks (including significant
climate-related issues) by the Group are
summarised as follows:

Risk Identification

° Identifies risks that may potentially affect
the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment

° Assesses the risks identified by using
the assessment criteria developed by the
management; and

° Considers the impact and consequence
on the business and the likelihood of their
occurrence.

Risk Response

° Prioritises the risks by comparing the
results of the risk assessment; and

o Determines the risk management
strategies and internal control processes
to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring
of the risk and ensures that appropriate
internal control processes are in place;

° Revises the risk management strategies
and internal control processes in case of
any significant change of situation; and

° Reports the results of risk monitoring to
the management and the Board regularly.
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As a result of above risk management process,
physical risk and transitions risks arising from
climate change may not bring significant impacts
to the Group’s business. As a supporter of the
recommendations of the Taskforce on Climate-
Related Financial Disclosure (TCFD), the Group
has assessed the potential climate related risks
and identified the rising mean temperature and
increasing severity and likelihood of extreme
weather events such as rainstorms, floods, fire
and heatwaves as major physical risks impacting
our daily operation.

The Group’s ESG working group is responsible
for identifying and assessing any climate-
related risks to which the Group’s operations are
exposed, and updating the Board with the latest
news and developments on climate regulations
and industry benchmark. In order to cope with
climate-related risk, the Group implemented
various emergency response mechanism and
purchase adequate insurance against natural
disasters so as to cope with extreme weather.

In the future, we will continue to identify potential
business activities impacting the environment
and develop corresponding improvement
measures, so as to further prevent the possible
negative impacts of our operation on climate
change.

Employment and Labour Practices
Employment

The Group stringently complies with national
and local laws and regulations concerning
employment and labour practices, including but
not limited to the followings:

° Labour Law of the PRC;

o Labour Contract Law of the PRC;
° Law of the PRC on the Protection of
Minors;
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° Law of the PRC on the Protection of
Disabled Persons;

° Provisions on the Prohibition of Using
Child Labor;

° Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong;

° Occupational Safety and Health

Ordinance of Hong Kong;
° Minimum Wage Ordinance of Hong Kong;

° Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance of Hong Kong;

° The Labour Standards Act of Japan;

° The Labour Safety and Health Law of

Japan;
o The Labour Contract Law of Japan; and
° The minimum Wage Law of Japan.

No non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
antidiscrimination, and other benefits and welfare
had been identified during the year.
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Employee Benefits and Welfare

The Group abides by related labour laws in
respective jurisdictions and provides social
insurance, subsidies, holidays and other
welfare according to the statutory requirement.
Employment contract terms are stipulated
under the principles of fairness, voluntarism,
mutual consent, integrity and credibility. The
Group provides employees with competitive
compensation, holiday benefits and discretionary
bonus. Salary adjustment is performed annually
according to the work performance of individual
employee and the market trend. Employees
are entitled to annual leave, marriage leave,
maternity leave, paternity leave, medical
insurance and retirement benefit schemes.

During the year, no material non-compliance
in relation to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods and other benefits and welfare was
recorded.

Equal Opportunity

The Group provides equal opportunities for
employees in respect of recruitment, job
advancement, training and development, etc.
Employees are not discriminated against or
deprived of such opportunities on the basis of
race, nationality, religion, physical condition,
disability, gender, pregnancy, sexual orientation,
political status, age and any other discrimination
prohibited by applicable law. Employees shall
not act in discriminatory manner or they can
be subject to disciplinary actions. No material
non-compliance in relation to relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the
Company regarding equal opportunity, diversity
and anti-discrimination was recorded during the
year.
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Total Employees and Turnover

Below is a detailed breakdown of our employees
by gender, age group, employment type and
geographical region as at 31 March 2023 and

2022:
2023 2022
Number of Number of
staff % of total staff % of total
4% H gt 4=
EIHH Bk ETIHHE Bokt
By gender =R
Male B 184 49 204 52
Female peg3 194 51 189 48
Total BET 378 100 393 100
By age group RE#RAR
18-25 18-255% 48 13 86 22
26—35 26-357% 86 23 102 26
36—45 36-455% 91 24 99 25
46-55 46-555% 108 29 77 20
56 or above 568% 8k A £ 45 11 29 7
Total @t 378 100 393 100
By employment type REBER
Contract or short term & #8558 B 21 6 22 6
Normal —R 80 21 261 66
Middle ep = 257 68 80 20
Senior = 20 5 30 8
Total et 378 100 393 100
By geographical region Zi#hEEE
PRC i 352 93 369 94
Japan SN 26 7 26 6
Total S 378 100 393 100
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Below is a detailed breakdown of our employee
turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region during the year and the
corresponding period in 2022:

BiR  HERERHRS

ARNEFE R 20224F 18 e AR = £ R -
Flep MR REE D HNEER
RERBFAESIT

2023 2022
Turnover rate by gender RERBDHRAE
Male Bk 67% 84%
Female gk 51% 93%
Turnover rate by age group RERA BB DR AR
18-25 18-2573%, 100% 100%
26-35 26-355% 67% 89%
36-45 36-455% 51% 69%
46-55 46-55%% 36% 61%
56 or above 56R kA £ 49% 83%
Turnover rate by geographical &3 &EiF &5 KR KL

region

PRC a3 62% 93%
Japan A7 12% 13%

There were total 222 employees left the Group
during the year (2022: 346 employees.)

Employee Health and Safety
Occupational Health and Safety

The Group has been maintaining a harmless,
non-hazardous, healthy and safe working
environment. Employees are required to
participate in regular fire drill. All employees
should be familiar with the locations of safe
exit, fire alarm and fire equipment. In addition,
employees are covered with insurance according
to local labour laws such as all employees in
PRC are entitled to social security benefits. The
Group has formulated different contingency
plans to handle different emergency situations.
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B3:

During the development of our property,
safety environment shall be maintained jointly
by contractors, sub-contractors and their
employees and must comply with applicable
local, national laws and rules, health and safety
legislation and recognised codes and standards.
Site specific conditions and rules developed with
the consideration of all significant hazards and
their risks, and other items which are important
for the safe and efficient operation of the project
must be strictly complied and disclosed. The
safety and quality of properties are monitored at
all stages of construction by the Group to ensure
that they meet the highest standards. This
entails a dedication to stringent product safety
standards and a focus on health and safety
issues in property development practices.

During each of the past three years including
the year, no material work-related fatalities
and lost days due to work injury was recorded.
Also, the Group was not in violation of any laws
and regulations in respect of the provision of
safe working environment and protecting the
employees from occupational hazards that have
a significant impact on the Group during the
year.

Development and Training

People are the most treasurable assets of the
Group. Investing in people is one of the Group’s
focuses and a key factor contributing to the
Group’s continuous growth. The Group provides
comprehensive training and development
opportunities to all levels of its employees
including orientation training, on job related
training and department specific training.

The Group arranges trainings according to
needs of employees, which are identified
annually by individual departments.
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The average training hours for employees by
gender during the year and the corresponding
period in 2022 are as follows:

BiR  HERERHRS

AN E F 20224 18 fE AR = £ 51 2
2R B FIEFIE T

2023 2022
The average training hours for BRI B 5D e B 39553
employees by gender 53
Male B 27.38 17.84
Female g 30.38 22.69
Labour Standards B4 : XTiZ#
In compliance with the employment contract, BREREGHN AEERER KK

the Group’s regulations and policies, the Labour
Law, the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong
and other related laws of the PRC, Hong Kong
and Japan, there was no child labour nor forced
labour working in the Group. The job application
requirement specifies that job applicants must
be at least 18 years old. To ensure that job
applicants can meet the age requirement,
identities of job applicants are verified against
their valid identity documents, relevant
permits and certificates. The human resources
department is required to carry out background
checks to authenticate information provided
by job applicants and is required to fill in forms
that confirm hired employees have met the age
requirement.

Besides internal monitoring process, contractors
are also subject to stringent requirement on the
Group’s labour standard, no child labour and
forced labour can be tolerant in all the Group’s
development projects.

No non-compliance in relation to laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the Company regarding prevention of child and
forced labour was recorded during the year.

| BIED - BREMBIEOIAR
FE - FERBAREMMERER
AEEVEEAETRBRAELT -
TERBERRERBESLBFR
185% ° RERKBENSFHRE
Ko RBESDKAREBRS )
EAXME - HEAAREERY -
ANERBREETERHE  BE
KEERENEN  UARATER
BETEFRERORS -

R A EBESIRAZ PO - AR IR A
SESTHRENBREREMES -
AEEMBERBABATSERE
TRIEEHET °

AEE  BEABHLEET RRA
STEUARRELBTATENE
RERNERITR °

“EoCEER REBBERAD 65



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiIR HERERBRS

B5:

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group engages with various suppliers,
contractors, sub-contractors and service
providers in different segment of business on
daily operations. The Group has well established
tendering policy to select and manage its supply
chain. Potential candidates are evaluated in
terms of mainly their capability and track record
on environmental and social responsibility.
The Group endeavour to exert a positive
influence on our supply chain by working and
communications. To mitigate the supply chain
risk, the Group evaluate their performance
regularly.

According to our tendering policy, the Group
compares different suppliers/service providers
to select qualified candidates (based on criteria
such as certification and qualification related
to environmental protection, specifications,
compliances, quality control and corporate
social responsibility performances, etc.) before
the Group enters into contract.

Thus, we believe there are no significant
environmental and social risks for our
management decision on supply chain
management during the year.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s
number of suppliers and service providers by
geographical location during the year and the
corresponding period in 2022 are as follows:

Number of suppliers and service

B5 :
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PRC H 406 402
Japan SN 63 64
Total #@st 469 466
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Product Responsibility
Product Assurance

The Group sets high standards to deliver quality
products and services to our customers. The
Group exercises stringent quality control policies
and processes on our product/service throughout
the entire process of supply chain management
(Please refer to section B5 for details). Product
quality is evidenced by awards obtained in
past years such as Chongging Kingstone Land
Co. Lid* (EEE2ARAEHMARAF), one of our
subsidiary of the Group who is responsible for
the Group’s property development in Chongging,
has obtained an award of “2019FF B> %+ K[F
L ga kg for the quality product delivered to the
customers and consumers in year 2019.

The serviced apartments have been officially put
into operation during FY21, and were awarded
the “2020 Best New Opening Apartment Hotel”
by the selection panel of the China Best Hotel
Awards. Besides, Zhejiang Huiyong Property
Management Service Co,. Ltd.* (#T/TiEsx ¥ 2
EHRBG AR AT, one of our subsidiary of the
Group who is engaged in providing property
management services in various provinces of
the PRC, was recognised as the “2020 Top 100
Property Management Companies in China” by
the China Index Academy and was awarded the
title of “China Property Service Company with
Featured Brands” during the year.

Quality control and Recall

The Group exercises stringent quality control
policies and processes on our product/service
throughout the entire process of supply chain
management (Please refer to section B5 for
details). The Group also exercises rigorous
quality control management to ensure our
product/service not only can reach industry/
market standards but also can comply with local
laws and regulations in environmental and social
aspects.
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During the year, there was no products sold/
service provided subiject to recalls for safety and
health reasons and no material complaints about
our products and services received.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group has complied with laws and
regulations that related to protection of patents
and trademarks in each operating jurisdictions.
To protect third party intellectual property rights
and comply with relevant licensing terms when
software is used, employees are prohibited
from duplicating, installing or using software in
violation of its copyright or license terms as part
of the Group’s information security policy and
staff handbook. Use of free software products
is stringently controlled; and making copies of
copyright works is strictly prohibited.

Customer Data Protection

The Group are committed to complying with
all relevant laws and regulations related to
customer’s rights and privacy protection,
including but not limited to:

o The Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of
Hong Kong;

° The Personal Information Protection Law
of Japan;

° Consumer Protection Fundamental Act of
Japan;

° The Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Protection of Consumer Rights and
Interests; and

° Various guidelines and laws in the
People’s Republic of China related to
personal data protection, such as the
PRC Cybersecurity Law.
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The Group manages information in a systematic
approach. The Group has developed a policy
on customer data control and a procedure
on control of information assets. Employee
handbook has stated electronic communication
system usage policy to provide guideline on
managing data and information. Sending of
private email to customers is strictly prohibited,
all customer information should restricted under
the domain of the company email. All staff are
requested to logout their computer system and
close down their computer network after work.

To maintain network security, the Group has
set up firewalls, installed anti-virus software
and implemented interactive processing for
password verification. Robust support has
been provided for network and servers involved
in major operations. IT department has set
restricted connections between office and
commercial networks to prevent unauthorised
data use, export and copy.

No non-compliance with laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group in
relation to customer data protection and privacy
was recorded during the year.

Anti-corruption

According to the Group’s anti-corruption policy,
all employees shall abide by the laws and
regulations of the PRC and Japan, and the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 21) of
Hong Kong and shall not engage in any illegal
activities. Employees shall uphold the code of
ethics, advocate fair competition and act against
bribery according to the Group’s procedure
manuals. Any bribery, fraud, money laundering
and embezzlement are prohibited. Employees
must not accept or request any improper
benefits including banquets, gifts, securities,
valuables and high-expenditure entertainment
activities from business partners, suppliers
and merchants, etc. The prohibition against
the provision of anything of value applies to all
clients, suppliers, and any person with whom
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RiIR HERERBRS

BS&:

the Group does or anticipates doing business.
Employment opportunities must not be used as
an inducement to anyone to act improperly so
as to obtain or retain as advantage in business.
The Group prohibits bribery committed by
third parties acting on its behalf. The Group
mandates appropriate due diligence on all such
third parties, and the application of suitable
contractual terms and governance to reduce
the risk of bribery. The Group reserve the right
to terminate its relationship with an associated
person who commits, or is suspected to have
committed bribery.

When there is any alleged case in violation of
laws, regulations, code of conduct or Group’s
policies, the Group will investigate and impose
disciplinary actions upon offenders after
verification. Anti-corruption training was provided
to a total of 36 employee (2022: 45 employee)
(including management and staff) during the
year.

The Group complies all applicable laws on
prohibiting corruption and bribery of the PRC
and Japan that have a significant impact on
the Company during the year. There was
no concluded legal case regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its
employees during the year.

Community Investment

As a socially responsible company, the Group
is committed to understanding the needs of the
communities in which we operate. The Group
strives to develop long-term relationship with our
stakeholders and seek to make contributions
to programs that have a positive impact on
community development.

Thus, the Group will constantly be aware of
the importance to make contribution to the
community such as encouraging employees to
dedicate their time and skills to support the civil
society.

* For identification purpose only
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The directors (the “Director(s)”) of Man Sang International
Limited (the “Company”) herein present their report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Group is principally engaged in the property
development, sales and leasing of properties, provision of
property management services, provision of renovation and
decoration services and hotel management.

The principal activities of the Company’s major subsidiaries
are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by
operating segment is set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are
provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 and 7 and
Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 8 to 17 of this
annual report.

The capital risk management and financial risk management
objectives and policies of the Group are shown in notes 6 and
7 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators is provided in the
Financial Highlights on pages 4 and 5 of this annual report.

Discussion on the Group’s environmental issues and
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Company are contained in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 44 to
70 of this annual report.
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The Company’s key relationships with its employees, customers
and suppliers and business associates that have a significant
impact on the Company and on which the Company’s success
depends are contained in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 44 to 70 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 96 and 97 of this annual
report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2023.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company does not have any distributable reserve in
accordance with the provisions of the Bermuda {Companies
Act 1981) as at 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

Details of the distributable reserve are set out in note 39(iii) to
the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” of this annual report and in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreement
was entered into by the Company during the year.

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties and properties
held for sale of the Group during the year are set out in
notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the five largest customers
of the Group together accounted for 40% (2022: 28%), with
the largest customer accounted for approximately 17% (2022:
9%) of the Group’s total revenue. The five largest suppliers/
contractors of the Group together accounted for 64% (2022:
69%), with the largest supplier/contractor accounted for 32%
(2022: 47%) of the Group’s total purchases/construction during
the year.

Man Sang International Limited  Annual Report 2023

AARIEHEET  BEREERUKEBZHD
FEBRREARFBERTERARQTHKI
AZ)HNRAFRFELI4Z70HEHIRE - LS RE
AR o

FERDIK
REEBHZE2023F3ANBIEFEZ EEHNA
FHFEWMITA 2R BRE MEMEEKER °

EEe W I E2E E2023F3A31H L FEIR
ARHRS -

] Bk
BHEBREREISIEQRRE) ZIEXHE B
20233 A31A AR RN EL ] H 5 IR 2 fF##
(2022%F : &)

A R R 2 R IR R AR & B A5 R M RE 39l ©

iR 24 4 9 16

BRANF A [ AT 81 — 80 AR A B IS R Mt
FESBWEEIN - AR BNFABERT LA
ik °

FEYE

AEBEZREMERFHELENERFRZE
FHED BN E MMM E1819

TREFRHED

B E2023F3A31ALFE  AEEMNRAA &
ARPAEHRMBAEBERAMNL40%(20224F -
28%) + BEHRHRARFPIEHI17%(2022F : 9%) °
AEERN AEBNRAERAEER ABHE
AEHEAREEREE TEM64%(2022F :
69%) ' B R AMER,FEEEE32%(2022
F 1 47%) °



To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, other than the largest,
the second largest, the third largest and the fourth largest
customers of the Group for the year, which are entities under
control by Mr. Hu Xingrong (“Mr. Hu"), an executive Director
and the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company and
contributed HK$22,741,000, HK$17,455,000, HK$7,046,000
and HK$4,861,000 to the Group’s total revenue of the year,
respectively, none of the Directors of the Company or any of
their associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge
of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had any interest in any of the Group’s five largest
suppliers or customers during the year.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five-year financial summary of the Group is set out on page
219 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Hu Xingrong (Chairman)

Mr. Huang Xiaohai

Mr. Jin Jianggui

Mr. Li Zhenyu

Mr. Xu Haohao (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 20 August 2022)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ms. Pau Yee Ling
Mr. Wong Kwan Kit
Mr. Yuen Hoi Po

In accordance with bye-law 87 of the Company’s bye-laws,
at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for
the time being shall retire form office by rotation. Accordingly,
Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Li Zhenyu and Ms. Pau Yee Ling shall
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENT

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has entered into any
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and Senior Management
are set out on pages 18 to 20.

DIRECTOR’S MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN RELATION
TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

Save as disclose herein, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company’s holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the
Company and the Director’s connected party had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company has been entered into or existed during the year.
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COMPETING BUSINESSES

The interests of the Directors in competing business that were
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
as informed by the relevant Directors were as follows:

Mr. Hu Xingrong (an executive Director and the chairman of
the Company) is the chairman of the board of directors of Doof
International Holding Group Company Limited* (% #5 BIFF 5 B
SEBRAA]) (“Doof Group”), a company established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) which is a large-scale
comprehensive privately-owned enterprise group, which has
business of properties development in the PRC. The Company
is an investment holding company whose subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the property development, sales and
leasing of properties, provision of property management
services, provision of renovation and decoration services
and hotel management. Therefore, the business of properties
development in the PRC engaged by Doof Group (the
“Excluded Business”) may be regarded as being potentially
competing (directly or indirectly) with the Group’s business,
and Mr. Hu Xingrong is regarded as being interested in the
Excluded Business.

The Doof Group has a number of properties and land reserves
in various regions in the PRC, and the Group has no plans to
invest in properties in the same regions. While there is one
overlapped region, being Chongging, the Group’s businesses
and the Doof Group’s business in Chongging differ greatly in
terms of project size, nature and target customers. The Doof
Group’s development projects generally target middle-class
households, whereas the Group targets upper middle and
upper class households and high-end customers.
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Apart from Mr. Hu Xingrong, Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin
Jianggui and Mr. Li Zhenyu (all being executive Directors
of the Company) are vice presidents of Doof Group. To the
best knowledge of the Company after making all reasonable
enquiries, Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin Jianggui and Mr. Li
Zhenyu had no shareholding interest in Doof Group. The
Company was informed by Mr. Huang Xiaohai, Mr. Jin Jianggui
and Mr. Li Zhenyu that they were merely maintaining their
positions as vice presidents of Doof Group in a non-executive
nature.

The Group and the Excluded Business under Doof Group are
managed by separate companies with separate management
and administration. With the overseeing and supervision of
the independent non-executive Directors of the Company,
the Board is of the view that the Group should be capable
of carrying on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s
length from, the Excluded Business of Doof Group. The
Board shall also regularly assess the Company’s business
development to ensure there is no issue of competition.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme which
was adopted on 17 August 2012 are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQ”)), which (a) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to provisions of
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which the Directors have taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were set out below:
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Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, none of
the Directors had, as at 31 March 2023, any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors have taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant
to the Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse or
minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them; or
was the Company, its holding company, fellow subsidiaries or
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 March 2023, substantial shareholders’ interests and
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company, other than the Directors, as recorded in the register
of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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(Note)
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owned by Mr. Hu Xingrong.
The interests stated above represent long positions.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Company
has not been notified of any person (other than the director of
the Company) or entity had an interest or a short position in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for securities transactions
by the Directors. Having made specific enquiries with all the
Directors, they have confirmed compliance with the required
standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2023.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Board has assessed the independence of all the independent
non-executive Directors and is satisfied of their independence.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee, which comprises three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, has reviewed with the
management in conjunction with the auditor, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
the internal control, risk management and financial reporting
matters including the review of audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, details of significant transactions with its
related parties or transactions undertaken in the normal course
of business are set out in the note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements. Save as disclosed therein and below,
none of those transactions constitutes a disclosable connected
transaction pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions relating to the
Master Agreement in Respect of Provision of Property
Management Services and Decoration and Renovation
Engineering Services (the “Services”)

On 24 February 2021, the Company and Mr. Hu entered into
the master agreement, pursuant to which the companies
within the Group (the “Group Companies”) shall provide the
Services to Mr. Hu and Mr. Hu’s direct or indirect wholly owned
or 30%-controlled companies during the period commencing
from 24 February 2021 (or upon fulfilment of all conditions
precedent of the master agreement, whichever later) and
ending on 31 March 2023 (both days inclusive) unless
otherwise terminated (the “Master Agreement”). Mr. Hu is an
executive Director and ultimate controlling shareholder of the
Company and is therefore a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules.
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The consideration under individual agreements for the
Services shall be determined through procedures for tender
and bidding pursuant to the relevant rules and regulations of
the PRC; or an approach which brings greater profit to the
Group; or if the Group Companies intend to bid for a project,
the bidding documents should base on the requirements set
by the tenderer and submit the same to the management of the
Company for approval; or the consideration price is according
to the scale of each project with reference to comparable
market prices of independent third party service providers; or
in permitted cases where the tender process is not required,
an agreed price shall be adopted according to “reasonable
costs of the project + reasonable market profit range”,
expected profit margin of the services to be provided by the
Group Companies shall be no less than the profit margin the
Company charges an independent third party. Relevant laws
and regulations concerning specific requirements for the
Services, including in particular, the Property Management
Regulations (¥ %E 2 1£%1)) and the Construction Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({f# A R £ MBI E %)) shall be
strictly complied with.

The annual cap for the provision of the Services under the
Master Agreement three years ended are RMB55,500,000. The
annual cap for the year ended 31 March 2023 had not been
exceeded.

Reasons for and Benefits of Entering into the Master Agreement

Since around 2019, the Group has adopted a concrete
expansion strategy to diversify revenue sources and
create shareholders’ value, in particular, by taking property
development as the Group’s core business and integrating
upstream and downstream light assets businesses of the
industrial chain, and to continuously explore opportunities to
make investments and/or acquire businesses or projects that
have promising outlooks and prospects.

Through the acquisitions of subsidiaries from Mr. Hu or his
associates as disclosed in the previous announcements of the
Company, the Group has been steadily acquiring new and
improved resources, skills and technology, while at the same
time increasing its project scale and staff size, with an aim to
promote business growth and enhance the Group’s goodwill in
the property development industry as a whole. Notwithstanding
such acquisitions, property development and sales and
leasing remain as the Group’s principal business.
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By entering into the Master Agreement, the Group can
accumulate relevant experience and improve its reputation and
goodwill in the property management services and renovation
and decoration services businesses through transactions with
the Mr. Hu controlled companies on large scale and noteworthy
projects, which would also bring stable income, reinforce the
Group’s revenue stream and cash flow, and facilitate the future
development plan of the Group. The Master Agreement could
bring about significant synergy effect and further promote the
business growth of the Group in the property development
industry in the long run. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 24 February 2021 and
the circular of the Company dated 15 March 2021.

Confirmation from Independent Non-executive Directors

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Master Agreement and confirmed that (i) the transactions
carried during the year ended 31 March 2023 have been
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
Master Agreement and that the profit has been substantially
retained by the Company, and (ii) any new contracts entered
into, renewed or reproduced between the Group and Mr. Hu
during the year ended 31 March 2023 are fair and reasonable,
or advantageous, so far as the Group is concerned and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 March
2023, there were no other connected transactions (including
continuing connected transactions) of the Company that
required for the reporting, announcement, annual review and
independent shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Company confirms that it has complied with
the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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All independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31
March 2023 were:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of the Group’s
business;

2. on normal commercial terms or better to the Company;
and

3 in accordance with the relevant agreements governing

them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

Confirmations from our Company’s Independent Auditor

The auditor of our Company has confirmed in a letter to the
Board that, with respect to the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions entered into during the year ended 31 March
2023:

1. nothing has come to their attention that causes
the auditor to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have not been approved by the
Board;

2. for transactions involving the provision of goods or
services by the Group, nothing has come to their
attention that causes the auditor to believe that the
transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

3 nothing has come to their attention that causes the
auditor to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

4, no transaction has exceeded the cap.
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Renewal of Continuing Connected Transactions relating to
the Master Agreement in respect of Provision of Property
Management Services and Decoration and Renovation
Engineering Services

Please refer to the section “EVENT AFTER REPORTING
PERIOD” in this Report of the Directors.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under Bye-law 166(1) of the Company’s bye-laws, the
Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of
any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices,
provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attached to any
of them. Such permitted indemnity provision is currently in
force and was in force throughout the year.

The Company has also taken out and maintained Directors’
and officers’ liability insurance policy throughout the year,
which indemnifies against costs, charges, losses, expenses
and liabilities that may be incurred by the Directors in the
execution and discharge of their duties.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Employees

The Group believes that Directors, senior management
and employees are the key to our success, their industrial
knowledge and understanding of the market enables the
Group to maintain market competitiveness. Thus, the Group
provides competitive remuneration package and benefits, and
commits to create a harmonious working environment without
discrimination.

Customers

The Group’s largest customers are property developers in
the renovation and decoration services segment. Save for the
largest, second largest, third largest and the fourth largest
customer, which are entities under control by Mr. Hu, all major
customers of the Group were independent third parties.
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The Group provides high-quality and reliable service for
customers, and maintain good relationship with existing and
potential customers to keep abreast of the market trend,
which enables us to adjust our operation and marketing
strategies timely, it is critical for the development and success
for the Group. Meanwhile, we have no material dispute with
customers.

Suppliers

The Group’s largest suppliers/contractors are constructors and
renovation and decoration service providers in the Chongging
Property segment. All major suppliers/contractors of the Group
were independent third parties.

The Group maintains the solid and stable relationship with main
suppliers/contractors to ensure the product quality and plan
progress. The Group cooperates with its suppliers/contractors
and closely monitors its product quality, routine construction
engineering and timely settles for the completed works.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float during the year and up to
the date of this Directors’ Report under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2023 have been audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Save as disclosed herein, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March
2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
Renewal of Continuing Connected Transactions

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company
dated 24 February 2021 and the circular of the Company
dated 12 March 2021 relating to, inter alia, the master
agreement entered into between the Company and Mr. Hu
Xingrong (“Mr. Hu”) dated 24 February 2021, in respect of the
property management services and decoration and renovation
engineering services provided by the companies within the
Group (the “Group Companies”) to Mr. Hu and Mr. Hu’s direct
or indirect wholly owned or 30%-controlled companies (the “Mr.
Hu Controlled Companies”), and expired on 31 March 2023.

The Directors expect that the Group Companies will continue
to provide said services to Mr. Hu and Mr. Hu Controlled
Companies from time to time. In this connection, on 16 June
2023 (after trading hours), the Company and Mr. Hu entered
into a new master agreement (“New Master Agreement”)
pursuant to which the Group Companies shall provide the
services to Mr. Hu and the Mr. Hu Controlled Companies
during the period commencing from 16 June 2023 (or upon
fulfilment of all conditions precedent of the New Master
Agreement, whichever later) and ending on 31 March 2026
(both days inclusive) unless otherwise terminated earlier or
renewed in accordance with the New Master Agreement.

Mr. Hu is an executive Director and the ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company and thus a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the
transactions contemplated under the New Master Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are subject to
the reporting, announcement, circular, annual review, and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements thereunder.
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PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the
taxation implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of,
dealing in, or the exercise of any rights in relation to the shares
of the Company, they are advised to consult an expert.

On behalf of the Board

Hu Xingrong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023

* For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B AR E

02T
;.:.:- SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited BEXRPH(EE) BB HEAARAE
LR 17/F., Chubb Tower, Windsor House EBEBEELTTE3MS
311 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong EEREREASFREITIE
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FRABBRAERATRE

MAN SANG INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Man
Sang International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 96 to 218, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

88 Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2023

(RERZZMKLZBRAF])

=R

KM EFVENRFEICE2I8EZREFER AR
AAI[ERRDEEMBARUATHEIEEE])
IRATBHRE - WA M SRR 2 ER2023F
SASIAZFEMBRAKREEEZAILEFE 2
RABER KABEREMZAKER 546
BRZEHRRGARERER @ UWRERIER
KW BEZZESHBERE -

BMRE GEMBRREBEDTESFMA
G([EESHTMAT)BEM 2 BB EHREER
(B BRELENDEEMP s HERET &
S ER2023F3A31B 2 A MBI UARES
ZHIEFEZGAUBRARGERESRE - I
BERE B R a0 2 BERTEZ ABE -

RRzER
BACREZTEGFTMASRM 2 BT BEER
((BEFEFEADETES - RPIEZFELNT
EEZEFEEAREZBMRETHRA WS
BREFAEZAETIBOPEE-—FEL - RIZ
BAEBEMAGRMZBEXGTEER TR ST
A1) - #FBLRY BE&EE - YEBTTARZ
Hitp ERBEREM - LPIEE - RPIMERZE
FHRERERE REE AR MAZETERIEHE
B o



MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a
consolidated loss of approximately HK$483,325,000 during
the year ended 31 March 2023 and, as of that date, the Group
had total net liabilities of approximately HK$397,764,000. As
stated in note 2, these events or conditions, along with other
matters, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and
accounting policies on page 124.

The key audit matter
BARETBIR

[ee—e—e—

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B

BEFECEHRNERTRERE

EREREIRAUBEHRERN T2 ZMEFER &
EBRNEE2023FE3A31HILEEELGZAER
#9483,325,000%8 T + REEZHE © EEEKN
MBI BEFEL 397,764,000 7T ° w0 sE2FT

o ZEEMSRRCERAEBER) BRFEE
ATHEEREMAELY BRENJELLREN

BREARM - RMNE RAG L EREL S
o

REEITEER
BAREASFHERBERMAZEXRAE  RREAX
FERAMBRRIBARRERZFH - UF
FHEERMEABREBEAMBRRARLARSR
RETRE R TeHLEEHREHERZE
ﬁl o

BREWRZGEE
A2HEREMBRRME18BARF124E 2 85
BUR e

How the matter was addressed in our audit

B E T NAEERRER

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of investment
properties was stated at fair value of approximately
HK$1,620,189,000 based on valuation performed by
an independent valuer, with a decrease in fair value of
approximately HK$193,891,000 recognised for the year ended
31 March 2023.
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We have identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter because of their significance to the
consolidated financial statements and the involvement
of significant judgements and estimates made by the
management of the Company in assessing its fair value.
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Our procedures were designed to challenge
the valuation process and reasonableness of
the key assumptions and estimates adopted in
assessing the fair value of investment properties.
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We have challenged the reasonableness of the
methodologies, key assumptions and the input
data used in the valuation with reference to the
recent market transaction prices and internal
business plans, together with market and other
externally available information.
BME2ZBOHPM ISR FEUARRNEERKE
RIS R EMIND AT EIGE R - B EMK
BTE - TERBEBARIEZ AR -

SRR RAEEBERAR

89



k

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB R

Assessment of net realisable value of properties held for
sale

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and
accounting policies on page 126.

The key audit matter
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

B E T NEERRER

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of properties held
for sale amounted to approximately HK$379,983,000 based
on valuation performed by an independent valuer, with an
impairment loss of approximately HK$46,994,000 recognised
for the year ended 31 March 2023.

2023F3A31H - ERXNBIUGERMETONMRE  HIELED
% 7 BRE{EA) /379,983,000 7T * ENEZE2023F3H31H 1L
FE R EEE446,994,0008 T °

Management of the Company assessed the carrying amount
of properties held for sale according to the net realisable value
of the property units with reference to the valuation performed
by an independent valuer, which involves significant degree of
judgements and estimates.
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We have identified the assessment of net realisable value of
properties held for sale as a key audit matter because of their
significance to the consolidated financial statements and the
involvement of significant judgements and estimates made by
the management of the Company in assessing its net realisable
value.
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Our procedures were designed to challenge the
valuation process and reasonableness of the key
assumption and estimates adopted in assessing
the net realisable value of properties held for
sale.
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We have challenged the reasonableness of
the methodologies, key assumptions and the
input data used in estimating the net realisable
value, including estimating selling expenses
and selling prices with reference to the recent
local economic developments, recent sales
transactions of the Group and other similar
properties in the surrounding areas from
available market information.
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets

Refer to notes 20 and 22(i) to the consolidated financial
statements and accounting policies on pages 117, 125 and
140.

The key audit matter
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

Bz E T NAEERRER

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets amounted
to approximately HK$540,205,000 (net of accumulated
impairment loss of HK$161,267,000) and HK$179,660,000
(net of accumulated impairment loss of HK$56,700,000)
respectively.
MR2023F3A31H - W%  BEAREBREBEEEZREAMA
72 Bl %) /540,205,000 7T (F1kx REHRIEEE 161,267,000/8
7T) % 179,660,0007% 7T (¥1kr 251 (B E51556,700,000/8 7T) °

Management of the Company assessed the impairment
of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
according to the respective recoverable amounts with
reference to the valuation performed by an independent
valuer, which involves significant degree of judgements and
estimates.

ERREEEL2EE IEMETHHE  RESEAIEK
SHEAEYE BERRXEUALERBREEZRE Bk
BAAIER R A -

We have identified the impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets as a key audit matter
because of their significance to the consolidated financial
statements and the involvement of significant judgements
and estimates made by the management of the Company in
assessing their recoverable amounts.
ENHGAMBRAMEBERE BEAREEEENGHT]
el & ERAELERHE R RBEMESYE  BEK
RiBAREREEEREBN SEARETEFE -

Our procedures were designed to challenge the
impairment review process and reasonableness
of the key assumptions and estimates adopted in
assessing the recoverable amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
B2 B F T AERRESHBRERTEYE -
55 I 5% s LA K (5 PR & 72 2 W Ol s & BE R AT ER
M FERB LAV EBEMR °

We have challenged the reasonableness of the
methodologies, key assumptions and the input
data used in estimating the recoverable amounts
by reference to the external and internal source
of information.
HPE2ZIERAFER KR - R/
WESERAERATE  FERRRBABIEZ
BB o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we concluded that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors of the Company and Those
Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section
90 of the Bermuda Companies Act and our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors of the
Company.

| .
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conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance

regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and

timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate

with them all relationships and other matters that may

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and

where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current year and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. Lau Kai Wong.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lau Kai Wong

Practising Certificate Number: P06623

Hong Kong
28 June 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

meEBEER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E FE&xT FHET
Revenue WA 8 137,137 116,656
Cost of sales SHE AR (126,702) (125,050)
Gross profit (loss) EF|(18) 10,435 (8,394)
Other income and gains (losses), net E AU A & 5z (B18) 10 202 (771)
Decrease in fair value of financial BEAnBEFABRZ
asset at fair value through TREEZARBERD
profit or loss 21 (2,541) (8,799)
Selling expenses SHERX (11,399) (13,835)
Administrative expenses THHAX (69,210) (82,830)
Impairment loss on properties held L &M EREEE
for sale 19 (46,994) (5,710)
Decrease in fair value of investment &N A EER D
properties 18 (193,891) (69,366)
Finance income BRI A 11 47 63
Finance costs B TE R AN 11 (167,920) (185,602)
Loss before tax PRELRTESE (481,271) (375,244)
Income tax expense Frig®if = 13 (2,054) (366)
Loss for the year FAEIE 12 (483,325) (375,610)
Loss for the year attributable to: AT ALEIEFEAEBRE :
Equity holders of the Company RARHEBA (482,922) (371,735)
Non-controlling interest IR (403) (3,875)
(483,325) (375,610)
LOSS PER SHARE BREE
- basic and diluted (HK dollars) - EARRES (BT 16 (0.75) (0.69)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEERREMAEEKER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Loss for the year FREER (483,325) (375,610)
Other comprehensive (expenses) Hitt2mE (B WA
income
Items that may be reclassified HIZFBEE DR
subsequently to profit or l0ss: Bz IEE -
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBIBIRREEZ
translation of financial statements of MEH Z%
foreign operations (104,598) 48,641
Total comprehensive expenses for the FREEM B
year (587,923) (326,969)
Total comprehensive expenses for the WTALTEEFRAZE
year attributable to: 4858
Equity holders of the Company RRRHEB A (587,601) (323,153)
Non-controlling interest IEfE R = (322) (3,816)
(587,923) (326,969)

SRR RAEEBERAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PR R

AT 31 MARCH 2023 7202343 H31H

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B FHExT FHET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment properties REYE 18 1,620,189 1,957,299
Property, plant and equipment Y - BRE REE 20 540,205 633,604
Financial asset at fair value through R AR BEABIFZ
profit or loss STREE 21 = 2,741
Right-of-use assets FREEE 22 179,660 203,110
Intangible assets B EE 23 1,652 1,706
Other receivables H h fE UK BR 5K 24 5,177 9,794
2,346,883 2,808,254
Current assets REEE
Properties held for sale BIELEWE 19 379,983 465,440
Inventories FE 147 4,586
Trade and other receivables H 5 R HE AW AR K 24 26,975 26,363
Contract assets BHEE 24 18,913 9,691
Amounts due from related eI RN R FR08
companies 27 9,614 6,164
Cash and cash equivalents BekEREE 25 32,869 31,770
468,501 544,014
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMETER 26 184,972 152,221
Amounts due to related companies  JE{TBE A B FUA 27 2,335 2,421
Tax payables FET R IE 151,182 160,121
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEE 28 123,047 32,949
Unsecured borrowings from a EEEKFEER
director 30 - 14,765
Lease liabilities HEBE 22 2,261 2,071
463,797 364,548
Net current assets RBEEFE 4,704 179,466
Total assets less current liabilities A& ERREEE 2,351,587 2,987,720
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e PR RR

AT 31 MARCH 2023 7202353 431H

2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B aE FTER FAT
Non-current liabilities FkRBEE
Deferred income tax liabilities REMSHAE 31 12,703 15,060
Promissory notes R 29 912,052 868,052
Bank and other borrowings RITREMBEE 28 1,338,441 1,508,937
Unsecured borrowings from a EXEKFEER
director 30 477,516 377,561
Lease liabilities HEaE 22 8,639 10,782
Other payables H M FEAT AR SR 26 = 17,169
2,749,351 2,797,561
(397,764) 190,159
Capital and reserves EARR e
Share capital [N 32 323,599 323,599
Reserves i (719,933) (132,332)
Equity attributable to owners of the ~ ANAFHEA A EEEZS
Company (396,334) 191,267
Non-controlling interest IR (1,430) (1,108)
(397,764) 190,159
The consolidated financial statements on pages 96 to 218 were ~ F£96ZE 218 A P& AR & B 15 M3 £ 70 202346 H 28

approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

28 June 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Hu Xingrong
S
Director

EE

HRES S MIET -

%
RR

Li Zhenyu
ZiRF
Director

EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERBER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN Z N 3
Non-
Share Share Merger  Statutory  Translation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve osses Total interest Total
kx  REE  AbRE  AERE  ENRR 2B gt kERER &t
HK$000 HKS§'000 HK$000 HK§'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK§'000 HK§000
Tén T TR  TEn  TER Tén T TEr  TEn
(Noteil)  (Notei)
(W) (i)
Balance at 1 Apri 2021 R01E4R1B 28 221,099 532,272 71,769 1,306 (37,857) (602,169) 186,420 2,708 189,128
Loss for the year EmER - - - - - (371,735 (371735) (3875)  (375,610)
Other comprehensive income: Ht2ERA -
Exchange differences arising on HESNERIRRRES
translation of financial statements of ~ ZEXEE
foreign operations - - - - 48582 - 48582 59 48,641
Total comprehensive income EREZENAFREE
(expenses) for the year - - - - 48,582 (371,735)  (323,153) (3816)  (326,969)
Transfer to statutory reserve BREETRE - = = 302 = (302) = = =
Issue and allotment of new shares for &7 RE R RN KRR
subscription (note 32) (F:32) 102,500 225,500 - - - - 328,000 - 328,000
Balance at 31 March 2022 R200253A3 B2 8 323599 757,772 71,769 1608 10,725 (974208) 191,267 (1,108) 190,159
Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2023



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEDZEEBR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

Attributable to owners of the Company

LETE PN 1
Non-
Share Share Merger  Statutory Translation  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total interest Total
k& REEE  AfRE  iERE  ENRE iER f  FERER &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx Thn TEn Thn Thx ThR Thx T THn
(Note ii) (Note )
(KyaEil) (Krt)
Balance at 1 April 2022 RNREARIR 5 323,599 757,172 71,769 1,608 10,725 (974,206) 191,267 (1,108) 190,159
Loss for the year EmEE - = = = = (482,022)  (482922) (403)  (483,325)
Other comprehensive (expenses) Hh2E(FERUA -
income:
Exchange differences arising on BERINEBIBRRES
translation of financial statements of ~ ZEXEE
foreign operations - - - - (104,679) - (104,679) 81 (104,598)
Total comprehensive expenses for ERRERTER
the year - - - - (loagT) (48292  (567,601) (22)  (587,923)
Transfer to statutory reserve BATATRE - - = 256 - (256) B B -
Balance at 31 March 2023 R023E3A3IA 5 323,599 757,172 71,769 1,864 (93,954) (1,457,384)  (396,334) (1,430)  (397,764)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEEBER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

Notes:

()

(i)

*

102

Under the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) laws and regulations,
companies registered in the PRC are required to provide for certain
statutory reserve, which are to be appropriated from the net profit
(after offsetting accumulated losses from prior years and before profit
distribution to equity holders) as reported in their respective statutory
financial statements. The statutory reserve is created for specific
purposes. The PRC companies are required to appropriate 10% of their
statutory net profits to statutory reserve. A company may discontinue its
contribution when the aggregate sum of the statutory reserve is more
than 50% of its registered capital. The statutory reserve shall only be
used to make up losses of the PRC companies, to expand the PRC
companies’ production operations, or to increase the capital of the
PRC companies. In addition, the PRC companies may make further
contribution to the statutory reserve using its net profits in accordance
with resolutions of the board of directors of the PRC companies.

The merger reserve represents the following:

(a) the difference between the carrying amount of net assets of the
acquired subsidiary, Zhejiang Huiyong Property Management
Services Co., Ltd* (“WIIEXWEESERBBER QT
(Huiyong Property Management”) (formerly known as Zhejiang
Doof Property Management Services Co., Ltd* (“}#TT % %%
*EERBARAF"), at the date the Group and Huiyong
Property Management become under common control and the
purchase consideration for acquisition of Huiyong Property
Management of RMB500,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$545,000); and the capital contribution of RMB467,500
(equivalent to approximately HK$510,000) from the prior
shareholder, Mr. Hu Xingrong (“Mr Hu”), in April 2019; and

(b) the difference between the carrying amount of net assets of
the acquired subsidiaries, Tafutsu Kabushiki Kaisha* (#k=\
&%) (“Doof Japan”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred as the “Doof Japan Group”) and the purchase
consideration for the acquisition of the Doof Japan Group of
approximately JPY848,394,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$67,124,000); and adjustment for the shareholder’s loan of
approximately JPY1,975,537,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$138,228,000).

The English name is for identification purpose only
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHEIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BETE
Loss before tax bR A ES 1R (481,271) (375,244)
Adjustments for: B TISIEEL 2 FHE -
Finance income IR ON (47) (63)
Finance costs B 75 B AR 167,920 185,602
Depreciation of property, plant and WE - B REEITE
equipment 33,830 38,282
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEETE 5,774 5,712
Decrease in fair values of investment WEMEIARBERLD
properties 193,891 69,366
Decrease in fair value of financial asset BAhBEFABEZEHEE
at fair value through profit or loss ZAnBERLS 2,541 8,799
Government grants BT 48 B (288) (531)
Impairment loss on trade and other B 5 K E A YR FOR B8
receivables 1,535 -
Impairment loss on properties held for BIEHEMERERE
sale 46,994 5,710
Loss on disposal of property, plant and W - BB REEREEE
equipment 19 _
Operating cash flows before movements &EECEBFIZKLLERERE
in working capital (29,102) (62,367)
Decrease in completed properties held FEHE 2R TR
for sale 8,958 -
(Increase) decrease in trade and other B 5 R H A pE U BR SR (3 h0) R
receivables (413) 10,255
Increase in contract assets BHEEIL N (9,931) (4,088)
Decrease in inventories FERD 4,103 766
(Increase) decrease in amount due from  FEUREFE 1 7] FIE (38 H0) 5L
related companies (4,563) 10,117
Increase (decrease) in trade and other B 5 REMMEMARZIEMORL)
payables 31,949 (41,805)
Cash generated from (used in) operations #&2&/ZBFE(FTA) 2R & 1,001 (87,122)
Income taxes paid EAETEE (3,637) (6,786)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING RETBFAZHETR
ACTIVITIES (2,636) (93,908)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REBRERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE&xT FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BBE Y% - ME K& & E (3,633) (3,490)
Payment for additional costs of SR E WS FBINK AR
investment properties (6,470) (6,710)
Repayment from (advanced to) related BE A RER (MEER R
companies 662 (56)
Interests received B UF & 47 63
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZTHFAZRESFE
ACTIVITIES (9,394) (10,193)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES R EE
New bank and other borrowings raised MESBTREMESR 26,086 34,451
Repayment of bank and other borrowings EERIT R EMEE (684) (6,672)
Interest paid [EANEESS (88,983) (103,941)
Repayment to related companies EEEERNRKIE (107) (3,792)
Advanced from related companies REBEARRNBK 157 1,469
Repayment of unsecured borrowings from (EEK &£ 7 EKAEE
a director (182,400) (512,400)
Unsecured borrowings raised from a BESES 2 EEREE
director 266,228 566,667
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEARE (2,174) (4,872)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HERRENAE (785) (1,054)
Receipt from government subsidies R T 488 B A 288 531
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING @& ZEEL(FA) 2REFHE
ACTIVITIES 17,626 (29,613)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) INCASH HB&RZRBE&EMRD) FE
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 5,596 (133,714)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FHAZRERERRE
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 31,770 153,787
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  [ERE B2 (4,497) 11,697
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRZBEEREEAHE 2 (FEE25)
THE END OF THE YEAR (note 25) 32,869 31,770
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e VI RRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

GENERAL INFORMATION

Man Sang International Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended). The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the corporate information
section to the annual report. The immediate and ultimate
holding company and the ultimate controlling party of
the Company is China DaDi Group Limited, which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”) and
Mr. Hu Xingrong (“Mr. Hu”), an executive director of the
Company, respectively.

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) are engaged
in the sales of properties, operation of serviced
apartments, provision of property management
services, leasing of properties, renovation and
decoration services and hotel management. Details of
the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
note 40.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the
Group reported loss for the year of approximately
HK$483,325,000. As at 31 March 2023, the Group had
total current liabilities of approximately HK$463,797,000
while the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$32,869,000.

—R&EH
REBBAERARTARRDRBEAR
ZC1981ERENA) (BEFDEBRER
MRLBEREBEREERA - ARFH
EREIE Y E I 3 kR 0b el AN
BRBEEH—EHWE - ARANEER IR
R AR R BTS2 R AHE A
SEERAB(EREBREZES ([HEB
BRAEE ) EMAL) R AR 4 ([#8 5%
£l ARFRMITESR) -

ARBIBDREEHEXHAERR A
(TP DER LT -

RRARREMBARUATHBEIAEER])
REREHEDE  2ERBALE - =
HEMEEERS -  HEVE  KEREKH
RIEASBEEIR - BEARR T EME
DA ZFFIRENHIFE40 ©

KRR M BHRERARNRB 2 NEEE AT
(ETDIE »

EAGEMBHRR AL

BHE2023FE3A31BILEFE  "EEK
BFENEEL483,325 0008 7T ° 722023
F3A31H ' AEESGRBEELTY
463,797,000/8 7T + MASE BB RITLHE
#4 IR & 4932,869,000/8 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of
the Group, the directors of the Company have reviewed
the Group’s cash flow projections covering a period
of not less than twelve months from 31 March 2023
and have given careful consideration to the Group’s
future liquidity, performance and available resources,
including but not limited to:

a) The operation of the property project of
Chongging Kingstone Land Co., Ltd.* (EE2A
EAHR QA (“Chongging Kingstone”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, is expected to continue to generate
operating cash inflows to the Group by actively
adjusting sales and marketing activities to better
respond to market needs;

b) Provision of the drawdown of the Group’s unused
loan facilities with Mr. Hu of approximately
HK$307,795,000 (note 30) and additional
facilities of RMB300 million granted in June 2023,
all of which will expire in December 2025;

c) Provision of the drawdown of the Group’s unused
loan facilities with Mr. Hu’s controlled related
company of approximately HK$49,223,000 (note
28), which will expire in December 2025; and

d) The Group will continuously comply with financial
covenants and other terms and conditions of
the secured bank borrowings, including timely
repayment of principal and interests of the bank
borrowings.

The Group is assessing and considering different
feasible solutions for the Group to improve its
operations, including but not limited to obtaining
additional equity/loan financing from Mr. Hu and/or his
related companies and other options for reducing debt
burden of the Group.

* For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

In addition, the Group will also consider other
business options including but not limited to refining
the investment strategy and/or other alternatives in
optimising the asset portfolio of the Group to relieve the
Group’s burden.

Based on the above, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to fulfill its financial obligations as and when
they fall due in the coming twelve months from 31
March 2023. Accordingly, the directors of the Company
are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare these
consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the above-
mentioned measures, it might not be able to continue in
business as a going concern, and adjustments would
have to be made to write down the carrying value of
the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise,
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, where
applicable. The effect of these adjustments has not
been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

ARG ESMBRR 2EE(F)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

108

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first
time, the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”) which are effective for the Group’s
financial year beginning on 1 April 2022.
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework
Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use
Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020
Cycle

Amendments to Hong
Kong Accounting
Standard (“HKAS”) 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendment to HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current and
prior periods and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (CONTINUED)

New amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:
HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts'
October 2020 and February 2022

amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets

3. ERAHIREBIEBUBHREER
(TERMBHREZER] (&

HACEMGENRERNEBYBHREE
A

REE N EITF A AT R REERTE
MR HRERN B BT HREER -

HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
the related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) Presentation of
Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand
Clause?

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies'

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates’
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction'

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023.

2024.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the above new and amendments to
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and
the financial position of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

110

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for
investment properties, financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") and properties held for
sales, which are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of

the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using valuation
technique. Details of fair value measurement are
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The significant accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Group.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power
over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee; and (iii)
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of the Group’s returns.

The Company reassess whether it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of these elements of control
stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and cease when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

112

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income of subsidiaries are attributed
to the equity holders of the Company and to the non-
controlling interest. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the equity holders of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between entities of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services. Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step
approach to revenue recognition:

° Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

° Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in
the contract

. Step 3: Determine the transaction price

° Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the
entity satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognised revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to customers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° The Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the asset
is created and enhanced; or

o The Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct goods
or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer, excludes
amounts collected on behalf of third parties and sales
related taxes.
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114

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contract assets

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer that is
not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

The Group recognised revenue from the following major
sources:

° sales of properties

° operation of serviced apartments

o provision of property management services

° provision of renovation and decoration services
° hotel and golf club operations

o restaurant operations

Sales of properties

Revenue from sales of properties in the PRC is
recognised at a point in time when the control of the
property is transferred to the customer, generally when
the customer obtains the physical possession or the
legal title of the completed property and the Group
has present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contract assets (Continued)

Provision of property management services

Revenue from provision of property management
services is recognised over the scheduled period on a
straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

Provision of renovation and decoration services

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group
as a construction contract when the contract relates
to work on an asset under the control of the customer
and therefore the Group’s construction activities create
or enhance an asset under the customer’s control.
Revenue from renovation and decoration services is
recognised over time using output method.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation (Output method)

Revenue from provision of renovation and decoration
services is recognised over time.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or
services transferred to the customer to date relative to
the remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of goods or services.

Operation of Serviced apartments and hotel and golf
club operations

Serviced apartments income, hotel room revenue, other
ancillary services and income from golf club operations
are recognised on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease of service apartment, hotel room
and the membership of golf club because the customer
simultaneously retires and customers the benefits
provided by the Group.

Restaurant operations

Revenue from restaurant operations is recognised at a
point in time when the catering services are provided to
customers.
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116

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys a right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease, at inception of the contract or modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. The Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability
with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is
the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option) and leases of low value assets. For these
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term
of the lease unless another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased assets are consumed.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease
liability at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are
discounted by using the interest rate implicit in the
lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability comprise fixed lease payments (including
in-substance fixed payments).

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by
increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability (using the effective interest method) and
by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement
of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments
made at or before the commencement date and any
initial direct costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Except for the right-of-use assets classified as
investment properties and measured under fair value
model, right-of-use assets are subsequently measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities, if any. They are depreciated over the shorter
period of lease term and useful life of the underlying
asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement
date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property as a separate line
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment
property are presented within “investment properties”.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to
determine whether a right-of-use assets is impaired and
accounts for any identified impairment loss.

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor
with respect to some of its investment properties.
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases (net of any lease
incentives paid to lessees) is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (Continued)
Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts
for the head lease and the sublease as two separate
contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or
operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease, rather than by reference to
underlying asset.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in
profit or loss for the period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Retirement benefits cost

Payments to defined contribution plans/state-managed
retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees in respect of wages and salaries and annual
leave in the period the related service is rendered at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the
related service.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of their assets and liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption
is rebutted when the investment properties are
depreciable and are held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. If the
presumption is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for such investment properties are
measured in accordance with the general principles
above (i.e. based on the expected manner as to
how the property will be recovered).The directors
of the Company reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties are held under a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in investment properties
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the
directors of the Company have determined that the
“sale” presumption set out in the amendments to HKAS
12 Income Tax is rebutted. As a result, the Group has
recognised deferred taxes on changes in fair value of
the investment properties.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Tax requirements to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and
over the lease terms due to application of the initial
recognition exemption.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they related to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties
recognised by the Group as right-of-use assets and
leased out under operating lease.

Owned investment properties are initially measured at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values. Gains or loss arising
from changes in the fair value of investment properties
are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Additional costs and interest expenses from general
borrowings incurred for investment properties are
capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties.

Investment properties held by the Group as right-of-use
assets are measured initially at cost in accordance with
HKFRS 16 Leases. Subsequent to initial recognition,
they are measured at fair value, which are the right-of-
use assets, but not the underlying property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land
as described below, are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of the
relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in
the consolidated statement of financial position except
for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in
the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

The freehold land represents parcels of land owned by
the Group is initially recognised at cost less subsequent
accumulated impairment losses if any, and not
depreciated.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment (other
than freehold land), less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Properties held for sale

Completed properties are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises development
costs attributable to the unsold properties. Net
realisable value is determined by reference to the sale
proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses,
or by management estimates based on prevailing
marketing conditions.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the first-
in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and bank balances comprise cash (i.e. cash on hand
and short-term bank deposits) and cash equivalents.
Cash equivalents are short-term (generally with
original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for
the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
rather for investment or other purposes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement
of financial position of the Company at cost less
accumulated impairment loss, if any.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial asset at FVTPL) are added to or deducted
from the fair values of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial asset at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost
or fair value, depending on the classification of the
financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at initial
recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised
cost and FVTPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at
amortised cost if both of the following conditions are
met:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose obijective is to hold financial assets
in order to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment.

Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are
credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) excluding the expected credit losses (“ECL”"),
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross
carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial
recognition. For purchased or originated credit impaired
financial assets, a credit adjusted effective interest rate
is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash
flows, including expected credit losses, to the amortised
cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
(Continued)

Amortised cost and effective interest method
(Continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount
at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before
adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for debt instruments measured
subsequently at amortised cost. For financial assets
other than purchased or originated credit-impaired
financial assets, interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit impaired (see
below). For purchased or originated credit impaired
financial assets, the Group recognises interest income
by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial
recognition. The calculation does not revert to the
gross basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset
subsequently improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is
included in the “finance income” line item (note 11).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) are measured at
FVTPL. Specifically:

o Investments in equity instruments are classified
as FVTPL, unless the Group designates an equity
investment that is neither held for trading nor a
contingent consideration arising from a business
combination as FVTOCI on initial recognition.

° Debt instruments that do not meet amortised
cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are classified
as FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent
they are not part of a designated hedging relationship.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “increase (decrease) in fair value
of financial asset at fair value through profit or loss” line
item. Fair value is determined in the manner described
in note 7(c).

Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2023

EFRETHBER(E)

BT A

ETHEE(E)
BAABEFARD T HBEE
TRHANBHERAKIZAREEFTAR
e EW S ((RARBEFARMEER
Bm ) BRENEREERAAEEFTAR
@ ABMERATER :

BETAREDERRAAEER
Az EBRARER Y ERE
EEXFFIER HH AL LA EE
AR EEKE c XBAHELE
R AR BRI IEREID -

o UTHABBRABEREALE
EHARBREREEEZ &S
TASBAEAR BEH B

=
= °

BARBEFABRZEREEN SRS
HRBRANEBENE  EFLEBREE
ARSI AR EBERSHEBERE
@SR HER o R m P R AT E 1R
TERETREENTMREXME - L&t
ABARBEFABENEREEAR
EEEZMORD)IHBF - AR EEEZNE
7(c)FTitt R EE °



| .

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
trade receivables, contract assets and all other financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and contract assets. The ECL on these
financial assets are estimated individually for customer
with significant balances or credit-impaired and/
or collectively using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at
the reporting date, including time value of money where
appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, including other
receivables, amounts due from related companies
and cash and cash equivalents, the Group measures
the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless
when there has a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increase in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking
information considered includes the future prospects
of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports as well as
consideration of various external sources (if available)
of actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk (if available) for a
particular debtor, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor, or the length of time or the extent
to which the fair value of a financial asset has
been less than its amortised cost;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

° significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk if (i) the financial instrument
has a low risk of default; (ii) the borrower has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term; and (iii) adverse changes in economic
and business conditions in the longer term may, but
will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk when
the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment grade’
in accordance with the globally understood definition
or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that
the counterparty has a strong financial position and
there is no past due amounts.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
Significant increase in Credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the debtor; or

° information developed internally or obtained from
external sources (if available) indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

The Group rebutted the presumption of default under
ECL model for trade debtors over 90 days past due
based on the good repayment records for each
customer, continuous business with the Group and/or
other reasonable and supportable information.
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REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

° the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed
under liguidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As
for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the
current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised
cost

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter
period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating unit,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-
in-use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated to the assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating
unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the leasing
transaction and the net realisable value of properties
under development, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically,
the Group categorised the fair value measurements into
three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as
follows:

Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 = Valuation technique for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable.

Level 3 -Valuation technique for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured
at fair value on recurring basis by reviewing their
respective fair value measurement.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses reported and disclosures made
in the consolidated financial statements. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the accounting
policies

The followings are the critical judgements, apart
from those involving estimations (see below), that the
directors of the Company have made in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
and disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.

Going concern consideration

The assessment of the going concern assumption
involves making judgements by the directors of the
Company, at a particular point of time, about the future
outcome of events and conditions which are inherently
uncertain. The directors of the Company believe that
the liquidity of the Group can be maintained in the
coming twelve-month period from 31 March 2023 after
taking into the considerations as detailed in note 2 The
directors of the Company also believe that the Group
will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future
working capital and other financing requirements for the
next twelve months from 31 March 2023.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying the accounting
policies (Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets arising from investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s
investment properties and concluded that the Group’s
investment properties are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time, rather than through sale. In
measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on such
investment properties, the directors of the Company
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is
rebutted.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair values in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. The
fair values of investment properties as at 31 March
2023 and 2022 are determined by the directors of
the Company, based on the valuation performed by
an independent professional valuer, CHFT Advisory
and Appraisals Limited (“CHFT”). The valuations were
based on certain assumptions and estimations, which
were subject to uncertainties and might materially differ
from actual results.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair values of investment properties (Continued)

In making these assumptions and estimations,
reasonable consideration has been given to the
underlying assumptions based on market conditions
existing at the end of the reporting period. These
estimates are regularly compared to the recent market
transaction prices and internal business plans, together
with market and other externally available information.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of
investment properties was stated at fair value of
approximately HK$1,620,189,000 (2022: approximately
HK$1,957,299,000) based on valuation performed by
an independent valuer, with a decrease in fair value of
approximately HK$193,891,000 (2022: approximately
HK$69,366,000) recognised for the year ended 31
March 2023.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for estimated
unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level
of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. At 31 March 2023, no deferred tax assets
had been recognised in respect of estimated unused
tax losses of approximately HK$934,962,000 (2022:
HK$579,806,000). Further details are set out in note 31.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and
make estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether
an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amounts;
and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including the
appropriateness of valuation techniques. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets
belongs. In addition, the Group has considered the
recoverable amounts with reference to the valuation
performed by an independent valuer.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets were approximately HK$540,205,000 (2022:
HK$633,604,000) (net of accumulated impairment
loss of HK$161,267,000) and HK$179,660,000 (2022:
HK$203,110,000) (net of accumulated impairment loss
of HK$56,700,000) respectively. During the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022, no impairment losses on
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
were recognised. Details of the impairment assessment
of property, plant and equipment and right- of-use
assets are disclosed in notes 20 and 22 (i) respectively.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Net realisable value of properties held for sale

The management of the Group performs a review at the
end of each reporting period on the carrying amounts
of properties held for sale. Based on the review from
the management of the Group, write-down of properties
held for sale will be made when the estimated net
realisable value has declined below their carrying
amounts. In determining the net realisable value of
properties held for sale, the management of the Group
based on the recent local economic developments,
recent sales transactions of the Group and other similar
properties in the surrounding areas, from available
market information. The fair value of properties
held for sales is determined by an independent
professional valuer, CHFT. Such valuation was based
on management estimates on prevailing marketing
conditions, internally available information and
management estimating selling expenses and selling
prices.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of
properties held for sale amounted is approximately
HK$379,983,000 (2022: HK$465,440,000) based on
valuation performed by an independent valuer, with an
impairment loss of approximately HK$46,994,000 (2022:
HK$5,710,000) recognised for the year ended 31 March
2023.

Fair value measurement of financial asset at FVTPL

The Group’s investments in unlisted equity securities
in the PRC are classified as financial asset at FVTPL
and measured at fair value at the end of the reporting
period.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair value measurement of financial asset at FVTPL
(Continued)

The fair value of the financial asset at FVTPL
is determined by an independent professional
valuer, CHFT. Such valuation was based on certain
assumptions and estimates with the use of valuation
techniques including available market information and
other unobservable market data as detailed in note 7(c).

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of the
financial asset at FVTPL is HK$nil (2022: HK$2,741,000),
with decrease in fair value of approximately
HK$2,541,000 (2022: HK$8,799,000) for the year ended
31 March 2023.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing its capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to maximise the returns to its
shareholders and benefits to other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital. The Group’s overall strategy remain
unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes bank and other borrowings, promissory
notes and unsecured borrowings from a director as
disclosed in notes 28, 29 and 30 respectively, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review,
the directors of the Company consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors
of the Company, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the drawdown of unsecured
borrowings and facilities from a director and his
controlled related company, repayment of bank and
other borrowings as well as new share issues and share
buy-backs.
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(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT B 3 L B i B
Categories of financial instruments (a) HBETAER
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
THxT T
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at amortised HEENAFTEZ
cost TREE 66,471 60,545
Financial asset at FVTPL BARBEFABRZZ
TRbEE = 2,741
66,471 63,286
Financial liabilities SRIAE
Financial liabilities at amortised REHEKAFTEZ
cost TRIBE 3,009,024 2,946,005
Financial risk management objectives and (b) HMEEKEEEEREE

(b)

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments
include financial asset at FVTPL, trade and
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other payables, amounts due
from/to related companies, bank and other
borrowings, promissory notes and unsecured
borrowings from a director. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (foreign
exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

(i)

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group was not exposed to significant
foreign exchange risk as the main
operations of the Group are located in
the PRC and Japan only had minimal
foreign currency transactions other than
functional currency of the respective
entities. The directors of the Company
consider that the foreign currency risk of
the Group is insignificant for the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, hence
no sensitivity analysis is presented.

The Group currently does not have
a foreign exchange hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group
monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need
arise.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to bank and other
borrowings (note 28), promissory notes
(note 29) and unsecured borrowings from
a director (note 30), which are carried at
fixed rates.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate bank balances (note 25). As all the
Group’s bank balances were short-term
in nature, any change in the interest rate
from time to time is not considered to
have significant impact to the Group’s
performance. The Group currently does
not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, management monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider other
necessary actions when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s
counterparties default on their contractual
obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
into account any collateral held or other credit
enhancements, which will cause a financial
loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an
obligation by the counterparties is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
trade and other receivables, contract assets,
amounts due from related companies and cash
and cash equivalents. The carrying amounts of
these balances represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial
assets. The credit risk is managed in a group
basis.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group
obtains credit report from commercial information
providers to assess the counterparty’s credit and
defines credit limits by counterparty. Individual
credit limits of customers are reviewed by the
management of the Group periodically. In order
to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has established credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets, the
Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL on an individual basis for
customer with significant balances or credit-
impairded and/or collectively using a provision
matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date, including time value of money where
appropriate. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

For deposits and other receivables, the Group
has assessed whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If there has been a significant
increase in credit risk, the Group will measure
the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than
12-month ECL.

Management considered amounts due from
related companies to be low credit risk. ECL
for amounts due from related companies were
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was
recognised for the year ended 31 March 2023.

7. B¥EREEGE
(b) HHEBEERBERBEE
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7.

152

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has
concentration of credit risk as 9% (2022:
14%) and 28% (2022: 34%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the top five customers respectively
from renovation and decoration segment.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s concentration
of credit risk by geographical location is mainly
in the PRC which accounted for 99% (2022:
99%) of the total trade receivables.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has
tasked its management of the Group to develop
and maintain the Group’s credit risk grading to
categorise exposures according to their degree
of risk of default. The credit rating information
is supplied by the management of the Group
using public available financial information
and the Group’s own days past due to rate
its major customers and other debtors. The
Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and
the aggregate value of transactions concluded is
spread amongst approved counterparties.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading
framework comprises the following categories:

Category
il

Description
Riat

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Bt 7 L B i 2 (D)

(b) BIBEREREERRBEE

=Bk (&)

A& E iz Em R ()
AEBERAMEERRFRIERES

BATDHE

Basis for recognising ECL

BRBAMEEBRNEE

Trade
receivables
B 5 EWERR

Other financial
assets

HttemEE

Performing

BH

Doubtful

RER

For financial assets where there has
low risk of default or has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition and that are not
credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

HRELNERRESERRR S V5 E
RN A EIE N - W EEER
BZemBEEGERE R

For financial assets where there has
been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition but that
are not credit impaired (refer to as
Stage 2)

YA AR B MR ERERE I INME
WEREERECEREE DERSE
=)

Lifetime ECL
(simplified
approach)

2HEBEEER
(LX)

Lifetime ECL — not
credit impaired

E2HEHEEER
- WEEERE

SRR RAEEBERAR

12-month ECL

128 AFEMEE

&8

Lifetime ECL — not
credit impaired

2HEHEEER
- WEREERIE
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7.

154

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7.

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading
framework comprises the following categories:

Bt 75 L B i 2R (D)

(b) BBEREREERRBEE

=B Bk (&)

A& E = E/m g ()
AEBEBAMEERRFRIERES

AT D

Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
Hhl it BREHEEBENEE
Trade Other financial
receivables assets
B 2 EUURR HithemEE

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
impaired when one or more events credit impaired credit impaired
that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that
asset have occurred (refer to as Stage
3)

24 HRTEAEERE  BZEEZE— 2HENEEESE 2HBRHEEESE
A EEHEEEARRE 2R - EERE - EERE
BEARATUREZERMEE(DE
BE=H)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written  Amount is written
debtor is in severe financial difficulty off off
and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery

s BREBREGAEORERENFERNE - SECME BRI

AN 5= [ 3 4% B R (B W Bl =
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit quality of the
Group’s financial assets and contract assets as
well as the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk by credit risk rating grades.

Internal 12-month
credit rating or lifetime ECL
12875

ABEENSR 2MRBREER

7.

Gross
carrying
amount

REAE
HK$'000
TR

Financial assets at
amortised cost

REHHAATEN
tREE
Trade receivables Note Lifetime ECL (provision
on matrix)
EFRUER (i3 SHRBEEER(BRER)
Trade receivables Note Lifetime ECL (individually
assess, credit impaired)
BHRUE iz PHEHEEER
(BB FERE)
Contract assets Note Lifetime ECL (provision
on matrix)
alEE (i PHEBEEER(BRER)
Deposits and other Performing ~ 12-month ECL
receivables
e REMEKER B4 12EREREETEER
Deposits and other Default Lifetime ECL (individually
receivables assess, credit-impaired)
78 REM KRN &4 SHEBEEER
(BETE - EERME)
Amounts due from Performing ~ 12-month ECL
related companies
EMEELNANE B4 12ERBREETEER
Bank balances and Performing  12-month ECL
cash
BITEBRRRS ) 12EARSEETERR

14,348

4721

18,913

9,640

1,067

9,614

32,869

B E b B ()
(b) HHEBEERBERBEE

=Bk (&)

A& E iz Em R ()
TREEERRIRFIARES
MEENEHNEENGEREERRA
SENERSEERR

2023 2022
Net Gross Net
Loss carrying el Loss  carrying
ENGIEN-IET G amount allowance  amount

BRRE BEFE [l el
GLCIDIL IO HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000
SRR Al i TEL TEL

14,348 10,180 - 10,180

(4,721) - 4253 (4259) -
- 18913 9691 - 9691
- 9640 11364 - 11364
(1,067) - 1067 - 1067
- 9614 6164 - 6164
- 32809 31770 - 31770
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7.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Note:

The credit risk profile of these assets is presented based
on their past due status in terms of the provision matrix and
individual assessment. Trade receivables with significant
outstanding balances with gross carrying amount of
HK$4,721,000 (31 March 2022: HK$4,253,000) as at 31 March
2023 were assessed individually. Note 24 include further
details on the loss allowance for these assets.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors and maintains a level of
cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank and other borrowings and
unsecured borrowings from a director and
ensures compliance with loan covenants, if any.

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk as
the Group reported loss for the year of
approximately HK$483,325,000. As at 31 March
2023, the Group had total current liabilities of
approximately HK$463,797,000 while the Group
had bank balances and cash of approximately
HK$32,869,000. The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its financial
obligations and the details of which are set out in
note 2.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7. B 75 R B B (D)

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) EIBEKEEERERBCKRE

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) TEEZEE(E)

The following tables show the Group’s remaining TRINTRBMERARAEEHRTE
contractual maturities at the end of the reporting W R DIRBERmAEs
period, based on the undiscounted cash flows AUBRBRERE(BEMNERAE
of financial liabilities (including both interest and ReRE) RAEEHERKER
principal cash flow) based on the earliest date 2R AMFE -

on which the Group can be required to pay.

The table includes both interest and principal RAERBFEMNERASHEESRE °
cash flows.

The Group’s financial liabilities have contractual AEBeRABEZEOIEA M
maturities as follows: ™

Morethan ~ More than

Ondemand  1yearbut 2 yearbut Total
orlessthan  lessthan  lessthan Morethan undiscounted  Carrying
1year 2 years S5years  Syears  cashflows  Amount

REXY BRI BRF ARERRE
HME  BORE  BHRSE  BESE b £t BEfE
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
TEn TERL Tén  TEn TEn TERL

At 31 March 2023 R2023£3A31H
Trade and other payables BAREBERERN 155,633 = = = 155,633 155,633
Amounts due to related companies EREENAE 2,335 = = = 2,335 2,335
Bank and other borrowings RORAMEE 197,742 170640 545140 1,083,188 1,996,710 1,461,488
Promissory notes FAER - 1,125350 = = 1,125,350 912,052
Unsecured borrowings from a drector ~ ESEHBEE o - 567,162 o 567,162 477,516
355,710 1205990 1,112,302 1,083,188 3,847,190 3,009,024
At 31 March 2022 R2022E3831R
Trade and other payables BARAMERER 124,151 17,169 = = 141320 141,320
Amounts due to related companies EREENAE 2421 = = = 2,421 2421
Bank and other borrowings RIRAMEE 130040 243426 504564 1409122 2386152 1541886
Promissory notes RARE - 1125350 = - 11530 868052
Unsecured borrowings from a director ~ EZERAEE 14765 411351 = = 46,116 392,326

280317 1,797,296 504,564 1,409,122 4081309 2,946,005

“BEoCEER REBBERAD 157



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7. B 75 R B B ()

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) EIHEKEERERERBERE
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) FEBEZEE(E)
In addition, the maturity profile of the Group’s toh - AEEHEBE R EHESE
lease liabilities is as follow: wm

More than  More than

Ondemand  1yearbut  2yearbut Total
orlessthan  lessthan  lessthan Morethan undiscounted  Carrying
1year 2 years S5years  Syears  cashflows  Amount

REXY  BE1F BB RERRE
HME  BORE  BHNSE  BESE RELE HEf
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$000
ThL TEL Thr  TER Thn AL

At 31 March 2023 R2023E38318 2,944 2,798 7,026 - 12,768 10,900

At 31 March 2022 R2022%3A318 2892 2529 8,122 2,100 15,643 12,853
(¢)  Fair value measurement (c) 2AnREEF=2

Fair value measurements recognised in the REEHBENRTERERLLEET

consolidated statement of financial position 4

The following table provides an analysis of TREINANEWwERARE TS

financial instruments that are measured at fair EEANE TE HECHBIAS

value at the end of each reporting period for i BEBREBESEHBE - ZAR

recurring measurement, grouped into fair value BEZIABREEEEBEIASE

hierarchy Level 3 based on the degree to which BARBESRIE -

the fair value is observable in accordance to the
Group’s accounting policy.

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FiExT FHET
Financial asset at FVTPL BRAABEFABREZ
SWMEE
Unlisted equity securities, grouped DA R A BEFEIEZ
into fair value hierarchy Level 3 RETMHERES - 2,741
There were no transfers between levels of the REAFERELEFE  AnEERE
fair value hierarchy during the current and prior Bz B e o
years.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 7. B 75 R B B (D)

(c)  Fair value measurement (Continued) (c) 2REEFTEE
Fair value of financial assets that are BBEEMEEZL AL BETEN
measured at fair value on a recurring basis THEEAALEE
The valuation techniques and inputs used in the BEREHEEGESMEEAAE
fair value measurements of financial asset on a B AT E A A E Rl R s A BUR &
recurring basis are set out below: FIEAT -
Relationship of key
Valuation Significant inputs and significant

Fairvalue  technique and key unobservable unobservable inputs to

Financial instruments  Fair value hierarchy inputs inputs fair value
TERAHER

NEE  HERER MREENEAFT

BHIA NEE E# TZRAYE EXTUBRGARE BREAUBNER
HK$
e
Unlisted equity As at 31 Level 3 Asset-based (i) Marketability (i) N/A
securities at FVTPL March 2023: nil approach discount of 20%
(2022: HK$2,741,000) (2022: 20%); and
BROABEGABRE. R02BF3ANA T £3E BEARL () E#HIIM20%022 () TER
ALTHRERS (2020% : 2,741,000 0% R
A7)

(i) Minority discountof (i) N/A
20% (2022: 20%)

(i) PBERTIN0% (i) TER
(2022% - 20%)
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
(c) Fair value measurement (Continued)

Fair value of financial asset that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement
of financial asset on recurring basis are as

7. MRRREEE

(c)

D AEEFEGE
BEEEMEEZNAEETELY
THEENEEE)
EMEENFIBAAEBENER
REMREREHRWT ¢

follows:
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FAT
At the beginning of the year REF 2,741 11,235
Decrease in fair value AR EBERD (2,541) (8,799)
Exchange differences EHER (200) 305
At the end of the year RER - 2,741

During the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022, decrease in fair value represented
unrealised loss on revaluation recognised in
profit or loss.

Fair value of financial instruments that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The directors of the Company considered that
the carrying amounts of other financial assets
and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements are
not materially differ from their fair values.
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REVENUE 8. A
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: BRREBWANDITAT

For the year ended 31 March 2023
BE202353A3NALEE

Property  Renovation Hotel
Chongqging management and operation

property services  decoration in Japan Total
ERNE NEEERE KEREH AXBELE At
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET TER FET TExT TR

Type of goods and services  EREBEESE

- Sales of properties -HEME 5,782 = = = 5,782
- Operation of serviced -REAABEE

apartments 30,052 - - - 30,052
- Property management services — W% & iR 7% = 36,907 = = 36,907
~ Renovation and decoration - RIEREHRE

services - - 50,185 - 50,185
- Hotel room -BERRE - = - 2,246 2,246
- Restaurant operations -EEEE - - - 1,076 1,076
- Golf club operations -BRAREEE = = = 5,354 5,354
- Other - Hf - - = 440 440

Total revenue from contracts with REEF & 411

customers HE N 35,834 36,907 50,185 9,116 132,042
Rental income for investment & & THIRE
properties under operating mERSKA
lease
- Fixed lease payments - BEBENK 1,246 = = = 1,246
- Variable lease payments that ~ — JEEUAR —TBIEH
do not depend on an index o F &M 2B
or rate ERR 3,849 = = = 3,849
Total revenue BRA 40,929 36,907 50,185 9,116 137,137
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8. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

(Continued)

8. WA
ERASBRANDHET  (8)

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BE202243A31R LFE
Property ~ Renovation Hotel
Chongging management and operation
property services decoration in Japan Total
EEME MEEERE REREHS BRBEZE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THET TR THx TR
Type of goods and services  ERKEBEESR
- Sales of properties - HEME - - - - -
- Operation of serviced -REARAERE
apartments 28,981 - - - 28,981
- Property management services ~ ¥ £ &1 7% - 30,919 = = 30,919
- Renovation and decoration - KB REHRS
services - - 40,329 - 40,329
- Hotel room -BERRE - - - 1,736 1,736
- Restaurant operations -EEEE - - = 223 223
- Golf club operations -mRXFeEE - - - 5,894 5,894
- Other - Hit, - - - 137 137
Total revenue from contracts with REZP A48
customers TGN 28,981 30,919 40,329 7,990 108,219
Rental income for investment RERETHIREY)
properties under operating XHSWA
lease
- Fixed lease payments -EERENK 2,786 = = = 2,786
- Variable lease payments that - JEEUAR —IBIEH
do not depend on an index o FE M2 B
or rate R 5,651 - - - 5,651
Total revenue A9 37,418 30,919 40,329 7,990 116,656
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REVENUE (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:
(Continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with
customers by timing of recognition

8.

WA (&)
ERASBRANDHT  (B)

ERAREEHIZEFSHRA

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Timing of revenue recognition LON AT
- At a point in time - IR B 7,298 360
— Over time - BER R 124,744 107,859
132,042 108,219
Transaction price allocated to the remaining PEREHTEASENRZER
performance obligations
As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate amount of R2023F3A31H » pEEEREST (I

transaction price allocated to the performance
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially
unsatisfied) is approximately HK$35,279,000 (2022:
HK$19,578,000). The amount represents revenue
expected to be recognised in the future from renovation
and decoration services.

The Group will recognise this revenue based on the
progress on service performed, which is expected to
occur over the next 12-18 months (2022: over the next
12-18 months).

DRBITDENETHNRZEREEOR
35,279,0007% 7T (20224 : 19,578,000/
TL) ° % & BIETEHI R RRER M RE K
FEARBA ©

NEBBIEBRATETHRSEZ BRI
WA - FEEIE A RE12E 1818 A AN (2022
F o RF12E18EARN) AL -

SRR RAEEBERAR
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164

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The executive directors of the Company have been
identified as the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”). Management determines the operating
segments based on the Group’s internal reports, which
are reviewed by the CODM for performance assessment
and resources allocation.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and
managed separately according to the nature of the
operations and the product perspectives. Each of the
Group’s reportable operating segment represents a
strategic business unit that are subject to risks and
returns that are different from the other reportable
operating segment. No operating segments identified
by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segment of the Group:

Details of the reportable operating segment are as
follows:

1. Chongaing property — Property development,
sales and leasing of properties

2. Property management services — Provision of
property management services

3. Renovation and decoration — Provision of
renovation and decoration services

4. Hotel operation in Japan — Hotel and golf club
operations in Hokkaido, Japan
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable and operating segments.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023

Chongqing management and

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

9. ZIHMERGE)
TRA/BAZH/ELEDHIELHNAEE
Wzt MBI

B E2023F3A31HILEE

Property  Renovation Hotel

operation

decoration in Japan Total

EERENH BRBELE Bt

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TR TR THET TR

property services

EENR NXEER®

REVENUE KA
Revenue from external REMBEP ZBA
customers 40,929 36,907 50,185 9,116 137,137
Segment (loss) profit A E (B 18) & T (401,526) 8,509 (2,207) (9,700) (404,924)
Unallocated income ROEUA 16
Unallocated expenses FoERAX (76,363)
Loss before tax K T AT ES 18 (481,271)
I
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE2022F3H31B IEFE
Property ~ Renovation Hotel
Chongging management and operation
property services  decoration in Japan Total
EENE NEERRE REREH BREERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT

REVENUE WA
Revenue from external RENBEL ZMA

customers 37,418 30,919 40,329 7,990 116,656
Segment (loss) profit DE(EE)EF (267,055) 2,592 (11,485) (12,673) (288,621)
Unallocated income ADEKA 12
Unallocated expenses ADEEHY (86,635)
Loss before tax BT AIEE (375,244)

I
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described
in note 4. Segment (loss) profit represents the (loss
from) profit earned by each segment without allocation
of certain finance income, certain finance costs
impairment of other receivables and certain expenses.
This is the measure reported to CODM for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and
liabilities by reportable and operating segment:

2 & ()

5 BB R B ST AFT P A
B IR - 5 BER) EMESS
A (B 2 5 1R R 2 - Mt >
RETHBKA  ETHBRE - EibfE
WEESURERE THE - KRERSE
RRAFEAEBEEBREEERZHE
Bk o

THEERAE
AEBEERABZONMBAZH/EEE
DHEBEHNEAE ¢

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
Segment assets DEEE
Chongging property EEME 2,694,425 3,223,200
Property management services Y E R RS 27,123 19,263
Renovation and decoration services e RERG 28,582 27,285
Hotel operation in Japan H 240 & & 58 58,059 72,174
Unallocated assets ROBEE 7,195 10,346
Total consolidated assets e EERS 2,815,384 3,352,268
Segment liabilities PEEE
Chonggjing property EEYE 2,164,948 2,190,287
Property management services YIS R RIS 8,951 8,502
Renovation and decoration services R KRR 34,404 32,266
Hotel operation in Japan AAHJE & & 17,063 19,268
Unallocated liabilities FoBLEE 987,782 911,786
Total consolidated liabilities e BERRE 3,213,148 3,162,109

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:

All assets are allocated to operating segments other
than certain property, plant and equipment, certain right
of use assets, certain intangible asset, certain other
receivable and certain cash and cash equivalents.; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than certain other payables, certain amount due to a
related company, certain lease liabilities; promissory
note, certain borrowings and certain borrowings from a
director.

Other segment information
For the year ended 31 March 2023

Property

Chongqing management

property

service

ERNR NEEERE

HK’000
TER

Amounts included in the measure of BERFEA HIEHT
segment profit or loss or segment D HAEHLE

HK’000
TER

72 EHER (&)

THEERAEGER)

BRE THMEMER B TERNEEAR
FEETHEARE AXLRE EFTH
ERETESERI  AAERABEHIER

Pt
R A /N 37
=D ED ©

A

»

HihpBER
HZE2023F3831HILEFE

Renovation Hotel

and operation
decoration inJapan  Unallocated Total
REREHS RAEEEE KB st
HK’000 HK’000 HK’000 HK’000
TARL TARL TARL TARL

assets:
Depreciation of property, plantand %)% + BE L& ETE

equipment 27,806 103 174 3,987 1,760 33,830
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FREBENE 5,538 = = = 236 5,774
Impairment loss on properties held ~ ${EH EMEFERE

for sale 46,994 - - - - 46,994
Impairment loss on trade and other & 5 & £ A1 e i8R 3%

receivables HESSE - = = 468 1,067 1,535
Finance income BB (21) U k) = (16) 47
Loss on disposal of plant and LENE  BEK

equipment SEEE 19 - - - - 19
Income tax expenses (credits)  FISHEX (%) 2,516 1,263 (1,002) (723) = 2,054
Decrease in fair values of RENERARERD

investment properties 193,891 - - - - 193,891
Decrease i fair valug of financial &AL EBETA

assets at FVTPL Ba/eoREE

RrBEERD 2,541 = = = = 2,541

Finance cost BBRER 118,671 = 2,055 = 47,194 167,920
Additions to non-current assets REFTYELE 9,099 388 10 606 1,132 11,235
- Non-current assets represented plant, property, plant and - HZE2023F 2022 3F31HILFE + FER

equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, and
investment properties for the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022.

PEEREDE BERRE EREEE -
BVEERKEDE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. o EE R ()
Other segment information (Continued) Hittp &R (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 HZE2022F3A31HILFE

Property Renovation Hotel

Chongging  management and operation
property service decoration inJapan  Unallocated Total
BENE MEERRE  REREH BAEELE ARl a5t
HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000 HK'000

TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL

Amounts included in the measure of B3ER:HE S BB R

segment profit or loss or segment ~ HHEENSE
assets:
Depreciation of property, plantand %)% + BE L& ETE
equipment 29,253 127 112 6,694 2,096 38,282
Depreciation of right-of- use assets  FRIEZERE 5,712 = = = = 5,712
Impairment loss on properties held ~ $5{EH EMERERE
for sale 5,710 - - - - 5,710
Finance income BIEMA (39) 8) (4) o (12) (63)
Income tax expense (credits) FERRASHS) 388 1,003 = (1,025) = 366
Decrease in fair values of RENE AR BERYD
investment properties 69,366 - - - - 69,366
Decrease in fair value of financial XA % EETA
assets at FVTPL BR/ S REE
AREERD 8,799 - - - - 8,799
Finance cost BMA 125,687 3 1,153 = 58,759 185,602
Additions to non-current assets REFRBEE 4533 268 49 1,803 - 6,653
- The non-current assets represented, property, plant and “ H ZE2023F K 2022F3F31HILFE + FER
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, and BEEEME BERRE CHEESE -
investment properties for the years ended 31 March 2023 and EREERKREME -
2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9. 7 EBE R (4E)
(@) Information about major customers (A EBEXTEEFZESR
Revenue from customers of the corresponding MHEAFEEAREBEBWAREIRBI0%
year contributing over 10% of the total revenue WEFPHART

of the Group are as follows:

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH&xT FHT

Customer A' EPA 22,741 N/A T8 A

Customer B! =B 17,455 N/A A5 A

1 Revenue from renovation and decoration segment L ENEEIEYSET b LN
Note:  For the year ended 31 March 2022, there was no fFE . B ZE2022F3A31HILEFE @ WE
customers contributing over 10% of the total revenue BEMAEEBAFEBI0%

of the Group.

(b)  Geographical information (b) HEEHR
The Group’s operations are located in Mainland AEEBMNEBLAPBERM LB
China and Japan. PN
Information about the Group’s revenue from BHEAEERBINEEPIMARE
external customers is presented based on the BIIREES B 25 - BN
location of the operations. Information about the SEFRDEENERNREEN
Group’s non-current assets is presented base on WEBMEZS -

the geographical location of the assets.

Disaggregation of revenue by geographical =& B o WA
region

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER FHET
Mainland China A B K B 128,021 108,666
Japan SN 9,116 7,990
137,137 116,656
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 9.

(b) Geographical information (Continued)

Disaggregation of non-current assets by

72 EHER (&)
(b) HIBER(HE)
B ES T HRBEE

geographical region
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT TET
Mainland China B K e 2,286,553 2,726,484
Japan SR 52,365 65,510
Others EAh 2,788 3,725
2,341,706 2,795,719

Note:  Non-current assets excluded financial asset at FVTPL
and other receivables.

M ERBEETEBERIAEBETA
R RVEE R EMEERR o

10. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (LOSSES), NET 10. HKWARFWE(EHE)

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Exchange gain (loss), net b 55 e (5 18) (1,930) 41
Government grants (note) BT Ak (B 5E) 288 531
Others Hth 1,844 (1,343)
202 (771)

Note:  During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised
government grant of approximately HK$288,000 (2022:
HK$531,000) in respect of incentive primarily to encourage the
employment support and the contribution to the local economic
development with no unfulfilled conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS 11. BB ARB R
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Finance income: BN -
- Bank interest income — RITHBHA 47 63
Finance costs: BERERR A
— Interest on bank and other borrowings — 17 R EMEEF S 94,148 107,876
— Interest on unsecured borrowings from — & FEXIFEEF S
a director 28,987 22,927
— Interest on promissory notes (note 29)  — &, Zi& A 2 (i 5529) 44,000 53,745
— Interest on lease liabilities (note 22) - HEAEMNE (522 785 1,054
167,920 185,602

SRR RAEEBERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

12.

172

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging

(crediting):

12. FRAEE
FRBBRIENG G AR T SRED

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE&xT FAT
Staff costs (including directors and ETIXNRN(BEARAEER
chief executive of the Company) FEITHAE)
- salaries and other allowances - ¥& MEMER, 39,673 64,413
- retirement benefits schemes — R F SR
contributions 6,975 8,275
46,648 72,688
Cost of properties recognised as an BRAER S 2 WEKAK
expense 8,958 -
Auditor’s remuneration IZ SN &
— Statutory audit services - EEBEZRE 1,750 1,760
— Other services - HAth R 75 200 890
Loss on disposal of property, plantand HEME - HE ME&FEEE
equipment 19 -
Impairment loss on other receivables E At W BR TR (B 18 1,067 =
Impairment loss on trade receivables B 5 YR TR E k18 468 -
Depreciation of property, plant and WE - BREREETE
equipment 33,830 38,282
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAREENE 5,774 5,712
Gross rental income from investment REREMENBHE WA
properties (5,095) (8,437)
Less: direct operating expenses W FERTERASBARIRE
incurred for investment MEFEENEELE
properties that generated rental 2
income during the year 11,731 14,456
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FiSHiRx
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FHIT

Current income tax BN EA 15 81

- PRC Enterprise Income Tax - R BTG 2,690 6,389
~PRC Land Appreciation Tax — FR B B (E 87 -
2,777 6,389
Deferred tax (note 31) EIEFLIE (P FE31) (723) (6,023)
2,054 366

Hong Kong Profits Tax

No Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided since
no assessable profits have been generated during the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

Japan Corporate Income Tax

No Japan Corporate Income Tax has been provided
since no assessable profits have been generated
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax in respect of
operations in the PRC is calculated at a rate of 25%
on the estimated assessable profits for the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 under the Law of the
PRC’s on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law.

HENBH

BEREEFSHAIREE - AN E
F2023F N2022F3A31H IEFE W EE
AR ERF R T o

AARBZFREH

BEE AR ETSHATIREE - W/
REE 20234 20224638318 IEMESE
B EEAERTGEA

PECEREHR
ERTELEHFROCENMSHERE
CREMEMETE (EMSHED R
(CEMBRIEEIZN) h B Z=2023F K&
20229 3 A318 I FE (T ERB R A%
FRE25%+E -
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REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)
The PRC Land Appreciation Tax

Land appreciation tax in the PRC is levied on properties
developed by the Group for sale, at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of
land value under the applicable regulations, which is
calculated based on the proceeds of sales of properties
less deductible expenditures including cost of land
use rights, borrowing costs, statutory deduction and all
property development expenditures.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before tax per the consolidated statement of
profit or loss as follows:

13.

FriS®iR < (&)

HEl IR E B

TRz LHIBRERDAAREZERIEHE
2 BET 2 THENNRERE30%
E60%HU - EFFEIDEATRBEERRTE
PAH € ¥ 26 P S SRR F0RR AT H00RLFA S (8248
THIE AR - EERA  SEER R
FREMERRFASOIEL

AEEHEHRAY ARG IERR 2B
AIETIBE AR T -

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$'000

FERT FET

Loss before tax B 75 Al B 1R (481,271) (375,244)

Tax calculated at respective income tax R EREIFTS T Rt E 2§18

rate (113,342) (85,814)

The PRC Land Appreciation Tax AE b E TR 87 -
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ~ HERB Z WA ZHIEF 2

purpose (14) (484)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ~ NAIHIFE Z X 2 HE &

for tax purpose 26,534 19,602

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised  KRIERFIBEIB 2 MK & 88,789 67,162

Income tax expenses for the year REFMERAEZ 2,054 366

Details of deferred income tax are set out in note 31.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14. EERIETHAEMS
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) ESRFETHAEMSE
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the BTk T AR F8H (20224 -
8 (2022: 8) directors and chief executive of the BRIEERTETHRABE ZHEE
Company were as follows: T
For the year ended 31 March 2023 B £2023F3A31BLFE

Executive directors Independent non-executive directors

ynEs BUFUTES

Mr.Huang M. din Mr.Li ~ Mr.Xu Ms.Pau Mr.Wong Mr.Yuen
Mr.Hu  Xiaohai Jianggui ~ Zhenyu Haohao'? Yeeling  Kwan Kit Hoi Po Total

#rs ERERE SIARE ZREAL  AEv BRELZL EEARE RERAE 45
HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TRr TET TEn TR TER TER TR TEr  TER

Emoluments paid or B-BALEMES
receivableinrespect  REEARE
of aperson's servicesas B ffSiENEE
adirector, whether of the (T BAA I

Company or its AMBAA
subsidiaries undertaking:  £%) :
Fees e 3,600 300 300 300 116 220 220 220 5,276

Emolmentspaidor ~ SEZHEER
receivable inrespectof AR A RENE
director's other services A KA
inconnectionwiththe ~ RBE (3N

management of the Me:
affairs of the Company
and its subsidiaries
undertaking:
Other emaluments ol
Salaries e 695 - - = 980 = = - 1675
Retirement benefi RINEHIZHE
schemes contributions 43 82 = S = 8 = = o 90
1 - - - 988 - - - 1,765
Total emoluments feas 4377 300 300 300 1,104 220 20 20 704
! Resigned on 20 August 2022 1 Ho0224E8 A 20 H BHE
° Mr. Xu Haohao is also the chief executive of the g N 75 3 NG .
Company and his emoluments disclosed above @%Xiﬁ{ﬁ\ﬁijﬁﬁﬁﬁ@ak
include those for services rendered by him as the HEHFM (R EXHE) BREHERT
Chief Executive. BB HIRHREAEOE M -
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REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022

Executive directors

L

ESRFETHAEBHE (8

(@) ESERIETHRAEHE(E)

HZE2022F3A831H IEFE

Independent non-executive directors

BUiTES

Mr.Huang ~ Mr.Jin
Mr.Hu  Xiaohai Jianggui

MrLi MrXu  Ms.Pau
Zhenyu  Haohao'  Yeeling  KwanKit Hoi Po Total

Mr.Wong ~ Mr. Yuen

AB B
FEx

At EREEE SIERE ZETRE AL BREXT ERAARE REERE &

HK$000  HK§000 ~ HK§ 000
TR  TAL  TER

HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS00D  HK$000
TR TATL  TRT  TAL  TAL  TAR

Emoluments paid or H-BALER
receivable in respect ESREMEA
ofaperson's sevicesas RIS TN
adirector, whether ofthe B4 (T A
Company or its ARATENE
subsidlaries undertaking: ~ AFEE) :
Fees wg 3,600 350 350 350 375 220 220 220 5,685
Emoluments paid or HEZAEER
receivable inrespectof  ARARE
director's other services B AIE A
in connection with the ERBENS
management of the el -
affairs of the Company
and its subsidiaries
undertaking:
Other emoluments Hpbe
Salaries 4 840 - - - 2,660 - - - 3,500
Retirement benefit NI HE
schemes contributions 1 102 - - - 18 - - - 120
% - - - m - : - 3
Total emoluments Henm 4542 350 350 350 3,053 220 220 220 9,305

! Mr. Xu Haohao is also the chief executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by him as the

Chief Executive.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14.

EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b)  Waived or agreed to waive any emoluments

None of the directors of the Company waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

(c) Inducement to join or upon joining the Group

No emoluments have been paid by the Group
to any of the directors of the Company or the
five highest paid individuals (note 15) as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office for the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 15.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, two (2022: two) were directors (including
the chief executive) of the Company and whose
emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 14
above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2022:
three) individuals were as follows:

ESRFETHRAEME (8

(b) HEIREREEAHSE
H ZE2023F 1 2022F3 A31H IEF
B HMEXAFREETMEXRER
EEMPE -

() MWIIMAREBERAIMARE B
k)|
H Z2023F 20223 A31H IEF
B AEBUWERAQRERNES
DR =E 1 PN (IR YR
ERMESEAEMAKRSEE M
AT & B B 2 52 E) ok 7E A BB S

f& -

TEBREHFMAL
AEELEERFMALH  AMA
(2022 : MB)RARRIER(BRITHE
) BREMSERN LEXME4ZHESR
Ko BT =5(2022F : =) AL zM&
LI

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TFET

Salaries and allowances e KOERh 2,757 3,130
Retirement benefits schemes RORE M ET B

contributions 54 54

2,811 3,184
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 15. LZERSHMA L (E)
(CONTINUED)
Their emoluments are within the following bands: REMSNFLATEHE :
2023 2022
No. of No. of
employee employee
EE#H EE&HE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 L 21,000,000/ 7T 3 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ & 1,500,00078 7T - 1
3 3
16. LOSS PER SHARE 16. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share RARIEEANELEBREAREEERT)
attributable to equity holders of the Company is based RATERGTE -

on the following data:

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Loss Bis
Loss for the year attributable to AREFTESRARREEHE
equity holders of the Company ZARREB AEIEEA
for the purpose of basic and 518
diluted loss per share (482,922) (371,735)
’000 ‘000
TR T
Number of shares [ dvip= =]

Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FARFTE SRR EA K #EE1E

shares for the purpose of 2 E AR N 5

basic and diluted loss per share 647,199 538,240
The denominators used are the same as those FrASSHE R EGRERNEESE
calculated above for both basic and diluted loss per FrR#&MRR -
share.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

LOSS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purposes of calculating basic loss per share has
been adjusted, taking into account the new share
issued during the year ended 31 March 2022 as further
detailed in note 32.

No potential dilutive shares in issue during the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, basic and dilutive loss
per share are the same for both years.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year
ended 31 March 2023, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period (2022:
nil).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The movement of the Group’s investment properties
and the reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurement
are as follows:

16.

17.

18.

BREE(E)

ARFTESREREEN L BARINEF
BHHEETHAE  WiHEZE2022F3 A 31
AIEFEETHIKRGERME32) MWAZE
F@? °

HZE2023F 2022 3A31HILFE - IF
EBEEECRITRGD  UMEFENS
MR EAR R EEEIEER -

BRE
HE2023F3H31H It FE W ER 52
HIRMEARE - BREHRENERS

IR BB (20224 - &) ©

5 LS
ARERENE 2 BHREEAL BE
SHEZHELOT

Investment Right-of-use
properties assets Total
REWE FHAREEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
FAIR VALUE AREE
At 1 April 2021 R2021F4H1H 1,935,457 19,305 1,954,762
Additions NE 6,710 - 6,710
Decrease in fair value (note) AR EBERD (M) (65,895) (8,471) (69,366)
Exchange differences ME N Z 64,563 630 65,193
At 31 March 2022 and 2022331 A &

1 April 2022 2022F 4 A1H 1,940,835 16,464 1,957,299
Additions NE 6,470 = 6,470
Decrease in fair value (note) 2REEBD (M) (191,341) (2,550) (193,891)
Exchange differences IE =5 (148,486) (1,203) (149,689)
At 31 March 2023 7A2023F3A31H 1,607,478 12,711 1,620,189
Note:  For the year ended 31 March 2023, decrease in fair value MsE © BZE2023FE3A31BLFE @ AREBERLD

of approximately HK$193,891,000 (2022: HK$69,366,000)
is attributable to the changes in unrealised loss relating to
investment properties held at the end of the reporting period.

#7193,891,000/% 7T (20224 : 69,366,000/
7o) T A B R A R AR 2
RERHRED -

—=—

—

ZEFR REBRERLH
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18.

180

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 18. BEWX (&)
As at 31 March 2023, the Group's investment MR2023F3A31H - AEBEIKEME
properties with carrying amounts of approximately BRE{E#)1,607,478,000/8 T (20224 :
HK$1,607,478,000 (2022: HK$1,940,835,000) have 1,940,835,000/ 7T) B EE A REK T
been pledged to secure the bank borrowings granted REEBITEEPETFE2S) -
to the Group (note 28).
As at 31 March 2023, right-of-use assets of MR2023F3A31H FHBEEEN
approximately HK$12,711,000 (2022: HK$16,464,000) 12,711,000/ 7T (20224 : 16,464,000/
represent a rented building located in the PRC for TDERPRBEAN—EEF  BiEDHE -
subleasing purpose. The lease term is eight years. HERA/NE -
All of the Group’s property interests held under REBMEEURDASKERIEELE
operating leases to earn rentals or for capital M EEHEETRHRENMERERTER
appreciation purpose are measured using the fair REBEEEXNGE  DEAREMELIR
value model and are classified and accounted for as =/ EYN:X
investment properties.
An analysis of the Group’s investment properties that R P ERER AN BEFEZAEEE
are measured subsequent to initial recognition at BEWE  DEAREBEFEHASE 2T
fair value, grouped into fair value hierarchy Level 3 BREESBAAREESFIE  BEN
based on the degree to which the inputs to fair value WranT
measurements is observable is as follows:
Fair value measurement under
fair value hierarchy Level 3 at
RUTABZAAEE
HIBAAEENE
31 March 31 March
2023 2022
20234 20224
3A31H 3H31H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Recurring fair value measurements gEMEAREBEE
- Investment properties situated -“NRFEEEMZIREYE
in Chongging City, the PRC 1,620,189 1,957,299
There were no transfers between fair value hierarchy PRREFE  ARnEBEFIE  Fo2EESE

Levels 1, 2 and 3 during both years.

Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2023
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REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 18. REWE(E)
Valuation processes HERE
The Group’s investment properties at 31 March 2023 REE 20234 & 2022F3 31 BHRE
and 2022 were valued by CHFT, an independent MERBIEERE B EREE M &R
qualified professional valuer not connected with the 2 AERERETRE - ZEEMSE
Group who hold recognised relevant professional BERAIZEERERER - BHEERUUML
qualification and has recent experience in valuing EREYEEEORLER -
similar properties in the similar locations.
There has been no change from the valuation technique Frsk A ERNE FEFELENE -
used in prior year. In estimating the fair value of all of MAKEMBREMEAARBEZMGEFM
the Group’s investment properties, the highest and best T REVEEACASERNEER KK
use of these properties in the current use. EA® -
Information about fair value measurements using RAERTAHEEMABE 2 A AEBE
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) = (E3E)HEER
Fairvalue  Valuation Significant unobservable Relationship of significant
Fair value hierarchy technique inputs unobservable inputs to fair value
ERFTRERASER
MEE MEBEER HERHE EXTTERBANE MEEZBE
2023 2022
HK$'000 HK$ 000
Thx ThL
Chongging - investment 1,607,478 1940835  Level3 Direct comparison  Market unit sale rate at The higher the recent ransaction
properties approach (2022: RMB29,000 - RMB157,000 price, the higher the fair value
Direct comparison (31 March 2022: RMB32,000 -
approach) RMB164,000) per square meter
ER-RENE 238 BRIAE BYRATRENEEARY RERRERS AABEAR
(020F EE  29000mZARS157,0007
AV (2020F3R318 : A\RK
32,0007 A K% 164,0007T)
Chongging = commercial 12,711 16,464 Leveld Income approach  Discount rate at 8% (2022: 8%)  The higher the discount rate, the lower
building (Right-of-use assets) (2022 Income the fair value
approach)
EE-BXAE(ERELE) #3E WNEQ02E:  HRERSH(02F 8%  FREAR RABEAR
WAE)

SRR RAEEBERAR
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19.

182

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale in
Chongging City, PRC

TEEERMRELEDRE

REHEMRE
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
TET TAT
379,983 465,440

All of the above properties held for sale are to be sold
as part of the normal operating cycle of the Group, thus
they are classified as current assets.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has pledged
the properties held for sale at carrying amount
of approximately HK$379,983,000 (2022:
HK$465,440,000) to secure the bank borrowings
granted to the Group (note 28).

The Group’s properties held for sale at 31 March 2023
and 2022 were valued by CHFT, an independent
qualified professional valuer not connected with the
Group who hold recognised relevant professional
qualification and has recent experience in valuing
similar properties in the similar locations.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, an impairment
loss on properties held for sale amounted to
approximately HK$46,994,000 (2022: HK$5,710,000)
was recognised in profit or loss.
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LA ERENERIERAKRELER
SEAMN-HOoHE  AUBERER

MR2023F3A31H  AEECEFE
M4 5379,983,000/8 7L (20224
465,440,000 70) 2 HIELEWE - 1A
REBEERBITEE ZERETE28) -

REE 20235 % 2022F3 A31 B HEHE
HEME T HBLSEARBEEMGEMED
BT o EHEAEEMERSE  FEER
AIAERAEE AR - BNELENREY
ERETHERAOHER -

HZEC023F3A31HIEFEE » HIEHEY
¥ 7 OREE 1B 946,994,000 7T (2022 -
5,710,000/ 7T) E A Bz FERR o



[ee—e—e—
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20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

20. Y% BERRZRE

Furniture,
Freehold Improvements  Serviced Buildings&  Leasehold fixtures and Motor
land onland apartments  structure improvements  equipment  vehicles Total
KA BRR il RER
i tHE  REALE RN HEBFRE By i3 Eh
HK$'000 HK$000  HK$O000  HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
T T Fin T Tt Tin T T
Cost B
At 1 April 2021 R0 F4A1H 11,550 46550 724,036 28,849 14592 59,593 7709 892879
Additions AE - 448 - - - 1,79 1,248 3,490
Exchange differences BEiZEE - - 19,016 - - 2,618 62 21,696
At 31 March 2022 and R2022F3A31B R

1 April 2022 022%64A18 11,550 46,998 743052 28,849 14592 64,005 9019 918,065
Additions hE - - - - - 3,021 612 3,633
Disposals & - - - - - (54) - (54)
Exchange differences EiEE (1,815) (7385 (54,370) (4533) - (4,657) (736)  (73496)
At 31 March 2023 R2023E3A31H 9,735 30613 688,682 24316 14592 62315 88% 848,148
Accumulated depreciation ZHERAE

and impairment
At 1 April 2021 R2021E4R1H - 10,865 170510 6,753 14,112 32,015 4433 238,688
Provided for the year FhEk = 3820 16,012 2804 30 13458 1868 38,282
Exchange differences EiZE - - 6,361 - - 1,09 34 7491
At31 March 2022 and 20224537318 ]

1 April 2022 022%F4A18 - 14,685 192,883 9,557 14,432 46,569 6,335 284,461
Provided for the year Endh = 2275 15,181 1670 160 13,612 932 33830
Eliminated on disposals iH ER - - - - - (35) - (35)
Exchange differences EHEE - (2,665) (5,007) (1,764) - (522) (3%)  (10,313)
At 31 March 2023 R20234E3A31A - 1429 203057 9,463 14,592 50,624 6912 307,943
Carrying amount BEfE
At 31 March 2023 R202353A31R 9,735 25318 485625 14,853 - 2,691 1,983 540,20
At 31 March 2022 R2022E3A317 11,550 32313 550,169 19,292 160 17,436 2084 633,604

SRR RAEEBERAR
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20.

184

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other
than freehold land, are depreciated on a straight-line
basis, after taking into account their estimated residual
values, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

2.5% —10%
20% — 40%

Buildings & structure

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Improvements on land

Leasehold improvement

Motor vehicles

Serviced apartments

4% —6.87%

Over the term of the lease
20% — 25%

33 years

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
as the result of the unexpected poor performance in the
Group’s Chongqging property segment, the directors of
the Company carried out a review of the recoverable
amounts of relevant property, plant and equipment
and right of use assets. As the carrying values were
lower than respective recoverable amounts, which
were based on fair values less costs of disposal, no
impairment loss is recognised for the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has pledged
the serviced apartments with carrying amount
of approximately HK$485,625,000 (2022:
HK$550,169,000) to secure the bank borrowings
granted to the Group (note 28).
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20.

W - BB K RE (&)

BROK AL - EYE - BB MR
BIEBANERETE - &5t RAF R
BERZ A AERFHNT

BFRERY
B - KERRE

2.5% % 10%
20% £ 40%

Tk = 4%%6.87%
HEBFEE A 8
RE 20%Z£25%
RBRAE 334

HE2023F K2022F12A31HILFE -
HRAEEEEMEDINEERESA
BOMOKRE BUEARARESLHHEBEY
¥ HE REREH U E SR8 R F A
BEETERR -BAREEERRIEAALE
ERLEXNAFTENEETYNE S -
B E20234F 220223318 ILFE -
EERRERBE -

MR2023%43HA31H AEEBECDEHE
[ {E#) /485,625,000 7T (20224 :
550,169,000/ 7T) Z RIS A B A ERE
FAREEZRITEEHFE28) -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FVTPL

21.

BARBEFSAEREZEHEE

Unlisted equity securities in the PRC

R EIR B AV s E 77

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET

- 2,741

Note:  As at 31 March 2023, the unlisted equity securities
represented an investment of 10% equity interest in a private
entity established in the PRC. They were measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period, with decrease in fair
value of approximately HK$2,541,000 (2022: HK$8,799,000)
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 March 2023.

LEASES

(i) Right-of-use assets

22.

B3

HE

(M)

MR2023F3A31H * REMERBFHIERE
REFRBEKINABTENI10%KE - BF
RREHRIRARBEE - REE2023F
SASIALEEGABRERTERNAAEE
R 492,541,000 7T (20224 © 8,799,00078

JT) °

EREEE

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHET FHT

Land use right T fE AR 178,764 203,110
Leased property HEMZE 896 =
179,660 203,110

As at 31 March 20283, right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$178,764,000 (2022:
HK$203,110,000) represent the land use right
located in the PRC. The lease terms generally
range from two to thirty years.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
entered into a new lease agreement in respect
of renting a new office and recognised lease
liabilities and right-of-use asset of approximately
HK$1,132,000 (2022: nil). The lease term is two
years at fixed rentals with no extension option.
In addition, the weighted average lessee’s
incremental borrowing rates applied to the lease
liabilities was 5.63% (2022: nil) per annum as at
31 March 2023.

MN2023FE3A31H  FAELE
#47178,764,000/8 T (20224
203,110,000/ 7T) FE L A B 2 &=
HERE  HEBENTIREE=
+4F o

HE2023F3A31BILFEE » A&
ESFARFBR AT LHHER
F o THRHEEEREREEE
#91,132,00078 7 (20224 - #&) - 1
EEME  HeET  THEA
IRIBRE o N - R2023%F3A31H
FERAREEBEMINEFEEEBA
EEEFRFEBETF5.63%(2022
F ) o

SRR RAEEBERAR

185
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22. LEASES (CONTINUED)
(i) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s land use
right with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$178,764,000 (2022: HK$203,110,000) have
been pledged to secure the bank borrowings
granted to the Group (note 28).

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the directors of
the Company conducted a review of the Group’s
right-of-use assets. Details of the assessment
are set out in note 20.

(i) Lease liabilities

HE ()

(M)

(ii)

EREEE(H)

R2023F 38318  AEBIREE
#4)/4178,764,0007% 7T (20224 :
203,110,000 7T) M) T b fF FR#EE
EERAERE T RSB NRITE
B (ffE2s) o

R20234F 20224383180 » AR
RIEEHASBTRAEEEETR
5 o AHERFEIBEAAMI 520 o

HESE

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

THxT T

Current Vi 2,261 2,071
Non-current JERED 8,639 10,782
10,900 12,853
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

LEASES (CONTINUED) 22. HE@E
(ii)  Lease liabilities (Continued) (i) HEEEGE
Amounts payable under lease liabilities RIEHE B EEMNKIA
2023 2022
HK’000 HK’000
FExT FET
Within one year —FR 2,261 2,071
After one year but within two years ~ —FZERFER 2,272 1,831
After two years but within five years  FEEETFERN 6,367 6,910
After five years HEFE% = 2,041
10,900 12,853
Less: Amount due for settlement W R =B A AR A
within 12 months (shown B2 FBER RS
under current liabilities) BETIITR) (2,261) (2,071)
Amount due for settlement after R+ZEARIBEE
12 months bS] 8,639 10,782
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group HE2023F3A31BILLFE » A&
entered into a new lease agreement in respect of RERAMAMET LT HEER
renting an office premises and recognised lease = WHEREEAE1,132,000% 7T
liabilities of HK$1,132,000 (2022: nil). (2022%F 1 &) o
(ili)  Amounts recognised in profit or loss (i) REZPRIAZSE
2023 2022
HK’000 HK’000
FERT FET
Depreciation expense on land use T AT ER S
right 5,538 5,712
Depreciation expense on HEMENERX
leased property 236 -
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGENE 785 1,054
Expense relating to short-term leases 2 EAHEM % 1,353 990
(iv)  Others (iv) Hftb

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the total
cash outflow for leases amount to approximately
HK$4,312,000 (2022: HK$6,916,000).

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may
not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

HE2023FE3A31BILFE - HE
RERHARTEL E4,312,0008 T
(20224 : 6,916,000/ 7T) °

R2023%F & 2022F3A31H - B i
A ENHEELSERBERS
GN o FRE W I AT R 325 o
HHHEEN RIEE SRR o

SRR RAEEBERAR
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23.

188

INTANGIBLE ASSETS BEEE
Cross
boundary
vehicle
License license Total
2R BImE #Et
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FTERT TER
Cost and carrying value RARREHE
At 1 April, 2021 MR2021F 4818 669 1,019 1,688
Exchange difference EHZER 18 = 18
At 31 March 2022 and R2022F 3318 &
1 April 2022 2022 4H1R 687 1,019 1,706
Exchange difference fE = (54) - (54)
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3H31H 633 1,019 1,652

Intangible asset of approximately HK$1,019,000
represents the cross boundary vehicle license which
has a legal life of one year but are renewable every
year at minimal cost. The directors of the Company are
of the opinion that the Group would renew the license
continuously and has the ability to do so. Various
studies including market, competitive and environmental
trends have been performed by the directors of the
Company, which supports that the license has no
foreseeable limit to the period over which are expected
to generate net cash flows for the Group.

The intangible assets are considered by the directors of
the Company as having indefinite useful lives because
they are expected to contribute to net cash inflows
indefinitely. The licenses will not be amortised until their
useful life are determined to be finite. Instead it will be
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an
indication that it may be impaired.

During the year ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the

directors of the Company consider that no impairment
loss is required to be recognised on intangible assets.
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B E#91,019,00078 0184 & BifR A —
FREFUREKARR] T B2 BHREH
R AARESRRAEESE B
BRENEBRRE - AR EBEETSE
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ZHBEAEEERHELARSREFELY
BN AT TE R 2 PR o

AEEHBEEERRSRAFE A0
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 24, EBEZRHMEBERRENEE
CONTRACT ASSETS
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE&xT FAT
Trade receivables B 5 IR 19,069 14,433
Less: allowance for impairment of B B SRR ERE
trade receivables 4,721) (4,253)
14,348 10,180
Deposits and other receivables Ze KA MR
(notes (ii)) (B =E (i) 17,771 24,222
Less: allowance for impairment of B HAb R FOR B EE
other receivables (1,067) -
Prepayments TERTRIE 1,100 1,755
Total trade and other receivable B NHMEIWIRR B 17,804 25,977
32,152 36,157
Portion classified as current assets DERRDEEDBD (26,975) (26,363)
Non-current portion (note (i) FEmEN &0 (B (i) 5,177 9,794
Contract assets (note (iii)) & #E B (M E (i) 18,913 9,691
As at 31 March 2023, the gross amount of trade MR2023F3A31H - EFEEHNFEEN
receivable arising from contracts with customers B 5 EWERFBEA A19,069,000% T
amounted to approximately HK$19,069,000 (2022: (20224F : #914,433,000/87T) ©

approximately HK$14,433,000)

—g-=55% ReEMARAT 189



L

|

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

24.

190

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

()

(i)

(iii)

Included in the balance as at 31 March 2023 is approximately
HK$5,177,000 (2022: HK$9,794,000), representing lease
incentives to tenants which are amortised over the relevant
lease terms.

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECL, unless when there has a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition. For the deposits and
other receivables of approximately HK$9,640,000 as at 31
March 2023 (2022: HK$11,364,000), the ECL was minimal as
these deposits and receivables had no recent history of default
and there was no unfavorable current conditions and forecast
future economic conditions at the end of the reporting period.

The impairment on other receivables are individually impaired
amounts of HK$1,067,000 (2022: nil) as at 31 March 2023 since
the directors of the Company considered that the prolonged
outstanding balances cannot be utilised or recovered.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the current reporting
period.

Included in contract assets are retention receivables that
represents the Group’s right to receive consideration for work
performed and not yet billed because the rights are conditional
on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over
a certain period as stipulated in the contracts. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights
become unconditional, which is typically at the expiry date
of the period for the provision of assurance by the Group
on the service quality of the renovation and decoration work
performed by the Group.

For contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments to
measure the allowance for credit losses at lifetime ECL. The
contract assets are assessed for ECL by using the same basis
and approach as trade receivables. After the assessment
by the directors of the Company, the allowance for ECL on
contract assets are insignificant to the Group as at 31 March
2023.
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ESRHEMBURERRRENEE (B)

fia -

(@)

(i)

(iii)

T A2023%F3A31H 2 & #:#45,177,0007 7T
(20224 : 9,794,000/ 70) + BRBEFREZ
THEEE - NIBREAENES -

AEBNERSN12EABEHEEBEN
BERE  KRICEERREVPEREEE
i AEBAERRAZHBHEERSE -
TEEHEHEEERERTRERREE
A B AT R E R B V) PR A A E Y
hn o $202343 A31 A MRS K& H b fE W BR
K #99,640,00078 7T (20224 : 11,364,000/
TME - BHEEEBRER REAZFR
& I B U AR R HANE 48 12 4050 8% BT 3RS 1P
SR 48 7 FI B IR R FEORI AR SR A B AR

#2023F3A318 - HibEWERRELE
BB E581,067,000/8 7T (20224 : ) © R
AAAAREFRALZSRPAEELHRE
ARSI E o

RARERR - AERMKAELERRR
BB EH -

FABMBENRBURESEARERD#
TEMKRAAZRENTRKEUCENER -
RERZESHNAFTEFRENREN—E
HEAHRBEEXRTHERAIAEE - &
WEERBENRAEGER (BE AR EER
AEEFMETRERKHTENRBEER
HRFHEOESERER=EIRUE

Eo
A

REHWEENS ANEECEATEVER
EEANFOFRUBK T AAFNBLAENE
2HEHEEBBENEEHERE - A0E
EFRARE 5 EKRFARKNEER AT
HEHEEEFR  c EAQRESTMHE R
2023F3A31H  AHEEMNTEHEEER
BEHAEEMSATEK ©
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REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

There has been no change in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period.

The Group classifies these contract assets under
current assets because the Group expects to realise
them in its normal operating cycle.

The Group does not hold any collaterals over these
balances.

24,

5 REMERERRAOEE R
AR AP » 5 ERAT AT B A R
SRR (8 -

AEERZEANEEDBRRDEE
RASASEREREEFELEBHRRNE
RHEEE -

AREBE B2 FERTT A EMERR -
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24.

192

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The Group allows an average credit period of 0 — 60
days to its trade customers. The following is an aged
analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for
impairment of trade receivables, presented based
on the invoice date, which approximates to revenue
recognition date, at the end of the reporting period.

24.

ESRHEMBURERRRENEE (B)

AEEAFEESEFZH0E60RZF
BEEH - TRINBEMRZERAH
(R iR B HEE) 25 2B 5 EUKER
KNk B ZRBRFORER ) 2Rk D
#r o

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET TFET

0-30 days 0E 30K 8,512 3,097
31-90 days 31290k 5,168 2,428
91-180 days 91E180K 668 522
More than 180 days 180K A £ - 4,133
14,348 10,180

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The
ECL on trade receivables are estimated individually for
customer with significant balances or credit-impaired
and/or collectively using a provision matrix based on
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at
the reporting date, including time value of money where
appropriate.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period.

As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does
not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based
on past due status is not further distinguished between
the Group’s different customer bases. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
CONTRACT ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The directors of the Company individually assessed
and considered that trade receivables of approximately
HK$4,721,000 (2022: HK$4,253,000) had 100%
expected loss rate as these trade receivables were
credit-impaired. The ECL on the remaining trade
receivables with gross amounts of approximately
HK$14,348,000 (2022: HK$10,180,000) are estimated
using a provision matrix. No impairment was made on
the remaining trade receivables as at 31 March 2023
and 2022 as the expected loss rate is immaterial.

The movement in allowance for impairment of trade
receivables is set out below:

24,

ESRHMBURRRENEE ()

ARREEEBTHUIREE H BN
#94,721,00078 7T (20224 : 4,253,000/
TT)NTBEEIEBE A100% ° RRAZEE
FEBEFCELREERE B TEHE
U BR SR 4B 5B 4 14,348,00078 JT (20224
10,180,000/ 0 MIBEAE E BB T {E R
BB (R ET o 20234 20223 A 31
B ARESHEERTTER  HHTE
SR IEY ERE -

BEZRURR ZRERGEEBEIMT

Lifetimes ECL
(credit-impaired)

2HEREEEE
(BEE&RE)
HK$'000
FET

At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 R2021F4 818 ~ 202293A31H &
and 1 April 2022 2022%F 4 A1H 4,253
Impairment recognised during the year FRERARE 468
At 31 March 2023 MR2023F3H31H 4,721
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

25.

26.

194

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25, BHeERZEFBEE
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and RehkFRASBEARBIASEEREH
shot-term bank deposits for the purpose of meeting ReAENFERS RERRITER - &
the Group’s short term cash commitment, which carry F2023F N2022F3A31HILFE - 25
interest at prevailing market rates during the years FRIRRITIH N EGE o
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.
The conversion of RMB-denominated balances into NARBHELEBRRERBINEAR AR E
foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign fEHZ S AINESTENRITERKEIR S -
currencies denominated bank balances and cash out 7838 57 A B IS 78 46 1Y 78 B FINE B 1) 4R Bl
of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulation KRB o
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. EZRHMEMERN
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE&xT FHET
Trade payables B S EITERNK 10,910 6,424
Construction costs accruals and BERAEFTEAR
payables FET AR X 88,940 74,948
Other accruals and payables HA et & B R EMERK 85,122 88,018
184,972 169,390
Analysed as DT
Non-current JERNER = 17,169
Current BNHA 184,972 152,221
184,972 169,390

Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED) 26. EZKkHEME[IRI(E)
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables EREZAHRMERRMESNE S EN
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the RFERE DITHETIAT -
reporting period.
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER FHET
0-30 days 0E 30k 1,572 2,147
31-90 days 31E90K 3,828 1,979
91-180 days 91E180K 2,186 160
More than 180 days 180K 3,324 2,138
10,910 6,424
The average credit period of trade payables is 30 days. BSRNERTHEERARIOK - N&E
The Group has financial risk management policies in Bl & Bl A S B IR R LA (R BT A FE A
place to ensure that all payables are settled within the ERREEBRALS -
credit timeframe.
AMOUNT DUE FROM (TO) RELATED 27. EBW()BREQRNRE

COMPANIES

These amounts represent amounts due from (to)
companies which are wholly-owned by Mr. Hu,
an executive director and the ultimate controlling
party of the Company. Except for amounts due from
related parties of approximately HK$8,555,000 (2022:
HK$4,442,000) that are unsecured, interest-free and
trade in nature with a credit period of 60 days, the
remaining amounts are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

ZEFEEEBN BARFTRMITESR
EREHGTHAEEEEEENRBIHN
I8 o BR FE YR8 & 75 FUIE 498,555,000 7T
(20224 : 4,442,000/ 7T) AEIKIR - 28
rEESIHE - BIEEEAGORI T
KIEABER - 2 S RBARENKEE -

SRR RAEEBERAR
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27.

196

AMOUNT DUE FROM (TO) RELATED
COMPANIES (CONTINUED)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
from related companies presented based on the invoice
date, which approximates to the respective revenue
recognition dates, at the end of the reporting period.

27.

FE Wk (1) BA 1t B =R 7E ()

TRITPHREMRILETE A% Wa
REHRE) 25 2 BKREARE 5K
RERE AT -

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FHT

0-30 days 0& 30K 3,941 1,879
31-90 days 31E290K 1,295 1,467
91-180 days 91E180k 1,768 397
More than 180 days 180K A = 275 -
7,279 3,743

For the purposes of impairment assessment, the
directors of the Company considered the amounts
due from related companies to have low credit risk.
Accordingly, the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECL which is considered
not significant after taken into account the financial
condition of the related companies.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques

or significant assumptions made during the current
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

28.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

28. HMITRHMEE

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Other borrowings — unsecured HAi B8 - M 72,199 42,912
Bank borrowing — secured IRITIEE — |H 1,389,289 1,498,974
1,461,488 1,541,886
Current: MED
Unsecured other borrowings — principal EXIAEMEE - K425
portion (note (i) (B aE(i)) 12,996 14,760
Unsecured other borrowings — interest ~ EIXBEMEE — F E 25D
portion (note (i) (B (i) 4,526 2,729
Secured bank borrowing — principal BHEPRITEE - A&
portion (note (ii)) (B =% 102,600 12,300
Secured bank borrowing — interest BHEMRITEE -NEHH
portion (note (i) (B 3 Gii)) 2,925 3,160
123,047 32,949
Non-current: ERE
Unsecured other borrowings — principal EEIAEHMEE - K425
portion (note (iii)) (B & Giii)) 50,777 24,691
Unsecured other borrowings — interest ~ EXIBEMEE — F EZH
portion (note (iii)) (B =E(ii)) 3,900 732
Secured bank borrowing — principal BEPRITEE - A2HH
portion (note (ii)) GED) 1,283,764 1,483,514
1,338,441 1,508,937
Total bank and other borrowings MITRHEMEERTE 1,461,488 1,641,886

SRR RAEEBERAR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28.

(CONTINUED)

Carrying amount repayable (based on scheduled

RITRHEMEE (F)

EEEEEMREER BRI EHMEEA

repayment dates set out in the loan agreements): )
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within 1 year —FR 123,047 32,949
More than 1 year but less than 2 years B —F{E D RARE 102,600 50,022
More than 2 years but less than 5 years #B@BMFEEDRAE 362,477 332,100
More than 5 years HBilmAF 873,364 1,126,815
1,461,488 1,541,886

(i) The unsecured other borrowings as at 31 March
2023 represented the unsecured borrowings
from related companies, which are beneficially
owned by Mr. Hu, with outstanding principal
amount of RMB11,400,000 (31 March 2022:
RMB12,000,000), equivalent to HK$12,996,000
(31 March 2022: HK$14,760,000) carrying
fixed interest rate of 15% per annum (31 March
2022: 15% per annum); and interest payable of
RMB3,970,000 (31 March 2022: RMB2,218,000),
equivalent to HK$4,526,000 (31 March 2022:
HK$2,729,000) which are repayable on the
maturity date.

(ii) The secured bank borrowing with total
principal amount of RMB1,216,109,000 (31
March 2022: RMB1,216,109,000), equivalent
to HK$1,386,364,000 (31 March 2022:
HK$1,495,814,000).
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(i)

R2023F3A31H @ EMIPEAM
BEEERNTEESEANEE
RAIBRHAREEASBEAARE
11,400,0007C (202243 A31H :
AER#12,000,0007T) &) #2547 (&
B BEMN12,996,000/ 7T (2022
F£3H31H : 14,760,000/ 7T) °
BT FF & A15E (2022F3 31
B: FFKR152) : MEMSFIEA
R #3,970,0007t (20224 3 A 31
H: AR#2218,0007T) ' HER
4,526,000 7T (2022438311
2,729,000/ 7T) + AR EIEHE
{% °

AeEmABAREK1,216,109,000
7T (2022 3A31H +: AR
1,216,109,0007T) M A IR R 17
B8 - HER1,386,364,000/8 7T
(202243 A31H : 1,495,814,000
BIT) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

(i)

(iii)

(Continued)

The secured bank borrowing carries a fixed
interest rate of 7% per annum as at 31 March
2022. On 19 December 2022, the Group was
granted a new fixed interest rate while the other
terms of the secured bank borrowing remained
unchanged. As at 31 March 2023 the secured
bank borrowing carries a fixed interest rate
of 5.3% per annum the with interest payable
quarterly, and will mature on 30 March 2035.

At the end of the reporting period, carrying
amounts of the Group’s assets pledged to
secure the bank borrowing of the Group are as
follows.

28. WITREMEEE

Gy &

R2022%3A310 » BEMIRT
BERTEMNEEFHETL - R
20229125190 » AEBERIH
EEFE  mAEEBEBITIEENE
A FR 45 8 - 72202343 A 31
H - BEBRITEENEEFHE
B5.3E  MEBEREELHMN kB
FA2035%F 3 H30H HIIHf -

RBERR - AEBERABRA
SEZROTEEZEEREEN
o

Property, plant and equipment

Properties held for sale RELEYE
Right-of-use assets EREEE
Investment properties wEYE

CEN T

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TAT
485,625 550,169
379,983 465,440
178,764 203,110
1,607,478 1,940,835

On 1 July 2021, an unsecured revolving loan
facility with facility amount of HK$100,000,000
has been granted from a related company, which
is beneficially owned by Mr. Hu, which carries a
fixed interest rate of 8% per annum, with maturity
date on 31 December 2025.

As at 31 March 2023, unsecured revolving
loan facility with aggregate principal amount
of approximately HK$50,777,000 (31 March
2022: HK$24,691,000) has been drawn
down and interest payable of approximately
HK$3,900,000 (31 March 2022: HK$732,000),
which will be repayable on the maturity date. The
remaining loan facility with principal amount of
approximately HK$49,223,000 (31 March 2022:
HK$75,309,000) has not yet been utilised.

iy  M2021F7A1H » —RHHPLEE
m A B E A B EE F AR
82 - AEhE ©%8 /100,000,000
BT BERBREREE - 25
H A2025%128318

R2023%F3A31H ' BiIRBAS
A% B #150,777,000 T (2022
£3HA31H : 24,691,000/ 7T) 2
EEFRBRRESRRE NESHE
493,900,000/ 7T (20224F 3 A 31
H :732,000%7T) - HREIEARAE
18 o FIR RS 5E#149,223,000/8 7T
(20224 3A31H : 75,309,000/
TORERMERABA o

SRR RAEEBERAR
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28.

29.

200

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28. S|RITRHMEEGE)

(CONTINUED)

(iv)  As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s secured bank (iv) H2023F3A31H  AEEKmE
borrowing with carrying amount of approximately #7/41,386,364,000/8 7T (20224
HK$1,386,364,000 (2022: HK$1,495,814,000) 1,495,814,000/ 7T) 69 A 3R 4R 1T
is subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating BEEAREEBAE TRERHA R
to certain usage restriction. If the Group were to o MAREERZERH @ FTiR
breach the covenants the drawn down facilities ARt EREERERE - XEEFE
would become payable on demand. The Group SR H BT ERANER - B
regularly monitors its compliance with these 20234 3H31H ' imERBHEC
covenants. As at 31 March 2023, none of the RERELE B 2256 (20224F : f|) o
covenants relating to drawn down facilities had
been breached (2022: nil).

PROMISSORY NOTES 29. EAREE

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000

At the beginning of the year REH] 868,052 1,042,307

Interest charge (note 11) B EIEE1) 44,000 53,745

Issue shares for the repayment (note 32) ZE1TAX ()& (5E32) = (228,000)

At the end of year RER 912,052 868,052

On 28 July 2016, the Company issued promissory notes
with aggregate principal amount of HK$1,168,000,000
as part of the consideration to acquire the entire
equity interest in Gloryear Investments Limited and
its subsidiaries. The promissory notes are unsecured,
carries a fixed interest rate of 8% per annum and would
mature on 28 July 2019. All interests will be paid on
the maturity date. The Company may redeem (in full
or in part) the promissory notes at any time after the
date of issue of the promissory notes and before the
maturity date by serving prior notice to the promissory
notes holder. The promissory notes are measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rates at 8%.

Promissory notes with aggregate principal amount
of HK$390,000,000 were early redeemed by the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2017, while
promissory notes with aggregate principal amount of
HK$778,000,000 remained outstanding.
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MR2016%F7H28H » N RAIBEITAE LR
#1,168,000,000/8 70 2 F H 2% - 1EAIK
BEFREERAFLENB AR
EZEIORE - AR ERAEER - RE
FEFFEKSEFE + WHK2019F7 288 5|
B TEFEHREBAIN - AAFA
WA H Z 3T B Bife S 5 B B ATEE B )
EHBRFEAZRLELBM  BO2E
R R IR o AN RERE A ER R X
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

PROMISSORY NOTES (CONTINUED)

On 15 December 2017, promissory notes with
aggregate principal amount of HK$778,000,000 have
been transferred to Total Idea International Limited
(“Total Idea”), in which Mr. Hu, the executive director
and chairman of the Company, is the ultimate beneficial
owner.

On 5 December 2018, the maturity date of the
promissory notes has been extended from 28 July 2019
to 28 July 2020. Details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 5 December 2018.

On 26 September 2019, the maturity date of the
promissory notes has been further extended from 28
July 2020 to 28 July 2021. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 26 September 2019.

On 4 September 2020, the maturity date of the
promissory notes has been further extended from 28
July 2021 to 28 July 2022. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 4 September 2020.

In October 2021, promissory notes with aggregate
principal of HK$228,000,000 were early redeemed by
the Company while promissory notes with aggregate
principal amount of HK$550,000,000 remained
outstanding.

On 30 November 2021, the maturity date of the
promissory notes has been further extended from 28
July 2022 to 28 July 2023. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 30 November 2021.

On 14 March 2023, the maturity date of the promissory
notes has been further extended from 28 July 2023
to 31 December 2025. Details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 14 March 2023.

29.

A E ()

R2017F 128158 r K& @B A
778,000,000/ T & L RIEE #EE T A
NEHITESRERIPLERERERE
BAZZEHBERARI(2ED

M2018FE 12850 » AL EEMBHAAH
2019F 7 A28 A ER £2020%F 7 H281 o
HBEHNR A AR HEA2018F12A58 K

NI

A2019F90H26H » AN ZENFIEH R
2020F7H28RE— T K E2021F 7 A
28H ° FBFHEN AR FIBHA2019F9 A
26BHI NS ©

MR2020F9A48 AR ZEA I H A &
2021 7H28RE—F K E2022F 7 A
28H ° FHEHN AR A B EIR202059H 4
=R

R2021F10A » ARFRIEIRFELO AL HE
%6228,000,0008 L Z & W21 - MAE
#A%E 5550,000,00058 7T 2 & A Z B K

i -
202111 A308 @ AR EHRM S E AR

2022% 7H28A#E— S K E2023F 7 A
28H ° FBEHMN A AT BHA2021F11A8
I0EMARE -

R2023FE3A 148 » AN ZENFEE AR
2023F 7280 —F LK ZE2025F 12 A
318 « FBEAR KRR HEA2023F3A
148 RE o

SRR RAEEBERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

30. UNSECURED BORROWINGS FROM A 30. EEEEHEE
DIRECTOR
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE&xT FHET
Unsecured borrowings denominated in A A R 5| BR a0 E K RS &
RMB (note (i) (B (i)
- principal portion -R&H D 362,205 300,354
— interest portion - M EHD 100,546 77,207
462,751 377,561
Unsecured borrowing denominated in~ LAUBTLYI R EIKFBEE
HK$ (note (ii)) (B & (i)
- principal portion - AREHH - -
— interest portion - FMEESD 14,765 14,765
14,765 14,765
477,516 392,326
Amounts shown under current liabilities B AE NERS - 14,765
Amounts shown under non-current FERBBETETEHE
liabilities 477,516 377,561
477,516 392,326
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 &, £202343 431 H L& &

UNSECURED BORROWINGS FROM A
DIRECTOR (CONTINUED)

Notes:

()

(i)

On 1 June 2018 and 29 August 2018, an unsecured
revolving loan facility with an aggregate facility amount
of RMB500,000,000 (as at 31 March 2023: equivalent to
HK$570,000,000) has been granted from Mr. Hu to certain
subsidiaries established in the PRC which carries a fixed
interest rate of 9% per annum, which will be repayable on the
maturity date.

On 30 November 2021, the maturity date of the above-
mentioned loan facility has been further extended from 6
July 2022 to 6 July 2023 while the other terms remained
unchanged.

On 14 March 2023, the maturity date of the above-mentioned
loan facility has been further extended to 31 December 2025,
while the other terms remained unchanged.

As at 31 March 2023, unsecured borrowings with
aggregate principal amount of RMB317,723,000 (31 March
2022: RMB244,190,000), equivalent to approximately
HK$362,205,000 (31 March 2022: HK$300,354,000), has been
drawn down, remaining approximately RMB182,277,000 (31
March 2022: RMB255,810,000), equivalent to approximately
HK$207,795,000 (31 March 2022: HK$314,646,000), has not
yet been utilised.

On 7 January 2019, another unsecured revolving loan facility
with maximum facility amount of HK$100,000,000 has been
granted from Mr. Hu to an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, which carries a fixed interest rate of 8% per
annum, with maturity date on 6 July 2022.

On 14 March 2023, the maturity date of the above-mentioned
loan facility has been extended to 31 December 2025.

On 12 October 2021, principal amount of unsecured
borrowings of HK$100,000,000 were settled by the issuance of
subscription shares of the Company (note 32 (i)).

As at 31 March 2023, none of the facility (31 March 2022: nil)
has been drawn down.

ESHREFEEE

MEE -

@)

(i)

H201846 A1H K2018FE8 A29H « A4
A& T R AR B A S /O BB A B IR B
R AE - HEVE % A ARK500,000,000
7L (20233 A 318 : 4% 1 570,000,000
BT 2 EEHERERERE - BREBBEE
2o

R2021F11H308 + LillEFR@METHAE
202267 A6 # — H LR E202347A6
B - MEAERAERTE o

R2023F3A148 » FIlERBEZHAT
R ZE2025F 128318 - MEMIER
T o

MR2023F3A31H ' BEIRBASREAAR
#317,723,0007T (202243 A31H : AR
244,190,0007T) * & R #1362,205,000/%
JL(2022493H31H : 300,354,000 7T) 2
EIKIREE - HBHARE182,277,0007T
(20223A318 : AR¥255,810,0007T)
HEE R 49207,795,0007 7T (20223318 -
314,646,000 7T) R B -

M2019F1A7H « tHEERA QR ZE#E
2EMBRARAREECFMNEASEZS
—SEAHRRENANE (GREXEER
100,000,000/ 7T) * ZI#H £202247 A6
E| °

R2023F3A148 * LIMERBEZHEED
E—HERZE2025F12A31H °

R2021F10A 128 » EEFEENLRS
100,000,000/ 7T i@ B E T AN 1 AR BB AR 7 it
1T1EE (EE32() °

R2023F3A318 - AEBEW R B IRIZA
& (2022F3A318 : &) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

30. UNSECURED BORROWINGS FROM A 30 EEEEAEEE
DIRECTOR (CONTINUED)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the RMEPRR  ARE—RBEERHAKRIE
following undrawn facilities granted from a director: BMEEMT -
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
THxT FHET
Fixed rate (& E FI =
— expiring on 6 July 2022 - 120227 A6H fEim - 100,000
- expiring on 6 July 2023 - 1202357 A6H &R - 314,646
— expiring on 31 December 2025 - R2025%12A31HER 307,795 =
307,795 414,646
31. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 31. EZEHEEE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the H E2023F K2022F3A31H EFEZIE
years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, without taking EFHIEB G EET AR -G EERA
into consideration the offsetting of balances of the same E—EBE AR 2 BFHuT
entity within the same tax jurisdictions, are as follows:
Fair value
Revaluation  adjustment of
Revaluation  of financial property,
of investment asset plant and
properties atFVTPL  equipment  Taxlosses Other Total

BAAEE 4% BRER

EON. - PN U PA
EffRENE oREEER  EEWR  HOER At #it
HKS000  HKS00D  HKS00D  HKS00D  HKS000  HK$000
TAT TAT TAT TR TiT TR

1 April 2021 02154518 4874 2163 16,127 (2,163) 115 21,116
(Credited) charged to proft or loss EANBEE (4,998) (2,200 (1,025) 2200 = (6023)
Exchange differences EiER 124 37 (161) (37) 4 (33)

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R202253A318 &

202264518 - - 14,941 - 119 15,060
(Credlted) to proft or loss FNER - - (723) - - (723)
Exchange differences EiER = = (1,625) = 9) (1,634)
At 31 March 2023 R2023E3A31A - - 12,593 - 110 12,703

204 Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2023



31.

32.

| e

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 31. EEHESEE)
At 31 March 2023, the Group has estimated unused M2023F3A31H ' AEBEH
tax losses of approximately HK$934,962,000 (2022: 934,962,000/ 7T (20224 : 579,806,000
HK$579,806,000) available for offsetting against B 7T) ] REE S AR s T < fh 5 R BV B
future profits. No deferred tax asset (2022: nil) has TEEE - \mRNEETEEAR IR ISR -
been recognised in respect of the estimated unused mEt A Er R B AT IEE1849934,962,000
tax losses of approximately HK$934,962,000 (2022: 7T (20224 : 579,806,000/ L) fE R
HK$579,806,000) due to unpredictability of future profit BERERIBEE(2022F : T) - HIEEIE
streams. Tax losses of approximately HK$36,560,000 #736,560,0007% 7T (20224 : 36,560,000
(2022: HK$36,560,000) have no expiry date, while BT EERMBH  MBETRBAR
the remaining unused tax losses of approximately TH 18 #7898,402,000/8 JT (20224 :
HK$898,402,000 (2022: HK$543,246,000) will be 543,246,000 L) BT FEEE
expired in five years after the relevant accounting year H#& AT AR °
end date.
SHARE CAPITAL 32. RBAX
Number of Share
shares capital
i gvig =] [N
Notes '000 HK$'000
P aE TR FHT
Ordinary shares ZBER
Authorised EE
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, M2021F4 /18
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 202243 A318 »
(HK$0.5 each) 2022F 4818 &
2023%3A31H
(BRMEE0.5ETT) 1,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid BRTRHZR
At 1 April 2021 (HK$0.5 each) 202164 H1H
(SR ™EE0.5%8 L) 442,199 221,099
Issue and allotment of new shares for %17 & it 35 ¥ A% (D
subscription LA 3R B (i) 205,000 102,500
At 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and R2022F3H31H -
31 March 2023 (HK$0.5 each) 2022F 4 FA1H &
2023%3A31H
(BREEO.5%TT) 647,199 323,599

SRR RAEEBERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

32. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 32. BRAE(E)

Notes: B3k

U]

On 17 August 2021, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with Total Idea, pursuant to which Total |dea
conditionally agreed to subscribe for and the Company
conditionally agreed to allot and issue 142,500,000 subscription
shares of the Company at the subscription price of HK$1.60
per share. The consideration shall be satisfied in full by setting
off against the Company’s obligation to repay part of the
principal of the promissory notes (i.e. the promissory notes to
be set-off of HK$228,000,000).

On 17 August 2021, the Company entered into a subscription
agreement with Faithful Goal International Limited (“Faithful
Goal”), an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, and Mr. Hu,
pursuant to which Mr. Hu conditionally agreed to subscribe
for and the Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue
62,500,000 subscription shares of the Company at the
subscription price of HK$1.60 per share. The consideration
shall be satisfied in full by setting off against Faithful Goal’s
obligation to repay part of the principal of the unsecured
borrowings from a director (i.e. the promissory notes to be set-
off of HK$100,000,000).

The subscriptions were completed on 12 October 2021.

All issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with
each other.
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MR2021E8A17H * AR A2 B RE
WE - Bt 2EARHREREm AR
B &1 R B f 3 K %97 142,500,00088 A& A &)
REBKND - REBHBERRM1.608T - K
BEREREEAAREELIEALERALS
8 (B8 T 45 88 % 5, 52 98 228,000,000 7T) 2
EEBEHEM -

R2021F8A17H * AR A EEE2 AN B
ARBREEBEARA R (HED RABEETZ
REWZE - B HEEARGERERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 17 August 2012, the Company adopted the 2012
share option scheme (the “2012 Scheme”) under
which the directors of the Company may grant options
to eligible persons to subscribe for the Company’s
shares subject to the terms and conditions as stipulated
therein. Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the
2012 Scheme will remain valid for a period of 10 years
from the adoption date.

The purpose of the 2012 Scheme is to provide
incentives to the eligible participants to contribute to the
Group and to enable the Group to recruit high-caliber
employees and attract resources that are valuable to
the Group. Under the 2012 Scheme, the directors of
the Company may grant options to any person being
an employee, officer, agent, or consultant of the Group
including executive or non-executive directors of the
Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares
in the Company at a price to be determined by the
board of directors being the highest of (a) the closing
price of the shares on the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant of the option, which must be a trading
day; (b) the average closing price of the shares of the
Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option; and (c) the
nominal value of the shares.

The total number of shares in respect of which the 2012
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Group is not permitted to exceed 10% of the number
of shares in issue at the date of adoption of the 2012
Scheme or such number of shares as a result from a
sub-division or consolidation of the number of shares at
that date. Subject to as provided in the 2012 Scheme,
the Company may seek approval from its shareholders
in general meeting to refresh this 10% limit, but the total
number of shares which may be issued under the 2012
Scheme must not exceed 30% of the number of shares
in issue from time to time.

33.

IR REST Bl

R2012F 8170 « A A GHMM2012F iF
RE#ERTEI([20125F5H81)) « Bt - A2 F
BEZAMAERATETERE 28K
AT ARBE A ATE SR R IEEREBEAR R
ARG o BRBITFEHIUSETIN + 201255
BN IRM BB AT FREBR -

2012t ElE ERRE BB TAEREZHE
- ERE/AKEELER  XEAK
ESARELRMAAE U B ZEBEX
RAKBEZEEER - RIE2012F513)
ARRERANRAGLHAEERE  SH/A
B HEgEREEARRRENBAR
ZHTHIFATES) 2EAALREBER
B URBARERD  RBERESS
EE HEHERTIZEPZESE : (a)
BORBRERGBEHWARRZE)E
B X PTERIS 2 B - (o) EREBAR
BERL RS RER S B EBIMEF
FEHWRTHE - R)BREE -

2012F 5T 8| R A E B (0] K b RS AR 4 5T B
HTBTZRMDEE  TE5HBER2012
FEHERM B BAE BTRMDEE % A
Ak AR DEE MEEZBRHEE
210% © TE2012F 5T 8HESC 2 R T -
RAR A FERR R K e HokRE HEE B 31t
10% 2 BR%E8 + ME2012F 5T E|IE N A[ 8817 2
BHBHE I EEREREEITROEE N
30% °
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REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

33.

208

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

No participant shall be granted an option which, if
accepted and exercised in full, would result in the
participant becoming entitled to subscribe for such
number of shares as, when aggregated with the total
number of shares already issued and which may be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be
granted to him, together with all options granted and
to be granted to him under any other share option
schemes of the Company and/or any subsidiaries,
within the 12-month period immediately preceding the
proposed date of grant (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding options), would exceed 1% of the
number of shares in issue as at the proposed date of
grant.

The 2012 Scheme was valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing 17 August 2012. It was expired
on 16 August 2022.

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the
date of grant upon payment of HK$1 for each grant of
options. Subject to as provided in the 2012 Scheme,
options may be exercised at any time during the option
period, which is to be notified by the directors of the
Company to each grantee, commencing on the date
of grant or such later date as the board of directors
may decide and expiring on such date as the board
of directors may determine, provided that such period
is not to exceed ten years from the date of grant, and
subject to any restrictions that may be imposed by the
board of directors in its discretion.

No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled
or lapsed under the 2012 Scheme during the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022. No share options
under the 2012 Scheme are outstanding as at 31 March
2023 and 2022.
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REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

CAPITAL COMMITMENT 34. EXREE
2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Capital expenditure in respect of AR YENEETHNE
refurbishment of properties RINGRE TR
contracted but not provided for ZEARRE
in the consolidated financial
statements 7,351 1,963
OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENT 35. ReEHERH
The Group as lessor AEEERHBEA

The Group leases out investment properties under
operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial
period of 2 to 5 years. Lease payments are usually
increased every year to reflect market rentals. The
Group’s leases included variable lease payments that
depend on an index or rate, which is excluded from the
undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases as below.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

AEBEHEKLEHEERT2REME - H
E-RNFHH2ESF - BENKEFES
FIE - URRTIZHEE - NEREWNHEE
BHRBURRIEEE AR FBHEENF
TEBEEL T TAIREEEHER AR
REIREE R -

AEERNARRBERER RS AHDAET
MZ A HEEEHER K s RMREE
RT

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$'000

TER FHET

Within one year —F A 4,986 3,927
After one year but within two years —FREMEA 3,960 3,928
After two years but within three years MEZRB=FA 1,998 3,852
After three years but within four years ~ =F{&BMNFER 426 3,241
After four years but within five years NEZERFR = 429
11,370 15,377
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36.

210

SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Key management compensation

Key management includes executive directors
and senior management of the Company.
The compensation paid or payable to key
management for employee services is shown
below:

36.

EXBERRS

(@) FEEBABZHMH

TBEEABBRERARRANTES
BREEAR - BIRHIEBR RS

ENKENTEEERABZ

HomT

2023 2022

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FHET

Short-term benefits 5ZHAfE A 7,192 9,473
Post-employment benefits BEERIZ 12 A 108 138
7,300 9,611

The remuneration of executive directors
and senior management of the Company is
determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of operating
results and individual performance.

Man Sang International Limited Annual Report 2023

ARAATEERSREEARZ
M mFME B R ERAR

BREARBEMEE -



| T e

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

36. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 36. ERBEEIRS (E)
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(b)  Significant related party transactions (b) EXBELIRS
In addition to the information shown elsewhere BRizE M BHRREMIHTEHER
in the consolidated financial statements, the AN NEB R EEGETR NS
Group had the following material related party FHERERNGITGETA T ERBE
transactions, which were entered into at normal RS e

commercial terms and mutually agreed with the
related parties.

2023 2022
Related party relationship Nature of transaction HK$°000 HK$'000
BESBRE REMHE FET FET

Entities which are under control ~ Property management

of Mr. Hu services income 11,006 10,319
AL AT 2 B YIS E TR IRIGULA

Renovation and decoration
services income 49,690 26,243
(R FEMRBBA

Interest expenses on other
borrowings 2,055 1,885
Hi G EEENN B

Interest expense on
promissory notes 44,000 53,745
A EBRELNFERX

Mr. Hu Interest expense on
A& unsecured borrowings 28,987 22,927
EIEREEEENMNEMAX
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

37.

212

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme for all
qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll
costs to the MPF Scheme, capped at HK$1,500 (2022:
HK$1,500) per month, in which the contribution is
matched by employees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are members of a state-managed retirement benefits
scheme being operated by the local PRC government.
The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute 10%
to 15% (2022: 10% to 15%) of the average basic salary
to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Japan,
subsidiaries in Japan are required to contribute a
state-managed retirement plan for all its employees
at a certain percentage of the basic salaries of its
employees, subject to a certain ceiling. The state-
managed retirement plan is responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to all retired employees.
Under the state-managed retirement plan, the Group
has no further obligations for the actual pension
payments or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions.

The total expense charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss of approximately
HK$6,975,000 (2022: HK$8,275,000) represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows will be, classified in the consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

38.

RERMEZTH 2 REHR

TRAVNAKEARERDEECABE
B BRASLIRSEY BELRDE
EZABEEREREIARAREZREIR
HARGRERTFOERMELD RS
mEZAE -

Non-cash changes

FRE2H

New lease Finance
1 April Financing  arrangement costs Exchange 31 March
2022 cashflows (note 41) incurred  differences 2023
20205 ME  MEERH 13 025
4A18 RéhE (KrsEa1) HENA EXER 3A31R
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
ThR THx THT TR TR TR
Lease liahilties HERE 12,853 (2,959) 1,132 785 (911) 10,900
Amounts due to related companies EABEAIZE 2421 50 = = (136) 2,33
Promissory notes S 868,052 = = 44,000 = 912,052
Unsecured borrowings from a director ~~ EZEHAEE 392,326 83,828 = 28,087 (27,625) 477,516
Bank and other borrawings RAIRABEE 1,541,386 (63,581) = 94,148 (11095 1,461,488
2,817,538 17,338 1,132 167,920 (139,637) 2,864,291

SRR RAEEBERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 38. XREMETDHEBEYHRGE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (CONTINUED)

Non-cash changes
#7428
Finance
1 April Financing Issue of costs Exchange 31 March
2021 cashflows — new shares incurred differences 2022
2015 HE Ef 20025

4818 Behe  BRG BENA EREE 3A318
HK$ 000 HK$ 1000 HK$ 1000 HK$1000 HK$1000 HK$1000
Thr Thr T Thr i Thr

Lease liabilties HESRE 16,020 (5926) = 1,054 1,705 12,853
Amounts due to related companies EEEAAE 4632 (2323) = = 112 2421
Promissory notes BAEE 1,042,307 = (228,000) 53,745 = 868,052
Unsecured borrowings froma director ~~ EZEEAEE 404411 54,267 (100,000) 2907 10,721 392,326
Bank and other borrawings ROREMEE 1,461,987 (76,162) = 107,876 48185 1541886

2929357 (30,144)  (328,000) 185,602 60723 2817538
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF 39. BRAQFAHMBMRRETZ2ER
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
2023 2022
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T FHExT FHET
Non-current asset EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR ZIEE (i 110,774 621,619
110,774 621,619
Current assets REEE
Deposits, prepayments and E& - BNRER
other receivables H b e AR K 498 574
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE UL BfY |~ Bk IE (ii) 419,058 441,324
Cash and cash equivalents B FERES® 1,900 1,506
421,456 443,404
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables E A FET BRI 1,245 2,597
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN ENGIE S (ii) 509,694 509,694
510,939 512,291
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (89,483) (68,887)
Total assets less current BEERRBAE
liabilities 21,291 552,732
Non-current liability FRBEE
Promissory notes EHER 912,052 868,052
(890,761) (315,320)
Capital and reserves BAR#EE
Share capital [N 323,599 323,599
Reserves (G (iii) (1,214,360) (638,919)
Total equity wEs (890,761) (315,320)

SRR RAEEBERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #£202343 431H [t FE

39. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF 39. FEAXARBMBARRR ZER(E)
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)
Notes: B3
(i) Investments in subsidiaries (i) KRB RRZTE
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FHT
COST PR AR
At the beginning of the year REH 1,725,874 1,725,874
1,725,874 1,725,874
IMPAIRMENT A
At the beginning of the year RE 1,104,255 800,121
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss A 1825 NI REE 18 510,845 304,134
At the end of the year RER 1,615,100 1,104,255
CARRYING AMOUNT BREAE 110,774 621,619
(ii) The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and (ii) MN2023%F K 2022 3A31H  AAFRIERE
repayable on demand as at 31 March 2023 and 2022. B - Tet B RIREKERE -
(iii) Movement in reserves: (iii) REEE
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
B3 EE Ey 2 BEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHT
At 1 April 2021 M2021F4H18 532,272 (1,015,437) (483,165)
Issue and allotment of new shares for 17 R EL & FTE 1D
subscription LA R 225,500 = 225,500
Loss for the year FNEE - (381,254) (381,254)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 A2022F3A318 K
202254818 757,772 (1,396,691) (638,919)
Loss for the year FREE = (575,441) (575,441)
At 31 March 2023 A202353H31H 757,772 (1,972,132) (1,214,360)
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PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OF THE COMPANY

Place of establishment/
operation and kind of

Name of subsidiary legal entity Paid up capital
R/ EBHHR

WELRER HERRIME BARER

Chongging Kingstone The PRC, wholly-owned US$67,389,400
Land Co. Ltd* foreign enterprise

EFSRENARLH hE - SNEBELE 67,389, 4005

Zhejiang Huiyong Property  The PRC, wholly-owned RMB467,500
Management Service Co.,  foreign enterprise
Ltd*

TEADEER R hE - SHEBELE AR 4675007
BRART

Yoichi Country Kabushiki ~ Japan, limited company JPY310,000,000
Kaisha"

ROBRHFR g4 B ERAA 310,000,0008

Wenzhou Beichen The PRC, non wholly- RMB20,180,000

construction co., Ltd*

B RRRARAA

owned foreign
enterprise

TE - AEFBELR  ARM20,180,000T

REMBRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2023 #( £ 202343 A31H IEF &

40.

ARAREERMBMARTER

Percentage of equity interest and voting power

2023

Direct
EE

attributable to the Company Principle activities
FAARERERREEAALL TEER
2022
Indirect Direct Indirect
B Bk i
100% - 100%  Development, sales and
leasing of properties
and investment holding
NEERE  HEREER
RARR
100% - 100%  Provision of property
management services
RENFEBRY
100% - 100%  Operation of hotel
BESE
70% - 70%  Provision of decoration

and renovation services

RERERESERE

*  The English name is for identification purpose only

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results or assets and liabilities of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in
particulars of excessive length.

ERINFEARBESTRR/EIEZEALRH
XENBEENRABZAKRENBEAR - K
NEEERA  REEGHEQRFES
EHERBRILE ©

—=—

—

ZEFR REBRERLH
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40.

41.

218

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group.

The principal activities and place of business of these
subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

40.

AAFEZEMNEARER(H)

RBERR  AEERFEAKEL TS
RZEAHIBAT

ZEWBAT L T ERHRE LB
m -

Number of subsidiaries

MEAREEB
Principal activities Principal place of business 2022
FTEEK FTEEXME
Inactive Hong Kong 6 6
I 48 2 75 o
The PRC 10 10
hE
Singapore 1 1
AN
Japan 3 &
SN
Investment holding Hong Kong 11 11
REE o
BVI 16 16
RERLES
The PRC 1 1
hE
Provision of property management The PRC 2 2
REMEERE H
50 50

None of the subsidiaries has issued any debt securities
at the end of or at any time during both reporting
periods.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
entered into a lease arrangement in respect of an office
premises with a total capital value at the inception of the
lease of HK$1,132,000 (2022: nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2022, an aggregate
205,000,000 subscription shares of the Company had
been issued for the settlement of promissory notes of
HK$228,000,000 and unsecured borrowings form a
director of HK$100,000,000. Details are set out in note
32.
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41.

T {8 3 5 A R Sk B (R AT B ] - R AR P
BRRCBITEMEBES

FEHFRERS
HE2023F3A31HILFE » NEERM
AMETIHRERY:  ZPAVERTEE
PR 2 &R 421E &1,132,0005 7t (2022
F T

HE202263A31HILEE + KAF
B #7174 #£205,000,0000% 52 & A% 15 LA
“E228 000,000 8B LA R ZER
100,000,000/ LM EEEIXMEE - 5F
EHRE32



[ee—e—e—

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFHERE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TAL THT TAT

Revenue N 137,137 116,656 158,729 135,838 170,234
Loss before tax BRI R (481,271) (375,244) (514,965) (178,041) (108,835)
Income tax expenses FEHHRY (2,054) (366) (5,144) (24,873) (33,215)
Loss for the year ENER (483,325) (375,610 (520,109) (202,914) (142,050)
Loss for the year &Rl
attributable to: FRER

Equity holders of the Company A aIEEE A (482,922) (371,735) (521,821) (202,914) (142,050)
Non-controlling interests IR (403) (3,875) 1,712 = =

(483,325)  (375610)  (520,100)  (202914)  (142,050)

Dividend per share Sk - - - - -
Interim dividend HER S - - - - -
Special interim dividend KR HRAR B - - - - -
Proposed final dividend BRARER S - - - - -
Proposed special dividend BRRERIR S - - - - -
Total assets BEE 2815384 3352268 3,502,799  4,684782 3,500,970
Total liabilities FC=R (3,213,148)  (3,162,109)  (3,313,671)  (4,287,978)  (2,785,669)
Non-controlling interest R 1,430 1,108 (2,708) = =

Equity attributable to owners of AN RIEEE AERER
the Company (396,334) 191,267 186,420 396,804 715,301

—E-=EER EREERERAT 219
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PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Below is a schedule of properties held by the Group in the 720234 3A318 @ AEE N B 2 WM&

PRC as at 31 March 2023: W
Location Description and Tenure Use Group’s Interest
1th 2 5 B2 F 5 3k AEEFGERS
Commercial portion of the The portion has a total gross Commercial building 100%
property located floor area of approximately
at 77 Qingnian Road, 49,166.19 square meters.
Yuzhong District,
Chongging, the PRC The portion is held under

medium lease between 10
years and 50 years.

MR EEM TR ZE D BEEEELN [GEL RS 100%
BERITRYMEZ 49,166.19F J7 K »
EEX:152

ZEBD AN TF10E50F 2
REIFE LS -

Serviced apartments portion The portion has a total gross Serviced apartments 100%
of the property located floor area of approximately
at 77 Qingnian Road, 22,470.90 square meters.
Yuzhong District,
Chongging, the PRC The portion is held under

medium lease between 10
years and 50 years.

RFEEETRTE ZEL D MR EEEAEL RERAE 100%
SEBITHRMEZ 22,470.90F 75K o
R DB
ZMEAN F10EE05F 2
RHAME AR o
Residential portion of the The portion has a total gross Residential building 100%
property located at floor area of approximately
77 Qingnian Road, 18,757.48 square meters.

Yuzhong District,
Chongging, the PRC

MR B EEM TR ZE D BEEEE NEEF 100%
BERITRYMEZ #118,757.48F 5 K °
UN=E )
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